MANAGING PREOPERATIVE ANXIETY IN CHILDREN UNDERGOING SURGERY

## MANAGING PREOPERATIVE ANXIETY IN CHILDREN UNDERGOING SURGERY

By CHERYL HT CHOW, B.Sc. (Hons), M.S.

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy

McMaster University © Copyright by Cheryl HT Chow, December 2016

McMaster University DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY (2016) Hamilton, Ontario (Neuroscience Graduate Program)

TITLE: Managing Preoperative Anxiety in Children Undergoing Surgery

AUTHOR: Cheryl HT Chow, B.Sc. (Hons), M.S.

SUPERVISORS: Dr. Louis A. Schmidt & Dr. Ryan J. Van Lieshout

NUMBER OF PAGES: xiv, 184

### LAY ABSTRACT

Preoperative anxiety affects up to 5 million children in North America annually and is associated with many adverse psychological, behavioural, and health effects. These problems not only produce significant distress for children and families, but can have immediate and long-term effects on a child's mental health and development.

Current methods to reduce preoperative anxiety in children (e.g., medications and psychological preparation programs) are limited by their expense and/or time-intensive nature. In an attempt to reduce children's preoperative anxiety and its associated negative outcomes, this work examined the usefulness of audiovisual interventions in reducing children's preoperative anxiety, sought to develop a new instrument to measure children's preoperative anxiety, tested a new tablet-based application to reduce children's preoperative anxiety, and examined the relation between children's temperament and preoperative anxiety. The goal is to improve the surgical experience for children and families, and to reduce psychological and physical problems in children undergoing surgery.

#### ABSTRACT

**Objectives:** 1) To examine the effectiveness of Audiovisual (AV) interventions at reducing preoperative anxiety (PA) and its associated outcomes in children undergoing surgery; 2) To assess the psychometric properties of a new scale, the Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale (CPMAS); 3) To examine the feasibility and acceptability of a novel tablet-based intervention, Story-Telling Medicine (STM), for reducing children's PA; 4) To examine the relation between temperament and PA in the surgical context.

**Methods:** A systematic review of studies where the primary outcome was children's PA was conducted (Study 1). A study of the reliability and validity of the CPMAS were assessed at preoperative assessment (T1), on the day of surgery (T2), and 1 month postoperatively (T3) was also undertaken (Study 2). The feasibility and acceptability of STM were then examined and compared its effect to Usual Care (UC) (Study 3). Finally, children's temperament was examined using the Colorado Childhood Temperament Inventory at T1 along with the CPMAS assessed at T1 and T2 (Study 4).

**Results:** Fourteen of the 18 studies led to reductions in children's PA (Study 1). The CPMAS demonstrated good internal consistency, stability and convergent validity across all visits (Study 2). The participant recruitment and study procedures were shown to be feasible and children in the STM group demonstrated greater reductions in CPMAS compared to the UC group (Study 3). Shyness predicted lower PA at T1, while sociability predicted higher PA at T1 and T2 (Study 4).

iv

**Conclusions:** AV interventions appear useful but full-scale RCTs of these treatments are required to pinpoint those that are most effective. The CPMAS is a promising tool for evaluating children's PA and preliminary evidence suggests that STM is a feasible intervention for reducing children's PA. Finally, our findings highlight the importance of considering individual differences in predicting anxiety in the surgical setting.

**Keywords:** Audiovisual aids, child, feasibility studies, psychometrics, preoperative anxiety, temperament, systematic review

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, and most importantly, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my family (father, mother, and brother). Without their unconditional love and support, I would not be able to complete this PhD journey.

I am also tremendously grateful to my supervisors Dr. Louis Schmidt and Dr. Ryan Van Lieshout. Without their supervision, mentorship, endless support, and guidance, I would not have been able to pursue my dream.

I am sincerely thankful for the collaborative opportunities and invaluable guidance that I have received from my thesis committee members, Dr. Norman Buckley and Dr. Geoff Hall.

I would like to thank Brenda, Cynthia, Maggie and Teresa for their endless encouragement over the past few years. I would like to also thank Nandor for his understanding and support.

I would like to sincerely thank Ms. Toni Tidy, Ms. Debbie O'Rouke and all of the undergraduate students (Eliza, Mark, Nadine, Pauline and Stephanie) for their time and dedication on our projects. I would also like to thank members of the Child Emotion Lab by providing me with helpful inputs and suggestions to improve our projects.

Finally, I am grateful for the financial support that I received from the Ontario Graduate Scholarship and the Ontario Mental Health Foundation during my PhD studies.

vi

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

## PRELIMINARY PAGES

Lay Abstract	iii
Abstract	iv
Key Words	V
Acknowledgements	vi
Table of Contents	vii
List of Figures	ix
List of Tables	xi
List of Abbreviations & Symbols	xii
Declaration of Academic Achievement	xiii

## **CHAPTER ONE: GENERAL INTRODUCTION**

Preoperative Anxiety: Background	1
Psychological Markers of Preoperative Anxiety	1
Physiological Markers of Preoperative anxiety	2
Psychological Effects of Preoperative Anxiety	3
Physical Effects of Preoperative Anxiety	4
Preoperative Anxiety: Existing Interventions & Limitations	4
Preoperative Anxiety: Audiovisual Interventions	7
Measuring Preoperative Anxiety in Children: Existing Measures & Limitations	8
Preoperative Anxiety: Risk factors	9
Surgical Setting: An Ecologically-Valid Context	10
Summary of Findings and Limitations of the Existing Literature	11
An Overview of the Thesis	13
References	17

## **CHAPTER TWO: STUDY 1 (Preoperative Anxiety & Audiovisual Interventions Review)**

Title, Authorship, Context and Implications	26
Acknowledgements	27
Abstract	28
Introduction	29
Methods	34
Results	40
Discussion	66
References	81

# **CHAPTER THREE: STUDY 2 (Preoperative Anxiety Scale (CPMAS) Development & Validation)**

Title, Authorship, Context and Implications

Acknowledgements	91
Abstract	92
Introduction	93
Methods	98
Results	105
Discussion	114
References	121

## CHAPTER FOUR: STUDY 3 (Preoperative Anxiety Pilot Studies)

Title, Authorship, Context and Implications	126
Acknowledgements	127
Abstract	128
Introduction	129
Methods	131
Results	136
Discussion	141
References	145

## **CHAPTER FIVE: STUDY 4 (Role of Temperament in Preoperative Anxiety)**

148
149
150
151
154
157
162
166

## **CHAPTER SIX: GENERAL DISCUSSION**

Summary	170
General Findings	174
Limitations	175
Implications	176
Future Direction	179
Conclusion	180
References	182

## LIST OF FIGURES

## CHAPTER ONE: GENERAL INTRODUCTION Page

None

## **CHAPTER TWO: STUDY 1 (Preoperative Anxiety & Audiovisual Interventions Review)**

Figure 1. PRISMA flowchart of study selection process (Moher, Liberati, Tetzlaff, & Altman, 2009)	41
Figure 2. All AV interventions vs. Control/SC for children's preoperative anxiety (WMD= -11.44, 95% CI = -17.295.59, p<0.01)	56
Figure 3. Video Interventions vs. Comparator (e.g., SC or Other Video) groups for children's preoperative anxiety	60
Figure 4. Risk of Bias summary. Each risk of bias item was assessed for each included study. If the study addressed the domain appropriately, low risk of bias was assigned (+). If the domain was addressed inappropriately, high risk of bias was assigned (-). If information was unavailable to reach a judgment, then an 'unclear' risk of bias was assigned to that domain (?).	71
Figure 5. This theoretical model shows the potential mechanisms by which AV interventions may reduce preoperative anxiety and associated morbidity in children undergoing surgery. Predictors such as high trait anxiety and low sociability lead to elevated preoperative anxiety. AV distraction and other mechanisms (e.g., learning and/or rehearsal) reduce preoperative anxiety and ameliorate negative postoperative psychological, behavioral and clinical outcomes. Contrarily, preoperative anxiety remains high in the absence of AV distraction.	74

# **CHAPTER THREE: STUDY 2 (Preoperative Anxiety Scale (CPMAS) Development & Validation)**

Figure 1. Children's Preoperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale 101

## CHAPTER FOUR: STUDY 3 (Preoperative Anxiety Pilot Studies)

Figure 1. CONSORT flow diagram of study screening,	139
enrollment, randomization and follow-up for Wave 3	
(Egger, Jüni & Bartlett, 2001)	

Figure 2. Mean differences on change in CPMAS scores between 140 the STM+UC and UC alone groups (p < 0.05)

## **CHAPTER FIVE: STUDY 4** (Role of Temperament in Preoperative Anxiety)

Figure 1. Scatterplot of Shyness and Preoperative Anxiety at T1	159
Figure 2. Scatterplot of Sociability and Preoperative Anxiety at T1	159
Figure 3. Scatterplot of Shyness and Preoperative Anxiety at T2	160
Figure 4. Scatterplot of Sociability and Preoperative Anxiety at T2	160

## **CHAPTER SIX: GENERAL DISCUSSION**

None

## LIST OF TABLES

Page

None	
CHAPTER TWO: STUDY 1 (Preoperative Anxiety & Audiovisual In Review)	nterventions
Table 1. Selected Study Characteristics in the Systematic Review $(N = 18)$	43
Table 2. The Effectiveness of the Interventions $(N = 18)$	51
CHADTED THDEE, STUDY 2 (Droopprotive Aprinty Scole (CDMA)	S) Developm

**CHAPTER ONE: GENERAL INTRODUCTION** 

## **CHAPTER THREE: STUDY 2 (Preoperative Anxiety Scale (CPMAS) Development & Validation)**

Table 1. Demographic Characteristics of Children and Family $(N = 80)$	106
Table 2. Descriptive Statistics of the CPMAS and SCARED-C scores	108
Table 3. Correlations of the CPMAS	110
Table 4. Inter-item Correlations of the CPMAS	111
Table 5. Correlations of the CPMAS with SCARED-C Q7 & SCARED-C Q33	113
CHAPTER FOUR: STUDY 3 (Preoperative Anxiety Pilot Studies)	

Table 1. Demographic Characteristics of Children and Family (N=100)	136
Table 2. Descriptive Statistics of the CPMAS scores (N=100)	138

## **CHAPTER FIVE: STUDY 4** (Role of Temperament in Preoperative Anxiety)

Table 1. Linear Regressions of Temperament Predicting	161
Preoperative Anxiety at T1 and T2	

## **CHAPTER SIX: GENERAL DISCUSSION**

None

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

AV: Audiovisual CCTI: Colorado Childhood Temperament Inventory **CI:** Confidence Interval CPMAS: Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale EEG: Electroencephalography FACES: FACES Rating Scale GAD: Generalized Anxiety Disorder M: Mean MD: Mean difference MYPAS: Modified Yale Preoperative Anxiety Scale **OR:** Operating Room **ORSA:** Observer Rating Scale of Anxiety PD: Panic Disorder **RCT: Randomized Controlled Trial RR:** Relative Risk Non-Randomized Controlled Studies SAD: Social Anxiety Disorder SCARED-C: Screen for Child Anxiety Related Disorders- Child Version SD: Standard Deviation SpD: Separation Anxiety Disorder SSA: Significant School Avoidance STAI: State-Trait Anxiety Inventory STAI-C: State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Children STM: Story-Telling Medicine UC: Usual Care WMD: Weighted Mean difference VAS: Visual Analog Scale YPAS: Yale Preoperative Anxiety Scale

### **DECLARATION OF ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT**

This thesis is comprised of four studies that were conceptualized and written by the student. She developed all the study design and protocols, collected their data and conducted their analyses, prepared the manuscripts, and made revisions based on the suggestions and feedback received from her co-authors. All of this thesis work was completed between September 5th 2013 and October 1<sup>st</sup>, 2016. As part of the requirements of a 'sandwich' thesis, the co-author contributions in each study will be listed out below.

Study 1 systematically reviewed the literature that has examined the effectiveness of audiovisual (AV) interventions at reducing preoperative anxiety and its associated outcomes in children undergoing elective surgery. It was co-authored by the thesis supervisors, Dr. Louis Schmidt and Dr. Ryan Van Lieshout, and the thesis committee member, Dr. Norman Buckley, who critically reviewed the manuscript and made revisions to improve it for publication. It was also co-authored by a former McMaster graduate student, Ms. Kathleen Dobson, who was consulted for the meta-analytic portion and also critically reviewed the manuscript.

Study 2 assessed the psychometric properties of a newly developed scale, the Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale (CPMAS). It was co-authored by Dr. Louis Schmidt, and Dr. Ryan Van Lieshout, who provided guidance on statistical analysis, critically reviewed the manuscript and provided suggestions to improve it for publication. It was also co-authored by Dr. Norman Buckley who provided guidance on participant recruitment and follow-up and critically reviewed the manuscript.

xiii

Study 3 examined the feasibility and acceptability of a newly developed tabletbased intervention, Story-Telling Medicine, for reducing children's preoperative anxiety and was co-authored by Dr. Louis Schmidt, Dr. Ryan Van Lieshout, and Dr. Norman Buckley. They critically reviewed the manuscript and provided constructive feedback to improve it for publication.

Study 4 examined the relation between temperament and children's preoperative anxiety one week prior to surgery and the day of surgery. It was co-authored by Dr. Louis Schmidt, Dr. Ryan Van Lieshout, and Dr. Norman Buckley who provided guidance on statistical analysis, critically reviewed the manuscript and made revisions to improve it for publication. It was also co-authored by an undergraduate thesis student, Ms. Nadine Nejati, who was involved in participant recruitment, data collection and critically reviewed the manuscript.

Study 1 (Systematic review of AV intervention on children's preoperative anxiety) served as the foundation of the thesis and revealed research gaps in this area and so provided the framework, rationale, significance and context for conducting Study 2 (Development and validation of the CPMAS), Study 3 (Pilot study), and Study 4 (Role of temperament). Therefore, overlap of some of the materials in the introduction and discussion sections of Study 2, 3, and 4 were inevitable. As I used the same cohort in Study 2, 3 and 4, information pertaining to recruitment and data collection procedures are similar under these method sections.

xiv

## **CHAPTER ONE: GENERAL INTRODUCTION**

## **Preoperative Anxiety: Background**

Preoperative anxiety is very common in children receiving elective surgery under general anesthesia. It is estimated that up to 5 million children will undergo elective surgical procedures in North America every year, and that up to 75% of them experience significant preoperative anxiety (Perry, Hooper, & Masiongale, 2012). Preoperative anxiety is the state anxiety experience by children in the surgical context. Based on Spielberger's conceptualization of anxiety (2013), state anxiety is defined as a situational and transitory emotion characterized by physiological arousal and feelings of apprehension, dread, and tension (Endler & Kocovski, 2001).

#### **Psychological Markers of Preoperative Anxiety**

Preoperative anxiety typically occurs on the day of surgery and peaks during anesthetic induction. It is often characterized by an increased level of stress, fears of the unknown, excessive worry and nervousness (Wright, Stewart, Finley, & Buffett-Jerrott, 2007). Due to limited cognitive capabilities, a young child is sometimes unable to express their anxiety verbally. As such, many of these children display agitation, increased muscle tone, frequent urination, constant crying, and sometimes even attempt to actively resist the induction of anesthesia (Kain et al., 1996; Lee et al., 2012). These negative reactions stem from the child's fears of separation from one's parents, the loss of a sense of control, and uncertainty regarding the outcome of the surgery (Kain et al., 1996; Litke el, 2012; Vernon et al., 1971). Children undergoing surgery often also feel overwhelmed by the unfamiliar hospital routines and procedures and the encounters they have with medical staff prior to the operation. Children's adverse reactions are often elicited by what goes on in the busy hospital setting while waiting for their surgery. For example, the combination of the sight of a stretcher, the smell of disinfectant, the sound of crying babies and/or children, and watching other patients and families being transported in and out of the operating room (OR) could cause a child to become anxious and to develop negative schema about what could go wrong during the surgery. Children's distress is usually highest during general anesthetic induction procedures occurring just before the surgery while in the OR, which are potent triggers of the anticipatory anxiety (Wright et al., 2007). Therefore, preoperative anxiety in children and their families can result in emotional distress and trauma if they are not psychologically well-prepared for surgery (Davidson & McKenzie, 2011).

### **Physiological Markers of Preoperative anxiety**

Thus far, only a handful of studies have assessed the biological stress responses correlated with preoperative anxiety. Early studies done in this area used the palmar sweat index to measure children's state anxiety in those undergoing surgery (Johnson & Dabbs, 1967; Melamed & Segel, 1975; Thomson & Sutarman, 1953). Recent research has begun to employ some additional physiological measures of childhood anxiety. Physiologically, anxiety in children is characterized by activation of the sympathetic nervous system as indexed by increased heart rate and blood pressure, as well as hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis arousal (as determined by an increase in cortisol concentrations) (e.g., Beidel, 1991; Carrion et al., 2002; Weems, Zakem, Costa, Cannon, & Watts, 2005).

In the surgical setting, children and adolescents who experience preoperative anxiety are reported to exhibit similar physiological effects such as elevated heart rate (Berger, Wilson, Potts, & Polivka, 2014; Kerimoglu, Neuman, Paul, Stefanov, & Twersky, 2013), increased blood pressure (Berger et al., 2014; Fortier, Martin, Chorney, Mayes, & Kain, 2011), and increased cortisol levels (Kain 1998). Currently, there is a paucity of research on the relationship between behavioral measures of anxiety and its accompanying physiological responses. Thus, it is of significance to further examine the physiological correlates of preoperative anxiety in children undergoing surgery.

#### **Psychological Effects of Preoperative Anxiety**

Children with preoperative anxiety are at three and a half times the risk of manifesting adverse postoperative psychological outcomes including separation anxiety, maladaptive behavioral patterns, and increased distress in the recovery phase (Fortier, Del Rosario, Martin, & Kain, 2010; Kain et al., 2004; Kain, Mayes, O'Connor, & Cicchetti, 1996; Kain, Wang, Mayes, Caramico, & Hofstadter, 1999; Litke, Pikulska, & Wegner, 2012). In fact, nearly 50% of youth with elevated preoperative anxiety exhibit postoperative behavioral changes such as aggression toward authority figures, feeding problems, insomnia, nocturnal enuresis, and nightmares, and up to 18% experience postoperative delirium (Kain et al., 2004; Kain, Mayes, Caldwell-Andrews, Karas, & McClain, 2006; Kain et al., 1996; Kain et al., 1999; Litke et al., 2012). Kain and his colleagues (1996) also reported that 54% of children had negative behavioral changes 2 weeks after surgery, 20% manifested these at 6 months, and 7.3% did up to 1 year after their operations.

## **Physical Effects of Preoperative Anxiety**

In addition to these adverse emotional and behavioural reactions, children with high levels of preoperative anxiety also have a more complicated perioperative course, including prolonged anesthesia induction, poorer postoperative recovery, increased postoperative pain and required higher doses of postoperative analgesia (i.e., acetaminophen and codeine) (Fortier et al., 2010; Kain et al., 2006; Kain et al., 1996; Kain et al., 1999). These children are also three times more likely to exhibit postoperative anxiety and require higher doses of propofol for anesthesia induction and maintenance (Kain et al., 1999; Maranets & Kain, 1999). Furthermore, the activation of the neuroendocrinologic stress response also results in the release of stress hormones (e.g., cortisol and corticotrophin) and causes immunosuppression (e.g., over-activation of natural killer lymphocytes) (Ader et al., 1995; Chrousos & Gold, 1992; Long & Rajagopalan, 2002; Weissman 1990). This leads to prolonged wound healing and a longer postoperative recovery with more medical complications (Chernow et al., 1987; Kain et al., 1999; McCann & Kain, 2001).

### **Preoperative Anxiety: Existing Interventions & Limitations**

Given the myriad potential negative impacts of preoperative anxiety, clinicians and researchers have attempted to apply interventions aimed at reducing its prevalence, severity, and impact. These include the use of preoperative sedative medications, behavioral preparation programs and complementary and alternative therapies (Brewer, Gleditsch, Syblik, Tietjens, & Vacik, 2006; Perry et al., 2012; Tunney & Boore, 2013). Of these, sedative premedication is most frequently used, despite the fact that it is marked by several clinical and practical concerns.

Midazolam, a benzodiazepine, is an anxiolytic and amnestic medication commonly used as a sedative premedicant to reduce preoperative anxiety. It has been shown that more than 80% of anesthesiologists preferred midazolam as a premedication for pediatric patients (Cray, Dixon, Heard, & Selsby, 1996; Kain et al, 1997). Depending on the length of the surgery and the anxiety level of the child, a dosage of oral midazolam ranging from 0.25 mg to 1.0 mg/kg and up to total dose of 20 mg is administered (Coté et al., 2002). While midazolam is effective, research has shown that it can have undesirable side effects including increasing the risk of delirium, higher arousal of distress and increasing pain during recovery (Watson & Visram, 2003; Wright et al., 2007; Viitanen, Annila, Viitanen, & Yli-HankaJa, 1999). When compared to a placebo group, children received premedication midazolam experienced up to 10 minutes of delay in recovery, and an additional 10 minutes of delay in discharge (Viitanen, Annila, Viitanen, & Tarkkila, 1999).

Alternatively, up to 78% of all major U.S. pediatric hospitals also offer behavioral preparation programs as an adjunctive method to usual care for children and families undergoing surgery (Kain, Caldwell-Andrews, & Wang, 2002). Behavioral preparation programs are interventions designed to prepare the child for the impending surgical procedure. These programs generally incorporate one or more empirically supported psychoeducational techniques such as modelling, parental involvement, and/or teaching

coping strategies. These exist in various forms such as an OR orientation tour, printed material, a puppet show, play therapy, peer-modelling film, role rehearsal using dolls, the utilization of Child life specialists to teach coping skills, and relaxation training for children and families (Brewer et al., 2006; Kain et al., 2002; Melamed & Ridley-Johnson, 1988; Perry et al., 2012; Tunney & Boore, 2013; Wright et al., 2007).

Kain and his colleagues (2007) have developed and tested a comprehensive behavioral preparation program, ADVANCE (Anxiety-reduction, Distraction, Video modeling and education, Adding parents, No excessive reassurance, Coaching, and Exposure/shaping), which involved a video, anesthetic induction mask practice, and coaching by specialized healthcare support staff. In that study, children in the ADVANCE group exhibited lower anxiety levels than the standard of care group during the preoperative period and anesthetic induction. Unfortunately, despite its potential, the findings showed that these comprehensive preparation programs are less than ideal to be implemented hospital-wide because of their resource intensive nature as more staff and supplies are required to administer them. Interestingly, factors such as a child's age, timing of the administration of the intervention relative to surgery, and a child's previous hospitalization history were suggested to be important consideration when designing for future behavioral preparation program (Wright et al., 2007).

Other complementary and alternative therapies have also been tested in an attempt to reduce children's preoperative anxiety. For example, Kain and colleagues (2004) conducted a study to compare the effectiveness of an interactive music intervention versus midazolam in reducing preoperative anxiety in children aged 3 to 7 years old. The results suggested that the interactive music intervention was effective in reducing anxiety only during separation from one's parents and upon entry into the OR (F = 2.20; P = 0.042) but not during anesthetic induction which is the most critical, high stress time point for children undergoing surgery. Additionally, a cost analysis revealed that each music therapy session cost up to \$125 USD per hour to be carried out by one or more registered music therapist. On average, each child received a minimum of one-hour session (Wright et al., 2007). Thus, the cost and time associated with this and other alternative methods such as hypnosis and acupuncture therapies make them less optimal for use in the hospital setting.

While existing interventions can be effective, there are many barriers to the routine use of these preparation methods because they are very resource intensive and are not readily available. Taking these factors into consideration, it is crucial that efficient and alternative means of managing children's preoperative anxiety be found.

### **Preoperative Anxiety: Audiovisual Interventions**

A recent Cochrane review suggested that non-pharmacological interventions for assisting anesthetic induction in children were as effective as pharmacological treatments in reducing children's preoperative anxiety (Manyande, Cyna, Yip, Chooi, & Middleton, 2015; Yip, Middleton, Cyna, & Carlyle, 2009). In particular, non-pharmacological interventions that contained audiovisual (AV) components such as low sensory stimulation and hand held video games seemed to be efficacious in reducing children's preoperative anxiety, and improving cooperation during general anesthetic induction (Yip et al., 2009). The findings have also led to the suggestion that other AV interventions such as entertainment technology, tablet-based applications, and interactive games or virtual reality programs be explored for their effectiveness in managing children's preoperative anxiety (Ahmed, Farrell, & Parrish, 2011).

Since then, a number of single studies have been conducted to further assess the effectiveness of various forms of AV interventions. More recent studies have focused on using computers and other technologies (i.e., video glasses and smartphone applications) in reducing children's perioperative anxiety and to manage its associated postoperative negative outcomes (Kerimoglu et al., 2013; Klassen, Liang, Tjosvold, Klassen & Hartling, 2008; Lee et al., 2013). Given the promising nature of AV interventions, it is crucial to examine the impacts of these interventions to further our understanding and to help guide future practice in reducing children's preoperative anxiety.

## Measuring Preoperative Anxiety in Children: Existing Measures & Limitations

While several measures are currently used to assess anxiety in pediatric surgical settings, existing scales have limitations and have led to their relatively inconsistent use. For example, the modified Yale Preoperative Anxiety Scale [mYPAS], the "gold" standard in the field, (Kain et al., 1997) is an observer-rated scale that is susceptible to observer bias and requires that healthcare staff and research assistants be trained on its administration at multiple assessment points (Wright, Stewart, & Finley, 2013). Unfortunately, from a practical standpoint, the busy hospital setting offers very limited observation time for healthcare and study staff to fully and accurately assess preoperative anxiety (Jenkins et al., 2014). Another disadvantage of the mYPAS is that it also does not allow for the assessment of postoperative anxiety. Other existing scales either have low

specificity for children's anxiety (Deloach, Higgins, Stiff, & Caplan, 1998; Wong & Baker, 1998) or are too lengthy (Spielberger et al., 1973) to be used in this medical environment which makes them less optimal, particularly in busy operative areas (Papay & Hedl, 1978; Birmaher et al., 1997).

Thus, in order to properly describe and understand the precursors and sequelae of perioperative anxiety, brief, objective, reliable, and valid tools need to be developed that can accurately measure perioperative anxiety in busy and complex clinical settings. Research has suggested that a multi-item VAS that combines several related constructs should be developed to allow for a more accurate assessment of children's preoperative anxiety (Gift, 1989; Foster & Park, 2012).

#### **Preoperative Anxiety: Risk factors**

Research has shown that there are differences in children and their parents in terms of who are likely to respond negatively to surgical procedures (Caldas, Pais-Ribeiro, & Carneiro, 2004; Yuki & Daaboul, 2011). Children who are shy, inhibited and withdrawn, lack good social adaptability, have negative previous medical experiences, and have parents who themselves struggle with high trait anxiety are at risk for elevated levels of preoperative anxiety (Fortier et al., 2010; Kain et al., 2002; Litke et al., 2012). In adolescents, baseline anxiety, depression, somatization, and fearful temperament are significant predictors of anxiety in the preoperative period (Fortier et al., 2011; O'Conner-Von, 2008).

In addition, studies suggest that individual differences in temperament are also associated with adverse psychological outcomes in the surgical setting. For example, Kain and his group (1996) explored temperament as a predictor of preoperative anxiety in children aged 2-10 undergoing elective ambulatory surgeries. They showed that low levels of activity were predictive of increased anxiety in the preoperative holding area, and upon separation from parents immediately prior to surgery. Moreover, high impulsivity in children was found to predict generalized anxiety disorder symptoms (RR= 2.7, 95% CI = 1.1-6.8) and separation anxiety disorder symptoms (RR = 3.5, 95% CI = 1.3-9.6) in children up to 2 weeks after surgery (Kain, et al., 1996).

In a separate set of studies, levels of impulsivity have also been shown to predict anxiety during anesthetic induction procedures for children. In work by Finley and colleagues (2006), children were randomly assigned to receive either midazolam treatment or standard of care without midazolam. Results showed that higher baseline levels of impulsivity were associated with increased rates of anxiety-related behaviors at anesthetic induction for children in the midazolam treatment group but not in standard of care group, suggesting that temperament is not only predictive of preoperative anxiety, but can affect children in such a way that it may inform the use of preoperative anxiolytic medications (i.e., midazolam) in children undergoing surgery (Wright et al., 2013). Therefore, it is of significant clinical interest to be able to identify children who are prone to preoperative anxiety so that the most appropriate interventions aimed at reducing the impact of perioperative anxiety in children undergoing surgery can be designed and applied.

## Surgical Setting: An Ecologically-Valid Context

The perioperative surgical setting provides researchers with an ecologically-valid context to study childhood anxiety outside of the traditional laboratory settings. Ecological validity refers to the scientific investigation being carried out in a naturalistic setting and the taking into account of objects, activities and people from everyday life (Bronfenbrenner, 1977).

The current childhood anxiety research is limited by findings that relied heavily on data obtained from the controlled experimental settings (e.g., home, laboratory or school) or using retrospective self-reports (Coll, Kagan, & Reznick, 1984; Kagan, Reznick and Snidman 1986). These findings, although meaningful, might be prone to bias and lack a dimension of ecological validity. Since the surgical setting serves as a naturally threatening and anxiety-provoking situation for children and families undergoing surgery, this context allows for the direct observation of children's behaviors and interactions under a real-life setting. Therefore, research findings derived from this surgical setting can add to the extant literature on the importance of considering ecologically valid contexts when studying individual differences in socioemotional development.

#### Summary of Findings and Limitations of the Existing Literature

First, despite the high prevalence of preoperative anxiety in pediatric populations, evidence supporting the use of effective AV interventions is lacking. Over the past few years, substantial technological advancements have led to the availability of a large variety of AV interventions in pediatric settings. In general, studies of these suggest that AV interventions can be helpful in preparing children and parents for children's

surgeries. However, to our knowledge, there are no existing syntheses or reviews dedicated to elucidating the effects and mechanisms of AV interventions in reducing children's preoperative anxiety (Manyande et al., 2015). Therefore, a systematic review of the literature in this area can help to pinpoint the components (i.e., exact dosage, timing and frequency of administration) of effective AV interventions in pediatric populations, as well as the mechanisms by which they operate, and guide evidence-based practice.

Second, at present, the limitations associated with existing children's anxiety measures may prevent us from rapidly and accurately assessing perioperative anxiety in clinical settings. Ideally, a useful perioperative tool should be short and informative, utilize self-report, and be age-appropriate, as well as specific to perioperative settings. Existing gaps in this area have thus led the development of the Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale (CPMAS), a tool that uniquely measures children's state anxiety within the surgical setting.

Third, existing interventions aimed at reducing children's preoperative anxiety are not always readily accessible, can be time-intensive, or are associated with undesirable side effects and high costs. Accordingly, an inexpensive, modifiable, multi-sensory interactive tablet-based application: Story-Telling Medicine (STM) was developed to prepare children for complex perioperative and surgical procedures. Recent findings on AV interventions are represented by only a handful of underpowered and small sample size studies. Therefore, a large, adequately powered RCT should be conducted to examine the effects of this more affordable tool, STM, in managing preoperative anxiety

and its effects on children. However, before this is undertaken, adequate pilot studies to assess the feasibility, applicability, and the potential effect size of this intervention must be conducted.

Lastly, thus far only a few studies have investigated risk factors for preoperative anxiety in children undergoing surgery. Although recent literature provides some evidence for the link between temperament and anxiety in this context, there is still a paucity of research that can delineate which temperament trait is most predictive of preoperative anxiety and that examines links beyond any one particular temperament style. Given that shyness and sociability are personality traits that predispose an individual to exhibit distinctive patterns of behavior (Schmidt & Buss, 2010), it is important that we attempt to better understand the contribution of individual differences of shyness and sociability to children's anxiety within the clinical surgical context.

#### An Overview of the Thesis

To address the significant uncertainty that exists in the extant literature on managing preoperative anxiety in children undergoing surgery, I have designed and conducted 4 separate studies to further our understanding of the impact of AV interventions on children's preoperative anxiety (Study 1), to evaluate the usefulness of a newly developed preoperative anxiety measure (Study 2), to test a newly developed AV intervention (Study 3), and to examine the contribution of individual differences within the perioperative context (Study 4). Each of the below studies corresponds to a manuscript that has been recently published and/or submitted for publication.

Study 1 (Chow, Van Lieshout, Schmidt, Dobson, & Buckley, 2015) was a systematic review and meta-analysis that examined the impact of AV interventions on reducing preoperative anxiety and its associated postoperative outcomes in children receiving elective surgery under general anesthesia. Both randomized controlled trials (RCT) and non-randomized controlled studies (NRS) where the primary outcome was children's preoperative anxiety were included in this review. The secondary outcomes included postoperative pain, behavioral changes, recovery, induction compliance, satisfaction and cost-effectiveness. A meta-analytic approach and narrative synthesis of findings were employed to summarize the results of the studies. The risk of bias of each study was assessed.

The findings of the systematic review and meta-analysis revealed that there is a lack of a useful perioperative tool to assess children's preoperative anxiety which led us to develop the Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale (CPMAS), a tool that uniquely measures self-reports of a child's preoperative state anxiety.

In Study 2 (Chow, Van Lieshout, Buckley, & Schmidt, 2016), I developed and assessed the psychometric properties of the CPMAS. Eighty children aged 7 to 13 years who were undergoing elective surgery at McMaster Children's Hospital were recruited. Children self-completed the CPMAS and the Screen for Childhood Anxiety Related Disorders (SCARED-C) at three time points: at preoperative assessment (T1), on the day of the operation (T2), and 1 month postoperatively (T3). Internal consistency, test-retest reliability and the convergent validity of the CPMAS were assessed across all three visits.

In addition, the primary findings of the systematic review and meta-analysis also suggested that adequately powered RCTs are required to conclusively pinpoint the components and mechanisms of the most effective AV interventions and guide practice. The review suggested that an effective AV intervention should incorporate interactive environments that closely approximate the real surgical experience. Accordingly, a customizable, multi-sensory interactive tablet-based virtual reality application, STM, was developed to prepare children for complex perioperative and surgical procedures. In Study 3 (Chow, Van Lieshout, Schmidt, & Buckley, 2016; submitted to Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics), I conducted a 3-wave pilot study to examine the feasibility and acceptability of this newly developed STM intervention. One hundred children aged 7-13 years who were undergoing elective surgery were recruited at McMaster Children's hospital. This pilot study comprised 3 waves: Waves 1 (n=30) and 2 (n=30) examined feasibility, and Wave 3 (n=40) examined the acceptability of STM and compared its effect on preoperative anxiety to Usual Care (UC). In Wave 3, children were randomly allocated to receive STM+UC or UC. Change in preoperative anxiety was measured using the CPMAS across all three visits.

Finally, the cumulative findings of the systematic review and pilot study had informed us that a variation of children's stress response as measured by CPMAS exists in the surgical setting. This observation had led me to further examine the role of individual differences in temperament and its relation to preoperative anxiety in children undergoing surgery in Study 4 (Chow, Nejati, Van Lieshout, Buckley, and Schmidt, 2016; submitted to *Clinical Pediatrics*). I chose to examine the contribution of shyness and sociability to children's anxiety in the clinical surgical settings. I predicted that temperamentally shy children would exhibit more preoperative anxiety, and temperamentally social children would exhibit less preoperative anxiety in the surgical context. Forty children aged 7 to 13 years who were undergoing elective surgery at McMaster Children's Hospital were recruited. Children self-completed the Colorado Child Temperament Inventory (CCTI; Rowe and Plomin, 1977) at T1 and CPMAS and at all three time points.

In sum, the series of studies in this thesis are presented as follows: Chapter 2 examined the effectiveness of AV interventions at reducing preoperative anxiety and its associated outcomes in children undergoing elective surgery; Chapter 3 assessed the psychometric properties of a newly developed scale, the CPMAS; Chapter 4 examined the feasibility and acceptability of a newly developed tablet-based intervention, STM, for reducing children's preoperative anxiety; Chapter 5 examined the relations between temperament and children's preoperative anxiety one week prior to surgery and on the day of surgery; and Chapter 6 served as the General Discussion for the thesis in which I summarize the findings from these four studies in relation to the extant literature on understanding and managing children's anxiety in the surgical setting.

## References

Ader, R., Cohen, N., & Felten, D. (1995). Psychoneuroimmunology: interactions between the nervous system and the immune system. *The Lancet*, 345(8942), 99-103.

Ahmed, M., Farrell, M., & Parrish, K. (2011). Preoperative anxiety in children risk factors and non-pharmacological management. *Middle East Journal of Anesthesiology*, 21(2), 153–170.

- Berger, J., Wilson, D., Potts, L., & Polivka, B. (2014). Wacky Wednesday: Use of distraction through humor to reduce preoperative anxiety in children and their parents. *Journal of PeriAnesthesia Nursing*, 29(4), 285-291.
- Birmaher, B., Khetarpal, S., Brent, D., Cully, M., Balach, L., Kaufman, J., & Neer, S. M. (1997). The Screen for Child Anxiety Related Emotional Disorders (SCARED): scale construction and psychometric characteristics. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, *36*(4), 545–553.
- Brewer, S., Gleditsch, S. L., Syblik, D., Tietjens, M. E., & Vacik, H. W. (2006). Pediatric anxiety: child life intervention in day surgery. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 21(1), 13–22.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1977). Toward an experimental ecology of human development. *American psychologist, 32*(7), 513-531.
- Caldas, J. C. S., Pais-Ribeiro, J. L., & Carneiro, S. R. (2004). General anesthesia, surgery and hospitalization in children and their effects upon cognitive, academic, emotional and sociobehavioral development–a review. *Pediatric Anesthesia*, *14*(11), 910-915.

- Chernow, B., Alexander, H. R., Smallridge, R. C., Thompson, W. R., Cook, D., Beardsley, D., ... & Fletcher, J. R. (1987). Hormonal responses to graded surgical stress. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 147(7), 1273-1278.
- Chow, C.H., Nejati, N., Van Lieshout, R.J., Buckley, N., Schmidt, L.A. (2016)Children's shyness and sociability in a surgical context. *Submitted to Clinical Pediatrics*.
- Chow, C. H., Van Lieshout, R. J., Buckley, N., & Schmidt, L. A. (2016). Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale (CPMAS): Development and validation. *Psychological Assessment*, 28(9), 1101-1109.
- Chow, C.H., Van Lieshout, R.J., Buckley, N., and Schmidt, L.A. (2016). A novel tabletbased intervention for reducing perioperative anxiety in children undergoing surgery: a pilot study. *Submitted to Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*.
- Chow, C.H., Van Lieshout, R. J., Schmidt, L. A., Dobson, K. G., & Buckley, N. (2015).
   Systematic review: Audiovisual interventions for reducing preoperative anxiety in children undergoing elective surgery. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *41*(2), 182-203
- Chrousos, G. P., & Gold, P. W. (1992). The concepts of stress and stress system disorders: overview of physical and behavioral homeostasis. *JAMA*, 267(9), 1244-1252.
- Coll, C. G., Kagan, J., & Reznick, J. S. (1984). Behavioral inhibition in young children. *Child Development*, 1005-1019.

- Coté, C. J., Cohen, I. T., Suresh, S., Rabb, M., Rose, J. B., Weldon, B. C., ... & Hannallah, R. S. (2002). A comparison of three doses of a commercially prepared oral midazolam syrup in children. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 94(1), 37-43.
- Cray, S. H., Dixon, J. L., Heard, C. M. B., & Selsby, D. S. (1996). Oral midazolam premedication for paediatric day case patients. *Pediatric Anesthesia*, *6*(4), 265-270.
- DeLoach, L. J., Higgins, M. S., Caplan, A. B., & Stiff, J. L. (1998). The visual analog scale in the immediate postoperative period: intrasubject variability and correlation with a numeric scale. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 86(1), 102-106.
- Davidson, A., & McKenzie, I. (2011). Distress at induction: prevention and consequences. *Current Opinion in Anaesthesiology*, 24, 301–306. doi:10.1097/ACO.0b013e3283466b27
- Finley, G. A., Stewart, S. H., Buffett-Jerrott, S., Wright, K. D., & Millington, D. (2006).
  High levels of impulsivity may contraindicate midazolam premedication in children. *Canadian Journal of Anesthesia*, 53(1), 73-78.
- Fortier, M.A, Del Rosario, A. M., Martin, S. R., & Kain, Z. N. (2010). Perioperative anxiety in children. *Paediatric Anaesthesia*, 20(4), 318–322.
- Fortier, M. A., Martin, S. R., Chorney, J., Mayes, L. C., & Kain, Z. N. (2011). Preoperative anxiety in adolescents undergoing surgery: a pilot study. *Pediatric Anesthesia*, 21(9), 969-973.
- Foster, R. L., & Park, J. H. (2012). An integrative review of literature examining psychometric properties of instruments measuring anxiety or fear in hospitalized children. *Pain Management Nursing*, 13(2), 94-106.

- Gift, A. G. (1989). Visual analogue scales: measurement of subjective phenomena. *Nursing Research*, *38*(5), 286-287.
- Jenkins, B. N., Fortier, M. A, Kaplan, S. H., Mayes, L. C., & Kain, Z. N. (2014). Development of a short version of the modified Yale Preoperative Anxiety Scale. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 119(3), 643–650.
- Johnson, J. E., & Dabbs Jr, J. M. (1967). Enumeration of active sweat glands: a simple physiological indicator of psychological changes. *Nursing Research*, 16(3), 272-276.
- Kagan, J., Reznick, J. S., & Snidman, N. (1986). Temperamental inhibition in early childhood. *The study of temperament: Changes, continuities and challenges*, 53-67.
- Kain, Z. N., Caldwell-Andrews, A. A., Krivutza, D. M., Weinberg, M. E., Gaal, D.,
  Wang, S.M., & Mayes, L. C. (2004). Interactive music therapy as a treatment for preoperative anxiety in children: a randomized controlled trial. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 98, 1260–1266.
- Kain, Z. N., Caldwell-Andrews, A., Maranets, I., McClain, B., Gaal, D., Mayes, L. C., Zhang, H. (2004). Preoperative anxiety and emergence delirium and postoperative maladaptive behaviors. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 99(6), 1648–1654.
- Kain, Z. N., Caldwell-Andrews, A. A., Mayes, L. C., Weinberg, M. E., Wang, S. M.,
  MacLaren, J. E., & Blount, R. L. (2007). Family-centered preparation for surgery
  improves perioperative outcomes in children: a randomized controlled trial. *Anesthesiology*, *106*(1), 65-74.

- Kain, Z. N., Caldwell-Andrews, A., & Wang, S. M. (2002). Psychological preparation of the parent and pediatric surgical patient. *Anesthesiology Clinics of North America*, 20(1), 29-44.
- Kain, Z. N., Mayes, L. C., Bell, C., Weisman, S., Hofstadter, M. B., Rimar, S. (1997).
  Premeditation in the United States: A status report. *Anesthesia & Analgesia, 84*, 427-432.
- Kain, Z. N., Mayes, L. C., Cicchetti, D. V, Bagnall, A. L., Finley, J. D., & Hofstadter, M.
  B. (1997). The Yale Preoperative Anxiety Scale: How Does It Compare with a "Gold Standard"? *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 85, 783–788.
- Kain, Z. N., Mayes, L. C., Caldwell-Andrews, A., Karas, D. E., & McClain, B. C. (2006).
   Preoperative anxiety, postoperative pain, and behavioral recovery in young children undergoing surgery. *Pediatrics*, *118*(2), 651–658.
- Kain, Z. N., Mayes, L. C., O'Connor, T., & Cicchetti, D. V. (1996). Preoperative Anxiety in Children. Predictors and outcomes. Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, 150, 1238–1245.
- Kain, Z. N., Wang, S. M., Mayes, L. C., Caramico, L., & Hofstadter, M. B. (1999).
  Distress during the induction of anesthesia and postoperative behavioral
  Outcomes. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 88(5), 1042–1047.
- Kerimoglu, B., Neuman, A., Paul, J., Stefanov, D. G., & Twersky, R. (2013). Anesthesia induction using video glasses as a distraction tool for the management of preoperative anxiety in children. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 117, 1373–1379.

Klassen, J. A., Liang, Y., Tjosvold, L., Klassen, T. P., & Hartling, L. (2008). Music for
pain and anxiety in children undergoing medical procedures: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Ambulatory Pediatrics*, 8(2), 117-128.

- Lee, J. H., Jung, H. K., Lee, G. G., Kim, H. Y., Park, S. G., & Woo, S.C. (2013). Effect of behavioral intervention using smartphone application for preoperative anxiety in pediatric patients. *Korean Journal of Anesthesiology*, 65, 508–518.
- Lee, J., Lee, J., Lim, H., Son, J. S., Lee, J. R., Kim, D. C., & Ko, S. (2012). Cartoon distraction alleviates anxiety in children during induction of anesthesia. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 115, 1168–1173.
- Litke, J., Pikulska, A., & Wegner, T. (2012). Management of perioperative stress in children and parents. Part I — The preoperative period. *Anaesthesiology Intensive Therapy*, 44(3), 165–169.
- Long, E. O., & Rajagopalan, S. (2002). Stress signals activate natural killer cells. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, *196*(11), 1399-1402.
- Manyande, A., Cyna, A. M., Yip, P., Chooi, C., & Middleton, P. (2015). Nonpharmacological interventions for assisting the induction of anaesthesia in children. *Cochrane Database Systematic Reviews*, 2015(7), 1-122.
- Maranets, I., & Kain, Z. N. (1999). Preoperative Anxiety and Intraoperative Anesthetic Requirements. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 89(6), 1346-1351.
- McCann, M. E., & Kain, Z. N. (2001). The management of preoperative anxiety in children: an update. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, *93*(1), 98-105.
- Melamed, B. G., & Ridley-Johnson, R. (1988). Psychological preparation of families for hospitalization. *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*, 9(2), 96-102.

- Melamed, B. G., & Siegel, L. J. (1975). Reduction of anxiety in children facing hospitalization and surgery by use of filmed modeling. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 43(4), 511-521.
- Endler, N. S., & Kocovski, N. L. (2001). State and trait anxiety revisited. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 15(3), 231-245.
- O'Conner-Von, S. (2008). Preparation of adolescents for outpatient surgery: using an Internet program. *AORN journal*, *87*(2), 374-398.
- Papay, J. P., & Hedl, J. J. (1978). Psychometric characteristics and norms for disadvantaged third and fourth grade children in the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Children. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 6, 115–120.
- Perry, J. N., Hooper, V. ., & Masiongale, J. (2012). Reduction of preoperative anxiety in pediatric surgery patients using age-appropriate teaching interventions. *Journal of Perianesthesia Nursing*, 27(2), 69–81.
- Rowe, D. C., & Plomin, R. (1977). Temperament in early childhood. *Journal of Personality Assessment, 41*(2), 150-156.
- Schmidt LA, and Buss AH (2010) Understanding shyness: Four questions and four decades of research. In K.R. Rubin & R.J. Coplan (Eds.), *The Development of Shyness and Social Withdrawal*. New York: Guildford Publications, pp. 23-41.
- Spielberger, C. D. (2013). The Effects of anxiety on complex learning. *Anxiety and Behavior*, 361-398.
- Spielberger, C.D., Edwards, C.D., Lushene, R., Monturoi, J., Platzek, D. (1973). *State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Children: Sampler Set: Manual, Test Booklet, Scoring*

Key. Mind Garden Inc., Palo Alto. CA.

- Thomson, M. L. (1953). The identification and enumeration of active sweat glands in man from plastic impressions of the skin. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 47(5), 412-417.
- Tunney, A. M., & Boore, J. (2013). The effectiveness of a storybook in lessening anxiety in children undergoing tonsillectomy and adenoidectomy in Northern Ireland. *Issues in Comprehensive Pediatric Nursing*, 36(4), 319–335.
- Vernon, D. T., Schulman, J. L., & Foley, J. M. (1966). Changes in children's behavior after hospitalization: some dimensions of response and their correlates. *American Journal of Diseases of Children*, 111(6), 581-593.
- Watson, A. T., & Visram, A. (2003). Children's preoperative anxiety and postoperative behaviour. *Pediatric Anesthesia*, 13(3), 188-204.

Weems, C. F., Zakem, A. H., Costa, N. M., Cannon, M. F., & Watts, S. E. (2005).
Physiological response and childhood anxiety: Association with symptoms of anxiety disorders and cognitive bias. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 34(4), 712-723.

- Weissman, C. (1990). The metabolic response to stress: an overview and update. *Anesthesiology*, *73*(4), 308-327.
- Wong, D. L. & Baker, C. M. (1988) Pain in children: comparison of assessment scales. *Pediatric Nursing*, 14(1), 9–17.

Wright, K. D., Stewart, S. H., & Finley, G. A. (2013). Is temperament or behavior a

better predictor of preoperative anxiety in children?. *Children's Health Care*, 42(2), 153-167.

- Wright, K. D., Stewart, S. H., Finley, G. A., & Buffett-Jerrott, S. E. (2007). Prevention and Intervention Strategies to Alleviate Preoperative Anxiety in Children A Critical Review. *Behavior Modification*, 31(1), 52-79.
- Viitanen, H., Annila, P., Viitanen, M., & Yli-HankaJa, A. (1999). Midazolam premedication delays recovery from propofol-induced sevoflurane anesthesia in children 1–3 yr. *Canadian Journal of Anesthesia*, 46(8), 766-771.
- Viitanen, H., Annila, P., Viitanen, M., & Tarkkila, P. (1999). Premedication with midazolam delays recovery after ambulatory sevoflurane anesthesia in children. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 89(1), 75-79.
- Yip, P., Middleton, P., Cyna, A. M., & Carlyle, A.V. (2009). Non-pharmacological interventions for assisting the induction of anaesthesia in children. *Cochrane Database Systematic Reviews*, 2009(3), 1-122.
- Yuki, K. & Daaboul, D. (2011). Postoperative maladaptive behavioral changes in children. *Middle East Journal of Anesthesiology*, 21(2), 183-189.

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

#### **STUDY 1**

**TITLE:** Systematic Review: Audiovisual Interventions for Reducing Preoperative Anxiety in Children Undergoing Elective Surgery

**AUTHORS:** Cheryl H. T. Chow, MS; Ryan J. Van Lieshout, MD, PHD; Louis A. Schmidt, PHD; Kathleen G. Dobson, BSc; Norman Buckley, MD

**CONTEXT AND IMPLICATIONS OF THIS STUDY:** To address the significant knowledge uncertainty that exists in literature, I have designed and conducted this first study of the thesis to further our understanding on the impacts of AV interventions on reducing children's preoperative anxiety. As previously discussed in the introduction, non-pharmacological interventions containing audiovisual (AV) components seemed to be efficacious in reducing children's preoperative anxiety and improving cooperation during general anesthetic induction. To our knowledge, there are no existing syntheses or reviews dedicated to elucidating the effects and mechanisms of AV interventions in reducing children's preoperative anxiety.

This study is the first to systematically review the literature examining the effectiveness of AV interventions at reducing preoperative anxiety and its associated outcomes in children undergoing elective surgery. It reveals the substantial clinical and methodological heterogeneity in the area and identifies shortcomings and limitations of previously conducted studies. This review also highlights the need for large adequately powered RCTs with optimal measurement quality to accurately assess the effects of AV interventions and provides recommendations to guide future evidence-based practice.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Cheryl Chow is supported by the Ontario Graduate Scholarship. I would like to thank the library liaison Ms. Jo-Anne Petropoulos for her help in verifying our search strategy; McMaster Cochrane Workshop instructors and mentors for providing guidance in conducting a systematic review. I would also like to thank Oxford University Press for granting permission to reproduce this work as part of our copyright transfer agreement. **CONFLICTS OF INTEREST:** None **PUBLISHED IN:** Journal of Pediatric Psychology. 2016; 41(2): 182-203. © Oxford University Press, 2015

#### Abstract

The objective of this study was to examine the effectiveness of Audio-Visual interventions at reducing preoperative anxiety and its associated outcomes in children undergoing elective surgery. A systematic review of randomized controlled trials (RCT) and nonrandomized studies where the primary outcome was children's preoperative anxiety was conducted. Secondary outcomes included postoperative pain, behavioral changes, recovery, induction compliance, satisfaction and cost-effectiveness. The risk of bias of each study was assessed. The results showed that 18 studies were identified. A meta-analytic approach and narrative synthesis of findings were employed to summarize the results of the studies. In conclusion, this systematic review suggests that AV interventions can be effective in reducing children's preoperative anxiety. Videos, multifaceted programs and interactive games appear to be most effective, whereas music therapy and internet program are less effective. While AV interventions appear potentially useful, adequately powered RCTs are required to conclusively pinpoint the components and mechanisms of the most effective AV interventions and guide practice.

#### Introduction

Exposure to pediatric surgical procedures is a relatively common and significant stressor for children. It is estimated that up to 5 million children undergo elective surgical procedures in North America every year, and nearly 75% of them experience considerable preoperative anxiety (Perry, Hooper, & Masiongale, 2012). This distress is highest during general anesthetic induction procedures during which anticipatory anxiety is provoked (Davidson & McKenzie, 2011). Surgery can produce emotional distress and trauma for children and their families if they are psychologically ill-prepared.

Research has shown that there are individual differences in children and their parents in terms of who are likely to respond negatively to surgical procedures. For example, high trait anxiety and low sociability in children and high anxiety in parents are predictive of elevated levels of perioperative anxiety (Fortier, Del Rosario, Martin, & Kain, 2010; Li & Lopez, 2005). In adolescents, baseline anxiety, depression, somatization, and fearful temperament are significant predictors of anxiety in the preoperative period (Fortier, Martin, Chorney, Mayes, & Kain, 2011).

Preoperative anxiety is predictive of a number of negative clinical outcomes postoperatively including prolonged anesthesia induction, poorer postoperative recovery, and higher doses of postoperative analgesia (Fortier et al., 2010; Kain, Mayes, O'Connor, & Cicchetti, 1996; Kain, Wang, Mayes, Caramico, & Hofstadter, 1999). It has been reported that patients with preoperative anxiety are at 3 times the risk for exhibiting postoperative anxiety and moderate-to-intense pain (Caumo et al., 2000). In one largescale study, Kain and colleagues showed that anxious young children with high pre-

surgical anxiety had increased postoperative pain and higher analgesic consumption (i.e., acetaminophen and codeine) (Kain, Mayes, Caldwell-Andrews, Karas, & McClain, 2006). Other studies have shown that children with higher levels of preoperative anxiety require increased doses of propofol for anesthesia induction and maintenance (Kain et al., 1999; Maranets & Kain, 1999). Finally, recent research suggests that the prevention of post-operative delirium in preschool children would be aided greatly by managing preoperative anxiety using both psychological approaches and sedative premedication (Dahmani, Delivet, & Hilly, 2014).

Children's emotional and behavioral response to the stress of surgery include separation anxiety, decreased sleep, delirium, behavioral problems, and increased distress in the recovery phase (Kain et al., 2004b; Kain et al., 1996; Kain et al., 1999; Litke, Pikulska, & Wegner, 2012). Preoperative anxiety has also been shown to lead to longer postoperative recovery with more complications and prolonged wound healing (Long & Rajagopalan, 2002; McCann & Kain, 2001). These adverse outcomes can have both transient and long term detrimental effects on a child's growth, development and health (Kain et al., 1996). Furthermore, these negative changes can cause prolonged stays in recovery areas, delays entering the operating room, and increases in healthcare costs (Kain et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2013; McCann & Kain, 2001; Perry et al., 2012).

#### **Current Interventions**

Given the potential negative effects of preoperative anxiety, clinicians and researchers have attempted to apply interventions aimed at reducing its prevalence, severity, and impact. These include the use of preoperative sedative medications,

psychological preparation programs, and complementary therapies such as reading a story-book, applying age-appropriate teaching interventions, and the utilization of Child Life specialists (Brewer, Gleditsch, Syblik, Tietjens, & Vacik, 2006; Perry et al., 2012; Tunney & Boore, 2013). Although sedative premedication is most routinely used, it has limitations. First, many children experience undesirable side effects such as nausea and vomiting (Sinha et al., 2012). Second, the use of anxiolytic drugs can be limited by a long onset of effect and duration of action, and so it is often difficult to determine the optimal time to administer these drugs in a busy surgical setting. Third, children sometimes refuse to take these medications voluntarily due to their unpleasant aftertaste. They are also likely to resist sedation via intravenous injections due to associated pain and discomfort (Davidson & McKenzie, 2011). Fourth, there are negative postoperative outcomes associated with the use of sedative premedications such as elevated risks of delirium, agitation, and pain (Kain et al., 2004b, 2006). Taking these into consideration, it is crucial that efficient and alternative means of managing children's preoperative anxiety be found.

The most current Cochrane review of non-pharmacological interventions for preoperative anxiety in children was published 6 years ago and was recently updated in 2015. Both reviews concluded that non-pharmacological interventions were as effective as pharmacological treatments (Manyande, Cyna, Yip, Chooi, & Middleton, 2015; Yip, Middleton, Cyna, & Carlyle, 2009). Yip and colleagues concluded that methods such as clown doctors, hypnosis, low sensory stimulation, and hand held video games seemed to be effective in reducing children's anxiety and improving cooperation during general

anesthetic induction (Kain, Wang, Mayes, Krivutza, & Teague, 2001; Kuttner, 2012; Patel et al., 2006; Vagnoli, Caprilli, & Messeri, 2010). For example, Vagnoli and colleagues (2010), utilized clowns that interacted with children before entering the operating room and stayed with them along with their parent throughout anesthetic induction procedure. In another study by Calipel et al. (2005), hypnosis, a technique that enables a state of relaxation was used. While effective, unfortunately, there are many barriers to the routine use of these preparation methods because they are extremely resource intensive, costly, and are not readily available. Although the last Cochrane review did not directly discuss the full implications of audio-visual (AV) interventions, it did mention that large RCTs were required to confirm the usefulness of some of the more promising non-pharmacological interventions. Of the 5 non-pharmacological interventions examined, 2 of these contained AV components (Yip et al., 2009). Since then, a number of studies have been conducted to assess the effectiveness of these AV interventions. Because music therapy and other entertainment technologies (e.g. virtual reality) might offer alternative solutions to manage children's preoperative anxiety in a safe and economical way, given the promising nature of AV interventions, and since the term 'non-pharmacological interventions' encompass a broad range of treatments, the current review specifically focuses exclusively on the use of AV interventions in reducing children's preoperative anxiety (Ahmed, Farrell & Parrish, 2011).

#### The Therapeutic Effects of AV Interventions

There has been a long-standing history of use of AV interventions in both psychology and medicine. Their use in surgical settings can be dated back to the 1970s

when preparation programs included procedural information with a sensory component. These programs reported that they reduced anxiety and improved coping skills in children undergoing surgery (Melamed & Siegel, 1975; O'Conner-Von, 2008).

Various forms of AV interventions are now widely used in adult patient populations. One systematic review summarized the benefits of using educational, mediabased interventions in reducing preoperative anxiety and in increasing adult patient knowledge and satisfaction. Anxiety levels before anesthesia were reduced in adult patients receiving the video and printed information compared with those receiving no intervention as shown by a weighted mean difference of 3 points (95% CI = 1-5) on the Spielberger State and Trait Anxiety Inventory (Lee, Chui, & Gin, 2003). Another systematic review showed that 30 minutes of slow and flowing non-lyrical music is effective in reducing adult patients' anxiety and pain in perioperative settings. Music interventions were found to have positive effects on reducing patients' anxiety and pain in approximately half of the 42 reviewed RCTs (Nilsson, 2008). Finally, a recent systematic review reinforced the positive effects of preoperative education interventions utilizing audiovisual, visual, and multimedia technologies such as websites in reducing adults' preoperative anxiety (Alanazi, 2014). The collective findings of these systematic reviews suggest that various types of AV interventions are effective in reducing preoperative anxiety and its associated negative postoperative outcomes in adults undergoing surgery.

Despite the high prevalence of preoperative anxiety in pediatric populations, evidence supporting the use of AV interventions is lacking. Over the past few years, substantial technological advancements have led to the use of a large variety of AV

interventions in pediatric settings. More recent studies have focused on using computers and other technologies (i.e., video glasses and smartphone applications) in reducing children's perioperative anxiety and to manage its associated postoperative negative outcomes (Kerimoglu, Neuman, Paul, Stefanov, & Twersky, 2013; Klassen, Liang, Tjosvold, Klassen & Hartling, 2008; Lee et al., 2013). In general, these studies suggest that AV interventions can be helpful in preparing children and parents for children's surgeries.

However, to our knowledge, there are no existing syntheses or reviews dedicated to elucidating the effects and mechanisms of AV interventions in reducing children's preoperative anxiety (Manyande et al., 2015). Systematically reviewing the literature in this area can help to pinpoint the effective components (i.e., exact dosage, timing and frequency of administration) and mechanisms of effective AV interventions in pediatric populations, as well as guide practice.

#### Objective

The objective of the present study was to synthesize and summarize evidence of the effects of AV interventions on reducing preoperative anxiety and its associated postoperative outcomes such as pain, postoperative maladaptive behaviors, recovery (e.g. decrease in discharge time) in children receiving elective surgery under general anesthesia. This systematic review was primarily designed to address the significant knowledge uncertainty that exists in this area. We also examined the acceptability and cost-effectiveness of AV interventions for this indication.

#### Method

This systematic review is registered with the PROSPERO International prospective register of systematic reviews CRD42014010637 (Chow, Van Lieshout, Schmidt, & Buckley, 2014). The Preferred Reporting items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) statement served as a guideline in preparing this systematic review (Moher, Liberati, Tetzlaff, & Altman, 2009).

#### Selection criteria

The Participants, Interventions, Comparisons, Outcomes & Study design approach was used to generate the research question guiding this systematic review and to establish study inclusion eligibility criteria. We deemed both randomized controlled trials (RCT) and non-randomized controlled studies (NRS) eligible for this review, where studies included children and adolescents under the age of 18 receiving elective surgery under general anesthesia in community, research and University-affiliated hospitals, and where audiovisual (AV) interventions were utilized as experimental treatments. Other study eligibility criteria included a minimum of two comparison arms per study and children's anxiety reported as the primary outcome. Children's anxiety was measured from baseline to the last available follow-up using validated anxiety scales such as the Yale Preoperative Anxiety Scale (Kain et al., 1995), Modified Yale Preoperative Anxiety Scale (mYPAS) (Kain et al., 1997), and Spielberger's State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Children (STAI-C) (Spielberger, Edwards, Lushene, Montuori, & Platzek, 1973). Secondary outcomes examined included postoperative pain, postoperative maladaptive behavior, recovery, anesthetic induction compliance, satisfaction, and cost-effectiveness.

Audiovisual interventions were defined as involving any audio, visual, or audiovisual components that aimed to reduce preoperative anxiety in children (e.g., videos, video games, internet programs, music, etc.). Comparator groups could be a control group that received standard of care (SC), no-intervention, parental presence, or low doses of sedative pre-medication (e.g., midazolam). The definition of standard of care varied between studies but was generally defined as the routine preparation (i.e., brief explanations of the medical procedures) provided by the nurses and/or physicians during the preoperative period.

#### **Information Sources & Search**

A systematic search of electronic databases (MEDLINE, EMBASE, CINAHL, PsycINFO, Web of Science, and The Cochrane Controlled Trials Registry from their inceptions until March 2014) was performed. An electronic search strategy included medical subject heading terms (MeSH) in MEDLINE, where keywords and text words were combined.

The electronic search was based on 4 concepts: i) terms related to anxiety: "anxiet\*", "nervousness", "fear", "panic", "distress", "emotional stress", "psychological stress", "anxious", "feel\* of apprehens\*", "feel\* of dread", "feel\* of worry", "feel\* of worried", "feel\* of terror"; ii) terms related to preoperative: "surgical procedures", "operative", "preoperative care", "surgery", "surgical", "preop\*", "pre-op\*", "periop\*", "peri-op\*", "preoperat\*"; iii) terms related to AV interventions: "distract\*", "cartoon\*", "computer simulation", "animat\*", "television", "videodisc recording", "compact disks", "cd-I", "cd-rom", "videotape recording", "broadcast", "software", "hypermedia", "video games", "media based", "video-audio media", "media", "audiovisual aids", "multimedia", "tape recording", "visual aid\*", "audiovisual aid\*", "video\*", "\*cellular phone", "smartphone", "electronics", "internet", "educational technology"; and iv) terms related to children: "child\*", "schoolchild\*", "school age\*", "preschool\*", "kids", "toddler\*", "adoles\*", "teen\*", "boy\*", "girl\*", "minors\*", "pubert\*", "pubescen\*", "prepubescen\*", "pediatric\*", "schools", "nursery", "primary school\*", "secondary school\*", "elementary school\*", "high school\*".

The search strategy was developed by the reviewers in consultation with a research librarian. The same strategy was used for other databases except with the search terms adjusted to each specific database. Examples of these search strategies are available upon request. Studies were identified and hand searches were conducted on the reference lists of these. There were no search language restrictions. Case studies, studies presented only in abstract form, editorials, and unpublished studies were excluded from our search. The last search was performed on March 3rd, 2014. Ongoing trials were searched on metaregistertrials.com prior to submission.

#### **Study Selection**

The screening process was completed independently by two reviewers (C.C. and R.V.L.) based on the study inclusion criteria outlined above. The titles and abstracts of each study were initially screened. Duplicate and non-relevant studies were eliminated. The full text of potentially relevant studies was further examined to determine if inclusion criteria were met. In the case of disagreements, a third author (L.A.S.) was

brought in to aid in resolution. The 2 reviewers met and agreed on the final inclusion of studies (n = 18).

#### **Data Extraction**

A data extraction form was developed for this review. The form was pilot-tested using two randomly selected studies that met inclusion criteria, and it was refined accordingly. The information extracted from each study included: i) studies' methodological characteristics (i.e., study type, follow-up periods & quality of assessment), ii) population characteristics (i.e., age, gender, setting, & surgery types), iii) details of the interventions (i.e., type, timing, dose, duration and frequency), iv) outcome measures (i.e., children's anxiety levels), and v) summary of results and risk of bias assessments. The primary author extracted data and information was independently verified by the second author. Means and standard deviations were presented as (M =mean, SD = Standard deviations). All medians and confidence intervals were presented as (Mdn = median, 95% CI = lower limits - upper limits).

#### **Risk of Bias in Individual Studies Within and Across Studies**

The risk of bias was appraised for each study independently. The Cochrane Collaboration risk-of-bias tool was used to assess each study on 6 evidence-based domains: 1) random sequence generation, 2) allocation concealment, 3) blinding of participants, assessors, and outcome assessments, 4) incomplete outcome data, 5) selective reporting, and 6) other biases.

Each domain was assessed within and across studies. If the study addressed the domain appropriately, low risk of bias was assigned. If the domain was addressed

inappropriately, a label of high risk of bias was assigned. If information was unavailable to reach a judgment, then an 'unclear' risk of bias was assigned to that domain (Higgins, Altman & Sterne, 2011; Sterne, Egger & Moher, 2011).

#### **Data Synthesis**

In addition to a narrative synthesis of findings, a meta-analytic approach was also used to summarize the results of the studies (Deeks, Higgins, & Altman, 2011). An inverse variance random-effects meta-analysis using mean differences (MD) was undertaken using Review Manager (RevMan) 5.3 software to compute pooled effect estimates of AV interventions on preoperative anxiety. This meta-analysis utilized data from 10 studies. Eight studies were excluded from the meta-analysis (Durst, 1990; Ellerton & Merriam, 1994; Huth, Broome, & Good, 2004; Kain et al., 1998; Kerimoglu et al., 2013; Melamed & Siegel, 1975; Mifflin, Hackmann, & Chorney, 2012; Robinson & Kobayashi, 1991), as the data required for meta-analysis was unavailable in the article or from the study authors.

Data were entered as continuous measures MD for each primary AV intervention and comparison groups. To calculate the mean change within a group, we used the formula,  $M = T_2 - T_1$ , where  $T_1$  represented mean anxiety score at the time closest to baseline, and  $T_2$  represented the mean anxiety score at the time closest to the operation. To calculate standard deviation values for the mean change, we used the following

formula to calculate the standard error,  $SE = \sqrt{\frac{SD1^2}{N} + \frac{SD2^2}{N}}$ , where SD1 is the standard deviation at T<sub>1</sub>, SD2 is the standard deviation at T<sub>2</sub>, and N is the number of participants

within the arm/group. Individual MDs for each study and an overall weighted mean difference (WMD) for AV interventions included in the analysis were assessed. Heterogeneity was assessed using  $I^2$  values. High heterogeneity was defined as an  $I^2$  value greater than 50% (Higgins & Altman, 2011).

#### Results

#### **Study Selection**

Our search yielded a total of 2514 citations and 4 additional studies were identified from reference lists of retrieved studies and reviews. Of these 2514 citations, 499 duplicate studies were eliminated prior to screening and so 2019 studies were initially screened. Studies were excluded because they did not meet eligibility criteria (e.g., case studies, only presented in abstract form, editorials, etc.). The full text of 129 studies was examined and a total of 18 eligible studies (14 RCTs and 4 NRS) were included in this review (See Figure 1).



Figure 1. PRISMA flowchart of study selection process (Moher, Liberati, Tetzlaff, & Altman, 2009).

### **Study Characteristics**

A summary of the baseline characteristics of study participants, AV intervention types, and a description of each individual AV intervention for the 18 eligible studies can be found in Table I.

Study Authors, Year, Country VIDEOS	Study Design	Population N, Age, Ethnicity	Surgery Types	AV Interventio n Type & Interventio n to Surgery Period	Intervention Details
Meladmed & Siegel (1975) USA	NRS	N = 60, 4-12y, N/S	Elective surgery under general anesthesia	Pre-op preparation video < 1hr prior to admission	A 16min film entitled "Ethan Has an Operation", depicts a 7-year- old male who has been hospitalized for a hernia operation
Pinto & Hollandsworth (1989) USA	RCT	N = 60, 2-12y, 85% White	First-time elective surgery	Pre-op preparation video 1hr prior to admission	A 22min videotape depicts an 8-year- old boy who was being hospitalized for surgery narrated by child (or adult)
Durst (1990) USA	NRS	N = 59, 2-10y, N/S	Elective day surgery	Pre-op preparation video Up to 7d prior to surgery	Videotape depicted 3 children during their perioperative experiences
Robinson & Kobayashi (1991) Australia	RCT	N = 28, 4-13y, N/S	Elective surgery	Pre-op preparation video 7d prior to surgery	A peer-modeling film that followed an 8-year-old Australian girl named Julia through a standard hospital admission for elective surgery + video (child coping skills) + audiotape (child relaxation)

# Table 1. Selected Study Characteristics in the systematic review (N = 18).

Study Authors, Year, Country	Study Design	Population N, Age, Ethnicity	Surgery Types	AV Intervention Type & Intervention to Surgery Period	Intervention Details
Karabulut & Duygu (2009) Turkey	NRS	N = 90, 9-12y, N/S	Inguinal hernia operation	Pre-op preparation video Same day as surgery	A 12min pre-op preparation video
Wakimizu et al. (2009) Japan	RCT	N = 158, 3-6y, N/S	Elective herniorrhaphy for inguinal hernia and hydrocele testis	Pre-op preparation video 7d prior to surgery	Patient- educational modelling video which introduced the experience of a 5-year-old boy who is hospitalized for hernia and a booklet with regulations and guidelines to use as frequently as they want at home
Lee et al. (2012) South Korea	RCT	N = 130, 3-7y, N/S	General anesthesia for elective surgery	Animated Cartoon using personal computers N/S	Children watched their selected cartoon movie using a notebook or tablet personal computers (PCs)
Mifflin et al. (2012) Canada	RCT	N = 91, 2-10y, N/S	Ambulatory surgery	Online videoclip N/S	An age- appropriate YouTube <sup>™</sup> clip for the child to view during induction
Kerimoglu et al. (2013)USA	RCT TED EXTENSI	N = 96, 4-9y, N/S	Ambulatory surgery	TV program using videoglass N/S	Portable media player of viewing TV program on a magnified scale for a large screen experience
Ellerton & Merriam (1994) Canada	NRS	N = 75, 3-15y, N/S	Elective day surgery	Day Surgery Program Up to 7d prior to surgery	Pre-op slide show + tour + handouts

Study Authors, Year, Country	Study Design	Population N, Age, Ethnicity	Surgery Types	AV Intervention Type & Intervention to Surgery Period	Intervention Details
Kain et al. (1998) USA	RCT	N = 75, 2-12y, N/S	Elective outpatient surgery	Pre-op preparation Program Up to 10d prior to surgery	OR tour + videotape + Child Life preparation
Kain et al. (2001) USA	RCT	N = 70, 2-7y, N/S	Elective outpatient surgery	Low Sensory Stimuli Prior to anesthetic induction	Low level ligh intensity (200LX) + music + quietness in the room (only 1 attending anesthesiologiest to interact with the child during the induction of anesthesia)
Huth et al. (2004) USA	RCT	N = 73, 7-12y, Majority white	tonsillectomy, adenoidectomy, myringotomy	Imagery video + audiotape Up to 22d prior to surgery	'To Tame the Hurting Thing' (Broome, 1994), included professionally developed imagery booklets for the parent and child, a videotape, and an audiotape for school-age children
Kain et al. (2007) USA	RCT	N = 408, 2-10y, 80 Non-white	Elective outpatient surgery	Pre-op ADVANCE preparation Program Up to 7d prior to surgery	Video, pamphlets, prepare distraction strategy, mask practice, coaching

Study Authors, Year, Country	Study Design	Population N, Age, Ethnicity	Surgery Types	AV Intervention Type & Intervention to Surgery Period	Intervention Details
INTERACTIVE GAME					
Patel et al. (2006) USA	RCT	N = 112, 4- 12y, N/S	Elective surgery under general anesthesia	Videogame > 20 min to surgery	A hand-held video game + Parental presence during induction of anesthesia
Lee et al. (2013) South Korea	RCT	N = 120, 1- 10y, N/S	Elective surgery under general anesthesia	Smartphone game app > 5 min to surgery	Smartphone game application
INTERNET & MUSIC					
Kain et al. (2004a) USA	RCT	N = 123, 3- 7y, N/S	Elective outpatient surgery	Music 30 min prior to surgery	Used instruments and songs as vehicles to encourage expression of anxiety and physical release of that anxiety
O'Conner-Von (2008) USA	RCT	N = 69, 10- 16yr, 89% Caucasian	Elective tonsillectomy with or without adenoidectomy	program < 72hr to surgery	Internet program Titled "Tonsils! Who Needs 'em?", presented in a conversational format (i.e., peers teaching peers)

 $\overline{NRS} = Non-Randomized Controlled Study; RCT = Randomized Controlled Trial; N/S = Not Specified; < = Less than; > = More than.$ 

Baseline Characteristics. A total of 18 studies containing 1897 children and adolescents, ranging in age from 1 to 16 years were eligible. These studies included children that underwent general surgical procedures such as unspecified elective outpatient or ambulatory procedures, (Kain et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2012), herniorrhaphy only (Karabulut & Duygu, 2009; Wakimizu, Kamagata, Kuwabara, & Kamibeppu, 2009), tonsillectomy only (Huth et al., 2004; O'Conner-Von, 2008), and tonsillectomy or herniorrhaphy (Melamed & Siegel, 1975). Only one study focused solely on adolescents (O'Conner-Von, 2008). Overall, there was about a three-to-two ratio of males to females, while one study failed to report sex. Ethnicity was mentioned in only four studies but the majority of participants were Caucasian (Huth et al., 2004; Kain et al., 2007; O'Conner-Von, 2008). None of the 18 studies reported information on socioeconomic status. All studies were conducted in developed countries. The follow-up periods varied greatly, ranged from no post-operative follow-up to 1 month after surgery. Dropout or withdrawal rates were generally low across studies, ranging from 1% to 9%, with an average of 3% among the studies that explicitly described attrition.

**Types of Interventions.** The majority of eligible AV interventions were preoperative (pre-op) preparation videos (n = 9) (Durst, 1990; Karabulut & Duygu, 2009; Kerimoglu et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2012; Melamed & Siegel, 1975; Mifflin et al., 2012; Pinto & Hollandsworth, 1989; Robinson & Kobayashi, 1991; Wakimizu et al., 2009), followed by multi-faceted extensive AV preparation programs (n = 5) (Ellerton & Merriam, 1994; Huth et al., 2004; Kain et al., 1998; Kain et al., 2007; Kain et al., 2001). Multi-faceted extensive AV preparation programs are defined as those that included a combination of 2 or more interventions (e.g., a program that included the use of imagery booklets, a videotape, and an audiotape). The remaining four studies utilized interactive games (Lee et al., 2013; Patel et al., 2006), and music or internet preparation (Kain et al., 2004a; O'Conner-Von, 2008). AV interventions were compared with: i) standard of care (SC) or no intervention control group in 12 studies, ii) midazolam in two, iii) another AV intervention in two others, and iv) an OR tour and parental presence in the remaining two studies. In addition to the routine preparation, some studies also incorporated guardian presence in the operating room (OR), child life specialists, or an OR orientation tour, as part of standard of care (Kain et al., 1998; Kain et al., 2007; Mifflin et al., 2012). Pre-op preparation videos, multi-faceted extensive AV preparation programs and internet interventions were intended to provide procedural information that would educate children and parents about the perioperative process. Watching a cartoon or an online video clip, playing an interactive game, and interactive music were intended to be used as a distraction tool during the preoperative periods. Table I provides intervention details for individual studies.

**Timing, Duration, and Frequency of Intervention Application and Outcome Assessments.** Reporting of the timing, duration, and frequency of intervention application and outcome assessments was inconsistent between studies due to variations in time of measurements. The interventions were applied from 22 days up to 5 minutes prior to surgeries. The duration of the AV interventions ranged from 5 to 22 minutes. Most of the participants were exposed to the AV intervention just once preoperatively (n = 14). Participants from four studies were asked to use the intervention more than once (i.e., to listen to mental imagery audiotape as often as needed before and after surgery to manage anxiety and pain (Huth et al., 2004); to watch pre-op preparation video more than twice (Kain et al., 2007); to listen to relaxation audiotape once a day for a week (Robinson & Kobayashi, 1991); and to watch pre-op preparation video and read a booklet as frequently as they want at home (Wakimizu et al., 2009).

Anxiety Scales. Of the 18 studies, 14 showed positive effects on reducing children's preoperative anxiety. The most common instruments used to assess children's preoperative anxiety were the observer-rated Yale Preoperative Anxiety Scale (YPAS) and its modified one added item version (mYPAS); used in nine studies (Kain et al., 1998, 2001, 2004a, 2007; Kain et al., 2007; Kain et al., 2001; Kerimoglu et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2013; Mifflin et al., 2012; Patel et al., 2006). Clinical significance in terms of reductions in children's anxiety was defined as a 15-point difference or more on the mYPAS in two studies (Kerimoglu et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2012). The childreported State-Trait Anxiety for Children (STAI-C) (Huth et al., 2004; Karabulut & Duygu, 2009; O'Conner-Von, 2008), the self-report measure FACES comprised of seven anxiety-related facial expressions (Ellerton & Merriam, 1994; Wakimizu et al., 2009), and the Observer Rating Scale of Anxiety (ORSA) (Melamed & Siegel, 1975; Pinto & Hollandsworth, 1989; Robinson & Kobayashi, 1991) were used in the remaining eight studies. One study used a non-validated list of ratings for anxiety-related behaviors (Durst, 1990).

#### Outcomes

Table II provides an overview and summaries of individual study outcomes including assessment time points, scales used and associated numerical results. The effectiveness of the interventions is presented according to the types of interventions and outcomes as outlined above.

Study Authors, Year, Country	Intervention vs. Comparator group(s)	Scale(s)	Assessment Time point(s)	Study outcome summary Primary Outcome: Children's Preoperative Anxiety
VIDEOS Meladmed & Siegel (1975) USA	Ia: Pre-op preparation video entitled "Ethan Has an Operation" ( $n = 30$ ) Ca: Video entitled "Living Things are Everywhere" ( $n = 30$ )	ORSA	Night before surgery	Children who watched pre-op preparation video exhibited lower anxiety than children who watched the control video (F = $3.33$ , p < $0.02$ ).
Pinto & Hollandsworth (1989) USA	Ia: Peer-narrated Pre-op preparation video with parents (n = 10) Ib: Peer-narrated Pre-op preparation video without parents (n = 10) Ic: Adult-narrated Pre-op preparation video with parents (n = 10) Id: Adult-narrated Pre-op preparation video without parents (n = 10) Ca: No videotape with parents (n = 10) Cb: No videotape without parents (n = 10)	ORSA	Night before surgery	Children who watched pre-op preparation videotape with their parent present exhibited less preoperative anxiety than children who did not watch the videotape (F = 7.47, p < 0.0001).
Durst (1990) USA	Ia: Pre-op preparation video (n=29) C: Standard of care (n=30)	N/A	Prior to surgery	No significant difference in behaviors during the observation periods
Robinson & Kobayashi (1991) Australia	Ia: Pre-op preparation video + Child coping skills (n = 9) Ib: Pre-op preparation video + Child coping skills + Parent Coping skills (n = 9) Ca: Pre-op preparation video (n = 10)	ORSA		(N/A). No significant difference in anxiety between all groups (F = 0.44, NS).
Karabulut & Duygu (2009) Turkey	Ia: Pre-op preparation VCD (n=30) Ib: Training with booklet (n=30) C: No intervention (n=30)	STAI-C	48 hours before surgery 24 hours before surgery	Children who watched pre-op preparation VCD exhibited lower anxiety than children who received no

#### Table 2. The Effectiveness of the interventions (N = 18).

intervention (N/A).

Wakimizu et al. (2009) Japan	Ia: Pre-op preparation video + booklet at home (n = 77) C: Standard of care (Pre- op preparation video) (n = 81)	FACES	Prior to surgery	Children who watched pre-op preparation video at home exhibited lower anxiety than children who watched video at the hospital (F = $2.81$ , p = 0.038).
Lee et al. (2012) South Korea	Ia: Animated Cartoon (n = 42) Ib: Toy (n = 44) C: Standard of care (n = 44)	mYPAS	Prior to surgery Holding area In the OR	Children who watched animated cartoon exhibited lower anxiety in the OR than children who received standard of care ( $p < 0.05$ ).
Mifflin et al. (2012) Canada	Ia: Online videoclip (n = 42) C: Usual distraction techniques by anesthesiologists (n = 47)	mYPAS	During induction	Children who watched online videoclip exhibited lower anxiety during anesthetic induction than children who received usual distraction techniques by anesthesiologists (U = 497, p < 0.001).
Kerimoglu et al. (2013) USA	I: Video glasses (n = 32) Ia: Midazolam + Video glasses (n = 32) C: Midazolam (n = 32)	mYPAS	20 min before OR Transport to OR During induction	Children who used video glasses prevented increase in anxiety during anesthetic induction (p = 0.38) than children who received midazolam $(p = 0.02)$ . All 3 interventions prevented clinically significant increases (< 15  points) in anxiety from baseline $(p = 0.39)$ .
MULTI-FACETED E	XTENSIVE PROGRAM			
Ellerton & Merriam (1994) Canada	Ia: Day Surgery Program (Pre-op slide presentation + tour + handouts) (n=23) C: No intervention (n=52)	FACES	Prior to surgery	Fewer children who participated in the day surgery program exhibited high preoperative anxiety than children who received no intervention (Cramer's V= 0.33, p < 0.04).

Kain et al. (1998) USA	Ia: OR tour + videotape + Child Life preparation (n = 24)	YPAS	Holding area During induction	Children who participated in the pre-op preparation
	Ib OR tour + videotape (n = 25) Ca: OR tour (n = 24)			program exhibited lower preoperative anxiety than children who received OR tour only ( $p = 0.02$ ).
Kain et al. (2001) USA	Ia: Low sensory stimulation group (n=33) C: No intervention (n=37)	mYPAS	Entrance to the OR During induction	Children in the low sensory stimulation group exhibited lower preoperative anxiety than children in the control group (F = 6.3, p = 0.014).
Kain et al. (2007) USA	Ia: ADVANCE (n=96) Ib: PPIA (n=94) Ic: Midazolam (n=98) C: Standard of care (n=99)	mYPAS	Holding area During induction	Children in the ADVANCE group exhibited lower preoperative anxiety in the holding area (Cohen' d = 0.33) and during anesthetic induction (Cohen's $d = 0.54$ ) than children in other groups.
INTERACTIVE GAME				8 11
Patel et al. (2006) USA	Ia: Parental Presence + video game (n = 38) Ib: Parental Presence + Midazolam (n = 38) C: Parental Presence (n = 36)	mYPAS	During induction	Children who played video game with parental presence exhibited lower anxiety during anesthetic induction than children who received parental presence (p = 0.04).
Lee et al. (2013) South Korea	Ia: Smartphone App (n = 40) Ib: Midazolam + Smartphone App (n = 40) C: Midazolam (n = 40)	mYPAS	Holding area 5 min after intervention In the OR	Children in the Smartphone APP group exhibited lower preoperative anxiety than children who received midazolam (p < 0.01).
INTERNET & MUSIC				
Kain et al. (2004) USA	Ia: Interactive music therapy (n=51) Ib: Midazolam (n=34) C: Standard of care (n=38)	mYPAS	During induction	No significant difference in preoperative anxiety between children in the music therapy group and children in the standard of care group ( $p = 0.83$ ).

O'Conner-Von (2008)	Ia: Pre-op preparation	STAI-C	Holding area	No significant
USA	Internet program $(n = 28)$			difference in
	C: Standard hospital			preoperative anxiety
	preparation program (n =			between adolescents
	14)			in the internet
	Ca: Non-treatment group			preparation group and
	(n = 24)			children in the
				standard preparation
				program group (p =
				0.63).

N/A = Not Available; NS = No significant difference; Ia = Intervention; Ib = Comparator I; Ic = Comparator II; Id = Comparator III; C = Standard of care or no intervention; Ca = Control I; Cb = Control II; ORSA = Observer Rating Scale of Anxiety; FACES = FACES Rating Scale; STAI-C = State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Children; YPAS = Yale Preoperative Anxiety Scale; mYPAS = modified Preoperative Anxiety Scale

#### **Risk of Bias Within and Across Studies**

Cochrane Collaboration's Risk of bias tool was used to assess the biases at the study and outcome level. Within and across studies, all four NRSs demonstrated high risks of biases. Twelve RCTs demonstrated low risks of biases within studies with the exception of two studies (Lee et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2013), that were assessed as unclear risks. No known selective reporting and publication biases were identified across studies. **Primary Outcome: Anxiety** 

All AV Interventions vs. Comparator groups (N = 18). A total of 18 studies reported children's anxiety as a primary outcome. Nine studies used various forms of video interventions to reduce preoperative anxiety and seven of these nine reported positive effects in reducing anxiety (Karabulut & Duygu, 2009; Kerimoglu et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2012; Melamed & Siegel, 1975; Mifflin et al., 2012; Pinto & Hollandsworth, 1989; Wakimizu et al., 2009). Five studies examined the effects of multifaceted extensive AV intervention programs (Ellerton & Merriam, 1994; Huth et al., 2004; Kain et al., 1998; Kain et al., 2007; Kain et al., 2001). Two studies compared playing interactive video games with other interventions in reducing pre-op anxiety in children (Lee et al., 2013; Patel et al., 2006). Other AV interventions such as interactive music therapy and internet preparation programs were also examined (Kain et al., 2004a; O'Conner-Von, 2008).

*Weighted Mean Differences between AV Interventions and Control/SC.* Ten studies were pooled to examine the impact of all AV interventions (Figure 2). Data were available for 864 unique participants in these 10 studies (e.g., 4 videos, 2 multi-faceted

AV preparation programs, 2 interactive games, 1 internet and 1 music therapy) (Kain et al., 2007; Kain et al., 2001; Kain et al., 2004a; Karabulut & Duygu, 2009; Lee et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2013; O'Conner-Von, 2008; Patel et al., 2006; Pinto & Hollandsworth, 1989; Wakimizu et al., 2009). The weighted mean difference was calculated by pooling results of the studies. Overall, there was a -11.4 point WMD (95% CI = -17.29 - -5.59, *p* < 0.01) between anxiety scores in AV interventions and control/standard of care groups. This suggests that AV interventions resulted in statistically significant reductions in pre-operative anxiety in children. It should be noted that the standard of care practice varied greatly between different studies (e.g., no intervention, with parental presence and/or with sedative premedication). There was high heterogeneity in this estimate ( $I^2=97\%$ ).

		AV		С	ontrol			Mean Difference	Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% Cl
Durst 1990	0	0	0	0	0	0		Not estimable	
Ellerton & Merriam 1994	0	0	0	0	0	0		Not estimable	
Huth et al. 2004	0	0	0	0	0	0		Not estimable	
Kain et al. 1998	0	0	0	0	0	0		Not estimable	
Kain et al. 2001	0.5	9	33	17	8.6	37	10.4%	-16.50 [-20.64, -12.36]	
Kain et al. 2004	18.5	20.8	51	21.6	20.7	38	8.8%	-3.10 [-11.81, 5.61]	
Kain et al. 2007	6	27.4	96	16	30.5	99	9.0%	-10.00 [-18.13, -1.87]	
Karabulut & Duygu 2009	-17	4.5	30	2.24	8.2	30	10.6%	-19.24 [-22.59, -15.89]	
Kerimoglu et al. 2013	0	0	0	0	0	0		Not estimable	
Lee et al. 2012	6	9.8	42	30.1	20	44		-24.10 [-30.71, -17.49]	_ <b>-</b> -
Lee et al. 2013	-20.6	18.7	40	8	13.5	40	9.4%	-28.60 [-35.75, -21.45]	_ <b>-</b>
Meladmed & Siegel 1975	0	0	0	0	0	0		Not estimable	
Mifflin et al. 2012	0	0	0	0	0	0		Not estimable	
O'Conner-Von 2008	2.2	10	28	0.3	9.6	14	9.7%	1.90 [-4.35, 8.15]	
Patel et al. 2006	4.3	4.7	38	17.2	4.5	36	10.8%	-12.90 [-15.00, -10.80]	+
Pinto & Hollandsworth 1989	-2.1	3.1	10	-0.2	2.7	10	10.7%	-1.90 [-4.45, 0.65]	
Robinson & Kobayashi 1991	0	0	0	0	0	0		Not estimable	
Wakimizu et al. 2009	-0.01	2.1	72	0.9	2.3	76	10.9%	-0.91 [-1.62, -0.20]	-
Total (95% CI)			440			424	100.0%	-11.44 [-17.29, -5.59]	◆
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 81.40; C	hi² = 342	2.89, di	f=9 (P	< 0.000	01); l²	= 97%			
Test for overall effect: Z = 3.83					21.1				-50 -25 0 25 50 Equation AV Equation Constrai
	,								Favours AV Favours Control

Figure 2. All AV interventions vs. Control/SC for children's preoperative anxiety (WMD= -11.44, 95% CI = -17.29 - -5.59, p<0.01).

**Video Interventions vs. Control conditions (n = 5).** When compared with control conditions, there seems to be some support for the effectiveness of video interventions in reducing children's preoperative anxiety. The RCT conducted by Pinto et al. (1989) reported that children who watched a 22-minute peer-modeling pre-op preparation videotape one hour prior to admission in the presence of their parent exhibited less preoperative anxiety compared to the control group (F = 7.47, p < 0.0001) as measured by the ORSA. Similar results was reported in an NRS study by Karabulut et al. (2009) where they reported on a 12-minute pre-op Video Compact-Disc (VCD) training (M = 23.93, SD = 2.92) given 48-hours before surgery which was found to be significantly more effective in reducing preoperative anxiety than either the control (M =40.37, SD = 5.68) or the pre-op booklet training group (M = 28.6, SD = 3.92) as measured by the STAI-C (p < 0.01). In another RCT, Lee et al. (2012) also reported that children who selected and watched an age-appropriate movie from a list using a notebook or tablet personal computer had the lowest mYPAS anxiety scores (p < 0.01) in the OR (M = 31.8, SD = 8.8) compared to children who received standard of care (M = 57.4, SD = 18.1) or played with their favorite toys (M = 43.6, SD = 16.1). Finally, in the work of Mifflin and colleagues, children randomized to a video distraction group (i.e., watching an ageappropriate YouTube<sup>™</sup> clip) had lower median mYPAS anxiety scores compared to control group at anesthetic induction. The video distraction group also showed a smaller increase in anxiety from holding to induction area than the control (p < 0.001) (Mifflin et al., 2012).
Contrary to the above findings, one NRS reported no significant differences in anxiety-related behaviors between a group that received a peer-modeling of a pre-op preparation video and a group receiving preoperative teaching. However, this study failed to include any numerical data (Durst, 1990).

Video Interventions vs. Other Active Intervention(s) (Other Video(s), n = 3; **Midazolam**, n = 1). In addition to comparing video interventions to control conditions, four studies also compared video interventions alone to videos combined with other interventions. In one RCT, Wakimizu et al. (2009) reported lower anxiety levels on the FACES rating scale (p < 0.05) when children were given a peer-modelling pre-op preparation video with an information booklet to use at home as frequently as they wanted (M = 1.3, SD = 1.42) and compared this to receiving the same video preparation at the hospital (M = 2.06, SD = 1.89). Similarly, in a NRS by Melamed et al. (1989), state measures of anxiety revealed a significant reduction in preoperative fear arousal in their experimental group that received a 16 minute peer-modeling film pre-op as compared to children assigned to watch a generic film (F = 3.33, p < 0.02). Furthermore, Kerimoglu's RCT used video glasses with TV program viewing alone (Mdn = 33.3, 95% CI = 25-40), midazolam alone (Mdn = 45, 95% CI = 32.5-56.7), or both of these in combination (Mdn= 47.2, 95% CI = 28.3-56.7). They showed that all interventions were equally effective in preventing significant increase in median mYPAS anxiety scores during induction of anesthesia (Kerimoglu et al., 2013).

On the other hand, one study showed no significant differences between groups that received a peer-modeling video alone, a peer-modeling video along with child coping skills training, and a peer-modeling video along with child and parent coping skills training (Robinson & Kobayashi, 1991). Taken together, these studies suggest that peer-modeling videos are effective in reducing preoperative anxiety in children. Additional research will be required to examine the effects of additional coping skills training in reducing preoperative anxiety in children.

Meta-analysis of the four studies that contained appropriate data on the effectiveness of video interventions was conducted and contained 324 unique participants (Karabulut & Duygu, 2009; Lee et al., 2012; Pinto & Hollandsworth, 1989; Wakimizu et al., 2009). Overall, there was a -8.62 WMD reduction in anxiety scores between video intervention and comparator groups that included both standard of care and other video intervention (95% CI = -15.08 - -2.16, p < 0.01; Figure 3). These results suggest that video interventions are more effective than comparator groups at reducing preoperative anxiety. When further examining WMD between video and SC/control interventions only, the mean difference was approximately -11.13 (95% CI = -20.12 - 2.13, p < 0.01), indicating that the video interventions were more favorable than standard of care in reducing preoperative anxiety. Examination of the forest plots in Figure 3 suggested that the study of Pinot & Hollandsworth (1989) study accounted for much of the high heterogeneity ( $I^2=97\%$ ) in the pooled estimate. In this work, they reported a mean difference between their peer-narrated video intervention and an adult-narrated video was 0.20 (95% CI = -2.19 - 2.59), neither video was superior to the other.

# PhD Thesis - Cheryl HT Chow McMaster University – MiNDS Neuroscience Graduate Program

	١		Control				Mean Difference	Mean Difference			
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI		IV, Random, 95% CI	
2.1.1 Video (la) vs. Standard (	of Care	(C)									
Karabulut & Duygu 2009	-17	4.5	30	2.24	8.2	30	20.1%	-19.24 [-22.59, -15.89]		-	
Lee et al. 2012	6	9.8	42	30.1	20	44	17.4%	-24.10 [-30.71, -17.49]			
Pinto & Hollandsworth 1989	-2.1	3.1	10	-0.2	2.7	10	20.6%	-1.90 [-4.45, 0.65]		-	
Wakimizu et al. 2009 Subtotal (95% CI)	-0.01	2.1	72 <b>154</b>	0.94	2.3	76 <b>160</b>	21.2% <b>79.3%</b>			◆	
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 80.38; C Test for overall effect: Z = 2.43 2.1.2 Video (Ia) vs. Other Vide	(P = 0.0		at = 3 (	P < 0.0	0001)	i; i <del>*</del> = 9	8%				
Pinto & Hollandsworth 1989 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Not applicable Test for overall effect: Z = 0.16		3.1 37)	10 <b>10</b>	-2.3	2.3	10 <b>10</b>	20.7% <b>20.7%</b>	0.20 [-2.19, 2.59] <mark>0.20 [-2.19, 2.59]</mark>		ŧ	
Total (95% CI)         164         170         100.0%         -8.62 [-15.08, -2.16]           Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 51.06; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 156.21, df = 4 (P < 0.00001); l <sup>2</sup> = 97%         Test for overall effect; Z = 2.61 (P = 0.009)         Test for subgroup differences: Chi <sup>2</sup> = 5.69, df = 1 (P = 0.02), l <sup>2</sup> = 82.4%										50 0 50 vours Video Favours Control	100

Figure 3. Video Interventions vs. Comparator (e.g., SC or Other Video) groups for children's preoperative anxiety.

# Multi-faceted Extensive AV Preparation Programs vs. Comparator Groups

(**n** = **5**). Generally, Multi-faceted extensive AV preparation programs included a combination of 2 or more interventions such as procedural preparation and the use of an AV tool. Five studies examined the effects of multifaceted extensive AV intervention programs compared to controls or other interventions. All five reported significant reductions in preoperative anxiety in children (Ellerton & Merriam, 1994; Huth et al., 2004; Kain et al., 1998; Kain et al., 2007; Kain et al., 2001).

Multi-faceted Extensive AV Preparation Programs vs. Control Conditions (n = 4). In a study by Kain et al. (2001), children who received a low sensory stimulation intervention in the OR (i.e., a low light setting at 200 lux, with soft music in the background, and no conversations taking place during the anesthetic induction) were shown to be significantly less anxious compared with the control group on entrance to the OR, and on the introduction of the anesthesia mask (F = 6.3, p = 0.014) as measured by the mYPAS. In another RCT conducted by Huth et al. (2004), children who received an intervention that consisted of mental imagery booklets, a videotape, and an audiotape reported lower STAI-C anxiety levels (M = 30.67, SD = 6.51) than those who received standard preparation (M = 34.27, SD = 7.55) [Cohen's d=0.12]. Kain et al. (2007) also showed that children in their ADVANCE intervention which involved a video, mask practice, and coaching by specialized healthcare support staff exhibited lower mYPAS anxiety levels in the holding area than the standard of care, parental presence, or midazolam groups (Cohen's d=0.54). They were also less anxious during induction of anesthesia compared to the control or parental presence groups, but were found to have

similar reductions in anxiety to the midazolam group (Cohen's d=0.33). Thus, multifaceted extensive AV programs may also exhibit an impact similar to midazolam in reducing children's preoperative anxiety. Lastly, children and parents participated in the one-hour program group retrospectively reported less anxiety levels using FACES rating scale during the preoperative period when compared to those that did not receive an intervention (Cramer's V = 0.33, p < 0.04) in an NRS (Ellerton & Merriam, 1994).

#### Multi-faceted Extensive AV Preparation Programs vs. Other Active

**Intervention(s) (OR tour, n = 1).** In one RCT, Kain et al. (1998) showed that children in a multifaceted program with an OR tour, a videotape of pre-op preparation and Child Life preparation exhibited the lowest median levels of YPAS rated preoperative anxiety (*Mdn* = 9, 95% CI = 6-33; p < 0.05) during the preoperative period when compared to children that received an OR tour and videotape (*Mdn* = 32, 95% CI = 8-50), or an OR tour only (*Mdn* = 44, 95% CI = 10-72) (Kain et al., 1998).

When the two studies examining Multi-faceted Extensive AV Preparation Program interventions that contained data that permitted meta-analysis were pooled (n = 265) (Kain et al., 2001; Kain et al., 2007), an overall WMD between multi-faceted extensive AV preparation program interventions and standard of care of -13.00 (95% CI = -21.20 - -4.80, p < 0.01) was found. This suggests that the multi-faceted extensive AV preparation programs may be superior to control conditions in reducing preoperative anxiety.

Interactive Game vs. Other Active Intervention(s) (Parental Presence, n = 1; Midazolam, n = 1). Two studies compared playing interactive video games with other interventions in reducing pre-op anxiety in children and were shown to be effective. Patel et al. (2006), reported that children who played a handheld videogame (VG) with parental presence (PP) had the lowest anxiety levels as measured by mYPAS at induction (M =41.7, SD = 4.1; p < 0.05) compared to a group that received PP alone (M = 51.5, SD = 4) or received both midazolam and PP (M = 53.9, SD = 2.7). Another study conducted by Lee et al. (2013) also showed that children who used a smartphone with interactive game application (app) exhibited lower mYPAS anxiety scores (M = 38.6, SD = 6.4; p < 0.01) compared to the midazolam alone group (M = 44.8, SD = 6.5) at the OR. However, the lowest anxiety scores were reported in group that combined the use of both interventions (M = 30.2, SD = 3.5) (Lee, 2013). Thus, interactive games appear to be more effective than parental presence or midazolam alone in reducing preoperative anxiety in children undergoing elective surgery.

Data from two studies permitted meta-analysis of interactive game interventions compared to standard of care and other interventions (Lee et al. 2013; Patel et al., 2006). Data were available for 154 participants in these two studies. An overall WMD of -18.99 (95% CI = -40.01 - 2.03, p = 0.08) suggested that interactive games may reduce preoperative anxiety to a greater extent than other interventions, but it was not statistically significant. However, the WMD between interactive games and standard of care was statistically significant (MD = -20.36, 95% CI = -35.73 - -5.00, p < 0.01), indicating that interactive video games were superior to standard of care in reducing preoperative anxiety. It was found that when comparing interactive games versus the other interventions, the Lee et al. (2013) study favored the interactive game, while the

Patel et al. (2006) study favored the other intervention (i.e. parental presence with midazolam).

# Other AV Interventions (Music therapy, n = 1; Internet Preparation

**Program, n = 1) vs. Control Conditions.** Other AV interventions such as interactive music therapy and internet preparation programs did not effectively reduce preoperative anxiety in children undergoing elective surgeries (Kain et al., 2004a; O'Conner-Von, 2008). No differences in mYPAS anxiety scores were found between children receiving either an interactive music therapy group or a control group. Instead, the use of midazolam (0.5 mg/kg 30 min before surgery up to a maximum of 20 mg) seemed to be the most effective when compared with both the interactive music therapy and control group during preoperative periods (Kain et al., 2004a). Similarly, in another RCT study that examined an internet-based intervention program reported no differences in reducing preoperative anxiety in adolescents undergoing elective surgeries compared to the standard preparation group (O'Conner-Von, 2008). While these findings suggest that interactive music therapy and internet preparation programs may not be effective at reducing preoperative children's anxiety, further research is required before firm conclusions can be made.

**Summary of primary outcome.** These results suggest that most, but not all, AV interventions are effective in reducing children's preoperative anxiety. Indeed, 14 of 18 studies using AV interventions reported significant reductions in children's perioperative anxiety. Meta-analysis resulted from 10 studies also revealed statistically significant reductions in pre-operative anxiety in children. In particular, videos, multifaceted

programs, and interactive games were more effective than standard of care and other active interventions with effect sizes ranging from 0.12 to 0.54.

# **Secondary Outcomes**

**Pain** (n = 2). Two RCTs examined the effect of AV interventions on postoperative pain levels. Huth et al. (2004) reported less pain in children receiving a mental imagery intervention in the immediate postoperative period but not at follow-up 24 hours after discharge as assessed by the Oucher Pain Scale and Facial Affective Scale (FAS). Moreover, internet preparation did not reduce pain intensity two hours after leaving the post-anesthesia care unit compared with the standard preparation condition (O'Conner-Von, 2008).

**Postoperative Behavior and Recovery (n = 5).** Five studies examined the effects of AV interventions on postoperative behavior and recovery. Children in the ADVANCE multifaceted extensive program group were reported to be less likely to exhibit symptoms of delirium, received only half as much analgesia (e.g., fentanyl), and were discharged from the recovery room 20 minutes earlier than those receiving standard of care (Kain et al., 2007). Moreover, treatment groups that received peer-modeling preoperative preparation videos had less vomiting, crying, and fluid intake as measured by the Recovery Index (Pinto & Hollandsworth, 1989). Despite the fact that all five studies reported effective reductions in preoperative anxiety, three of these studies reported no differences in behavioral changes exhibited immediately postoperatively (Kain et al., 2001; Patel et al., 2006) and at 2 weeks follow-up after surgery (Kain et al., 1998). Thus,

reductions in preoperative anxiety in some but not all types of AV can lead to fewer postoperative negative behaviors, less analgesic usage and faster recovery.

**Compliance during Anesthetic Induction** (n = 2). Two studies reported on children's compliance during anesthetic induction assessed by the Induction Compliance Checklist. Children's compliance scores in a low sensory stimuli group that received low light settings and soft music were higher than the control group (Kain et al., 2001) though there were no differences between an interactive music therapy intervention and control group in another study (Kain et al., 2004a).

Satisfaction with Interventions (n = 2). Two studies examined children's and guardians' satisfaction with AV interventions. Wakimizu et al. (2009) showed that 91.7% caregivers expressed satisfaction with preoperative preparation video. Parents in the 'video at home' group were more active than the control group in explaining the anesthetic induction and other surgical preparations to their children. In another study conducted by O'Conner et al. (2008), higher satisfaction on surgery preparation was also found in both adolescents and parents in the internet group than in the standard preparation program.

**Cost-effectiveness (n=1).** Only one study reported the approximate cost reduction associated with the use of AV interventions. In Pinto el al.'s study (1989), a video intervention was estimated to reduce health care costs by \$183 per child.

#### Discussion

The objective of this systematic review and meta-analysis was to examine studies assessing the effectiveness of AV interventions at reducing preoperative anxiety in

children undergoing elective surgery. To our knowledge, this is the first comprehensive review to systematically investigate the impact of AV interventions on outcomes that included preoperative anxiety, postoperative pain, postoperative maladaptive behaviors, recovery, anesthetic induction compliance, satisfaction, and cost-effectiveness.

Our review suggests that AV interventions are a promising and potentially costeffective tool in helping to ameliorate children's preoperative anxiety, as well as improving a number of other adverse perioperative outcomes. Fourteen of the 18 studies led to reductions in children's preoperative anxiety. Meta-analysis of the 10 studies on the effectiveness of AV interventions was carried out. Our result showed that there was an overall -11.4 (95% CI = -17.29 - -5.59, p < 0.01) statistically significant WMD reduction between preoperative anxiety scores in AV interventions and control/SC groups in children. Videos, multi-faceted programs and interactive games alone or in combination with other interventions (such as midazolam) were the most effective and reported low to medium effect sizes. Generally, these AV interventions were more effective than SC and as effective as midazolam. Conversely, interactive music therapy and internet preparation interventions did not appear to be effective though relatively few studies examined these. There was moderate support for improving children's postoperative behaviors and recovery such as reduced levels of symptoms of delirium, and more rapid recovery. Furthermore, the results of postoperative pain, anesthetic induction compliance, satisfaction and cost-effectiveness comparisons also supported the use of AV interventions. However, these results require more support as only a limited number of studies reported data for these outcomes.

Children and parents seemed to be satisfied with receiving AV intervention at home prior to surgery (Wakimizu et al., 2009). These families were able to use the AV intervention as an additional support to deal with a perceived threatening situation (i.e., surgery) in the comfort of their home rather than in a busy hospital environment. When facing surgery, many children develop a loss of sense of control and fear of the unknown (e.g., the hospital environment, staff, procedures etc.). Therefore, we propose that AV interventions can help these children with regaining a sense of control over this stressful situation by being exposed to procedural material prior to the surgery. Children are also then more likely to be receptive to learning about the complex information if the AV intervention is given in an age-appropriate format and will be better equipped to cope with preoperative anxiety. This will lead to increased satisfaction with the whole perioperative experience (Brewer et al., 2006).

Although only one study has conducted cost-effectiveness analyses, it seems that minimal time and health care resources are involved in the majority of the AV interventions in this review. Because of the automatic and reusable nature of AV interventions, it might be advantageous to include cost-effectiveness analyses in the conduct of future RCTs to examine whether AV interventions are more financially sound options compared to currently used interventions in reducing preoperative anxiety.

# Why Did Some of the AV Interventions Not Work?

Of the 18 studies reviewed, only 4 studies showed no reduction in anxiety compared to control interventions. In addition to using various distraction techniques (i.e., interactive games or cartoons), the content of the AV interventions (e.g., what, when, and how the informational component of the perioperative intervention is presented) might also account for the differential treatment effects observed. The findings of the studies contained in this review suggest that AV interventions with procedural information alone might be sufficient for a child to cope with the perceived anticipatory threat, and that any additional coping skills endowed by narration might not be necessary as they fail to contribute to reductions in preoperative anxiety (Kain et al., 1996; Kain et al., 1998). Also, the use of interactive music therapy and internet interventions required minimal interactions and primarily used either audio or visual components, but not both. This stresses the importance of potentially including multi-sensory stimulations for an effective AV intervention.

As mentioned, despite reporting reductions in preoperative anxiety, three studies showed no group differences in postoperative behavioral changes (Kain et al., 1998, 2001; Patel et al., 2006). This discrepancy could be explained by possible modifying variables and/or the tools used to measure postoperative behaviors. Aside from preoperative anxiety, research has shown that a child's age, temperament, parental anxiety and previous hospital experience can independently predict anxiety levels during the preoperative period and its effect on postoperative changes (Kain et al., 1996; Varughese, Nick, Gunter, Wang, & Kurth, 2008; Watson & Visram, 2003).

Furthermore, use of the parent-reported PHBQ scale rather than a child, selfreport scale might contribute to three studies showing reductions in anxiety but not postoperative behaviors. Although the PHBQ is widely used and validated, the results may be biased by the parent's perception of their child's behavior (Patel et al., 2006).

This idea of respondent mismatch is also supported by another study that showed mothers might not be as accurate as attending anesthesiologists in predicting their children's anxiety in pediatric settings (MacLaren et al., 2010).

# **Methodological Quality**

While the results of studies of AV interventions are encouraging, there were some methodological issues that need to be noted. All four non-randomized controlled trials revealed a very high risk of bias, lacking important elements such as proper randomization and blinding (Figure 4). Specifically, in one NRS conducted by Durst et al. (1990), the author used non-validated observer's report to note behavioral changes and reported no differences between control and videotape group. When assessing this study with Cochrane Risk of Bias tool, it had very high risk of biases in many domains such as incomplete data and selective outcome reporting. In addition, this study also lacked numerical data which altogether could influence the conclusiveness of the results. With the exception of this Study, 3 of the 4 NRSs revealed positive results in the reduction of preoperative anxiety.



Figure 4. Risk of Bias summary.

Each risk of bias item was assessed for each included study. If the study addressed the domain appropriately, low risk of bias was assigned (+). If the domain was addressed inappropriately, high risk of bias was assigned (-). If information was unavailable to reach a judgment, then an 'unclear' risk of bias was assigned to that domain (?).

The majority of RCTs demonstrated low risks of biases in the assessed domains with the exception of a few. In the Kain et al. (2004a) study, subgroup analysis revealed differential therapist effects. This differential effect might be attributed to differences in skill training, and potentially biased the results. It is important to note that an ideal AV intervention should not require skill training in its use or administration. Another RCT study examined an internet preparation program conducted at home, which raises some issues with non-compliance with the program. It is difficult to determine whether or not the adolescents have used the internet program as intended, to the fullest extent or without distractions during use (O'Conner-Von, 2008). Additionally, two RCTs were assessed as 'unclear risks' due to the incomplete reporting on randomization and blinding methods (Lee et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2013). Across studies, blinding of the participants was difficult due to the visibility nature of these interventions. Double-blinding was only reported on one study of the RCTs (Wakimizu et al., 2009). In addition, the definition of 'standard of care' was poorly explained in several studies (Kain et al., 1998; Kerimoglu et al., 2013; Patel et al., 2006). Some of these studies revealed potential confounding biases as co-interventions such as Child life specialists and parental presence that were considered as part of 'standard of care' or used as optional rescue therapy (Kain et al., 1998; Kain et al., 2001; Kain et al., 2004a). These methodological issues need to be considered when the findings of these studies are examined at the outcome level. It seems that high risk NRS showed better effects whereas lower risk RCTs showed poorer effects of their interventions on outcomes.

When designing future RCTs, investigators should consider the use of proper randomization and blinding strategies, the administration of both validated observers' reports and self-reports of behavioral changes, and the use of the intention-to-treat method as the primary analysis. These changes would enhance the validity of the results of studies. In addition, it might also be beneficial to take a more descriptive approach to the definition of "standard of care". This is an important issue because studies that include co-interventions may show less of an effect than those involving no other interventions.

#### How Do AV Interventions Affect Preoperative Anxiety?

**Potential Mechanisms.** While the mechanisms by which AV interventions reduce perioperative anxiety have not been formally studied, these may operate by enhancing cognitive coping strategies via the use of various distraction techniques (see Figure 5). Similar techniques are also widely use in reducing anxiety with other medical procedures such as cancer treatment, childhood immunizations and venipuncture (Kleiber & Harper, 1999; Koller & Goldman, 2012; Wint, Eshelman, Steele, & Guzzetta, 2002).



Figure 5. This theoretical model shows the potential mechanisms by which AV interventions may reduce preoperative anxiety and associated morbidity in children undergoing surgery. Predictors such as high trait anxiety and low sociability lead to elevated preoperative anxiety. AV distraction and other mechanisms (e.g., learning and/or rehearsal) reduce preoperative anxiety and ameliorate negative postoperative psychological, behavioral and clinical outcomes. Contrarily, preoperative anxiety remains high in the absence of AV distraction.

As Koller and Goldman have postulated, distraction competes for and diverts

children's attention from perceived threatening stimuli (such as anesthetic induction) to non-threatening stimuli (e.g., videos and playing interactive games), thus reducing anticipatory distress and anxiety. This diversion of attention can be further subdivided into active and passive distraction (Koller & Goldman, 2012).

Passive distraction redirects a child's attention by observation. In this review, using peer-modeling preoperative preparation videos, viewing a cartoon, an online videoclip or using video glasses can passively distract participants. Most of these interventions do not require the child's feedback and input. Peer-modeling videos also allow the child to learn new skills by passively watching another child similar to themselves to perform a task which he/she will later mimic. In order for the intervention to be effective, peer-models should be age- and developmentally matched with observer in order to properly convey the complex perioperative information (Kain et al., 1996; Schunk, 1987).

Active distraction, on the other hand, actively promotes the child's participation in an activity prior to surgery. Interactive games are examples of active AV distraction. Patel et al. (2006) demonstrated the use of active distraction as playing a video game involves active engagement and interaction in addition to the diversion of attention. Active distraction requires more cognitive processing to focus and to provide feedback on the task. Theoretically, by shifting their attention and cognitive processing, the child becomes less aware of their environment making them less anxious about the surgery during the preoperative period (Dahlquist, Pendley, Landtrip, Jones, & Steuber, 2002).

In general, using either active or passive AV distractions can be effective in reducing preoperative anxiety. The literature seems to suggest that the more sensory modalities (i.e. auditory, visual, kinesthetic and tactile senses) that are recruited or used in an AV intervention, the less attention that will be available for the perceived threatening stimuli, thereby potentially optimally attenuating the distress associated with perioperative procedures (DeMore & Cohen, 2005). Aside from distraction, preoperative anxiety might also be reduced via the learning and rehearsal of relevant procedural information before surgery as was demonstrated in peer-modelling video-based interventions or operating room orientation tours. This prior exposure essentially allows

for children and parents to cognitively cope with the uncertainty associated with the impending hospital experience. This view is also supported by Neufeld & Davidson (1971), who suggested that surgical stress can be reduced if adult patients can mentally work through upcoming events and develop a feeling of being able to actively cope with it in order to reduce surgical threat. While beyond the scope of this review, it might be worthwhile for future studies to examine the specific impact of rehearsal effects and/or knowledge gain from AV interventions. Future research should also focus on more fully understanding the mechanisms underlying the effectiveness of AV interventions so that they can be optimized for clinical use.

# Limitations

It is important to note that there was substantial clinical and methodological heterogeneity (i.e., SC practices, interventions, timing and duration, outcome measures using various scales, and different comparison groups etc.,) across studies. Thus, it is difficult to definitely pinpoint which aspects of the AV interventions will be the most beneficial.

In this review, four studies were conducted by a single research group and so in order to establish the validity and generalizability of their results, their findings should be replicated by other independent research teams. Second, only children receiving elective surgeries (i.e. tonsillectomy and herniorraphy etc.,) were included in this review to control for confounding factors. Effects of AV interventions on other types of surgery such as dental or more invasive surgeries should also be examined in order to establish the generalizability of our conclusions. Third, many of these studies have small samples

sizes and only eight provided justification for their recruitment numbers. Larger, adequately powered RCTs need to be conducted to replicate these results. Fourth, as this is the first to review the effectiveness of AV interventions, a wide range of modes was included. Future studies should investigate subtypes of AV interventions, their intensities, durations, and frequencies (i.e., dose) to see which components contribute most to effectiveness and to develop the most optimal intervention(s). Fifth, the scales used to report preoperative anxiety across studies varied widely. A new tool, specifically a selfreported, age-appropriate instrument, should be developed to measure preoperative anxiety more accurately. Sixth, inconsistent assessment and measurement time points, ranging from one week before surgery up to just prior to anesthetic induction, were used. Because of this inconsistency, it was difficult to determine the optimal administration time of the AV intervention preoperatively. And seventh, high variability exists in control groups within studies, ranging from no intervention, to including parental presence, midazolam, or Child life specialists. Lastly, only 1 of 18 studies had looked at the effects of AV interventions in the adolescent population, thus this limits our findings to mostly younger children. Given that many developmental changes occur during the transition from childhood through adolescence, this highlighted the importance of possibly examining the developmental trajectories of preoperative anxiety in children and adolescents undergoing surgery in future work.

#### Recommendations

Based on our results, simple, interactive, multi-sensory AV interventions should be given a sufficient amount of time prior to surgery and divert a child's attention to

allow the child to internalize learned information seem to be ideal. Such interventions should also be designed in the form of peer-modeling to be age and developmentally appropriate. The minimum frequency requirement for administration seems to be at least once prior to surgery, and at least 5 minutes in length. To maximize its effectiveness, it should be available for use as frequently as desired, making the home setting an ideal place for the intervention.

This review highlights the need for large, adequately powered RCTs with optimal measurement quality to accurately evaluate the effects of AV interventions. Furthermore, the inclusion of more complex and/or repeated surgical events experienced by children should be included given their clinical relevance. Recent technological advancements will allow the incorporation of age-appropriate preoperative information in the form of technologies such as virtual reality programs and tablet-based applications. Further exploration of the importance of timing and exposure in these interventions is warranted, as is the inclusion of tracking software to record exposure quantity, as well as interactive modules that incorporate preferences and feedback from users would also help to optimize interventions. Moreover, there is paucity in the literature as to the effects of AV interventions on perioperative outcomes in adolescents. Thus far, only one study has investigated the effects of internet preparation on adolescents between the ages of 10-16 and reported no significant differences in preoperative anxiety and pain intensity between SC and intervention groups. It might be of significant value to examine the effectiveness of AV interventions in both children and adolescents undergoing surgery. Finally, future

studies should delineate potential predictors and moderators of interventions on perioperative anxiety.

# Conclusion

In conclusion, there is evidence to support the use of AV interventions in reducing anxiety for children who are undergoing elective surgeries. Our results, both quantitatively and qualitatively, show that AV interventions are more effective than SC in reducing anxiety, post-operative pain, behaviors and recovery, improving compliance during anesthetic induction and are well-tolerated. As such, AV interventions might be an attractive solution to optimizing perioperative care in children. Future studies should examine the impact of preoperative anxiety in all children and adolescents undergoing surgery.

#### **Clinical Implications**

Reducing preoperative anxiety has the potential to optimize surgical care. Despite its high prevalence, preoperative anxiety in children remains an understudied topic. Children experiencing preoperative anxiety and their families are affected in many ways. Aside from the emotional distress and trauma they can experience, these children are at a much higher risk of manifesting maladaptive behaviors such as separation anxiety, aggression toward authority figures, sleep problems, and increased fear of physicians (Kain et al., 1996). These children generally have issues with future healthcare compliance which further poses threats to their individual health and development. Furthermore, preoperative anxiety also leads to increases in analgesic consumption, prolonged stays in recovery areas, delay in entry to operating rooms, and longer hospital stays which together increase suffering and healthcare costs. AV interventions appear to be a promising tool for reducing preoperative anxiety and ameliorating postoperative anxiety and its associated morbidity in children undergoing surgery. AV interventions can be effective if used independently or adjunctively to SC practice. They are costeffective, readily accessible, easy to administer, and have the potential to be adapted and used in many hospital settings.

# References

- Ahmed, M., Farrell, M., & Parrish, K. (2011). Preoperative anxiety in children risk factors and non-pharmacological management. *Middle East Journal of Anesthesiology*, 21, 153–170.
- Alanazi, A. A. (2014). Reducing anxiety in preoperative patients: a systematic review. *British Journal of Nursing*, 23, 387–393.
- Brewer, S., Gleditsch, S. L., Syblik, D., Tietjens, M. E., & Vacik, H. W. (2006). Pediatric anxiety: child life intervention in day surgery. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 21, 13– 22.
- Caumo, W., Broenstrub, J. C., Fialho, L., Petry, S. M. G., Brathwatt, O., Bandeira, D., ...
  Ferrerira, M. B. (2000). Risk factors for postoperative anxiety in children. *Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica*, 44, 782–789.
- Calipel, S., Lucas-Polomeni, M., Wodey, E., & Ecoffey, C. (2005). Premedication in children: hypnosis versus midazolam. *Pediatric Anesthesia*, *15*(4), 275-281.
- Chow, C. H. T., Van Lieshout, R., Schmidt, L., & Buckley, N. (2014). Audiovisual interventions to reduce children's preoperative anxiety: A Systematic Review.
   *PROSPERO International prospective register of systematic reviews*, 1–5. Available from

http://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/display\_record.asp?ID=CRD42014010637

Dahlquist, L. M., Pendley, J. S., Landtrip, D. S., Jones, C. L., & Steuber, C. P. (2002).
Distraction intervention for preschoolers undergoing intramuscular injections and subcutaneous port access. *Health Psychology*, 21, 94–99.

- Dahmani, S., Delivet, H., & Hilly, J. (2014). Emergence delirium in children: an update. *Current Opinion in Anaesthesiology*, 27, 309–315.
- Davidson, A., & McKenzie, I. (2011). Distress at induction: prevention and consequences. *Current Opinion in Anaesthesiology*, *24*, 301–306.

Deeks, J.J., Higgins, J.P.T., Altman, D.G. (editors). (2011). Chapter 9: Analysing data and undertaking meta-analyses. In: Higgins JPT, Green S (editors). *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from www.cochrane-handbook.org.

- DeMore, M., & Cohen, L. (2005). Distraction for Pediatric Immunization Pain: A Critical Review. Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings, 12, 281–291.
- Durst, L. (1990). Preoperative Teaching Videotape. AORN Journal, 52(3), 576-584.
- Ellerton, M. L., & Merriam, C. (1994). Preparing children and families psychologically for day surgery: an evaluation. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *19*, 1057–1062.
- Fortier, M. A., Del Rosario, A. M., Martin, S. R., & Kain, Z. N. (2010). Perioperative anxiety in children. *Paediatric Anaesthesia*, 20, 318–322.
- Fortier, M. A., Martin, S. R., Chorney, J. M., Mayes, L. C., & Kain, Z. N. (2011). Preoperative anxiety in adolescents undergoing surgery: a pilot study. *Paediatric Anaesthesia*, 21, 969–973.
- Higgins, J.P.T., Altman, D.G., Sterne, J.A.C. (editors). (2011). Chapter 8: Assessing risk of bias in included studies. In: Higgins JPT, Green S (editors). *Cochrane Handbook*

*for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from www.cochrane-handbook.org.

- Huth, M. M., Broome, M. E., & Good, M. (2004). Imagery reduces children's postoperative pain. *Pain*, *110*, 439–448.
- Kain, Z. N., Caldwell-Andrews, A. A., Krivutza, D. M., Weinberg, M. E., Gaal, D.,
  Wang, S.-M., & Mayes, L. C. (2004a). Interactive Music Therapy as a Treatment for
  Preoperative Anxiety in Children: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 98, 1260–1266.
- Kain, Z. N., Caldwell-Andrews, A. A, Maranets, I., McClain, B., Gaal, D., Mayes, L. C.,
  ... Zhang, H. (2004b). Preoperative anxiety and emergence delirium and
  postoperative maladaptive behaviors. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 99, 1648–1654.
- Kain, Z. N., Caldwell-Andrews, A. A., Mayes, L. C., Weinberg, M. E., Wang, S. M., MacLaren, J. E., & Blount, R. L. (2007). Family-centered preparation for surgery improves perioperative outcomes in children: a randomized controlled trial. *Anesthesiology*, 106(1), 65-74.
- Kain, Z. N., Caramico, L. A., Mayes, L. C., Genevro, J. L., Bornstein, M. H., &
  Hofstadter, M. B. (1998). Preoperative Preparation Programs A Comparative
  Examination in Children: *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 87, 1249–55.
- Kain, Z. N., Mayes, L. C., Caldwell-Andrews, A. A., Karas, D. E., & McClain, B. C.
  (2006). Preoperative anxiety, postoperative pain, and behavioral recovery in young children undergoing surgery. *Pediatrics*, *118*, 651–658.

- Kain, Z. N., Mayes, L. C., Cicchetti, D. V, Bagnall, A. L., Finley, J. D., & Hofstadter, M.
  B. (1997). The Yale Preoperative Anxiety Scale: How Does It Compare with a "Gold Standard"? *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 85, 783–788.
- Kain, Z. N., Mayes, L. C., Cicchetti, D. V., Caramico, L. A., Spieker, M., Nygren, M. M., & Rimar, S. (1995). Measurement tool for preoperative anxiety in young children: The yale preoperative anxiety scale. *Child Neuropsychology*, *1*, 203–210.
- Kain, Z. N., Mayes, L., O'Connor, T., & Cicchetti, D. (1996). Preoperative Anxiety in Children. Predictors and outcomes. Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, 150, 1238–1245.
- Kain, Z. N., Wang, S. M., Mayes, L. C., Caramico, L. A., & Hofstadter, M. B. (1999).
  Distress During the Induction of Anesthesia and Postoperative Behavioral
  Outcomes. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 88, 1042–1047.
- Kain, Z. N., Wang, S. M., Mayes, L. C., Krivutza, D. M., & Teague, B. A. (2001).
  Sensory Stimuli and Anxiety in Children Undergoing Surgery: A Randomized,
  Controlled Trial. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 92, 897–903.
- Karabulut, N., & Duygu, A. (2009). The Effect of Different Training Programs AppliedPrior to Surgical Operation on Anxiety Levels. *New Symposium Journal*, 47, 64–69.
- Kerimoglu, B., Neuman, A., Paul, J., Stefanov, D. G., & Twersky, R. (2013). Anesthesia induction using video glasses as a distraction tool for the management of preoperative anxiety in children. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, *117*, 1373–1379.

- Klassen, J. A., Liang, Y., Tjosvold, L., Klassen, T. P., & Hartling, L. (2008). Music for pain and anxiety in children undergoing medical procedures: A systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Ambulatory Pediatrics*, 8, 117-128.
- Kleiber, C., & Harper, D. C. (1999). Effects of Distraction on Children's Pain and
  Distress During Medical Procedures: A Meta-Analysis. *Nursing Research*, 48, 44–49.
- Koller, D., & Goldman, R. D. (2012). Distraction techniques for children undergoing procedures: a critical review of pediatric research. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 27, 652–681.
- Kuttner, L. (2012). Pediatric hypnosis: pre-, peri-, and post-anesthesia. *Paediatric Anaesthesia*, 22, 573–577.
- Lee, A., Chui, P. T., & Gin, T. (2003). Educating Patients About Anesthesia: A Systematic Review of Randomized Controlled Trials of Media-Based Interventions. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 1424–1431.
- Lee, J. H., Jung, H. K., Lee, G. G., Kim, H. Y., Park, S. G., & Woo, S.C. (2013). Effect of behavioral intervention using smartphone application for preoperative anxiety in pediatric patients. *Korean Journal of Anesthesiology*, 65, 508–518.
- Lee, J., Lee, J., Lim, H., Son, J. S., Lee, J. R., Kim, D. C., & Ko, S. (2012). Cartoon distraction alleviates anxiety in children during induction of anesthesia. *Anesthesia* & *Analgesia*, 115, 1168–1173.
- Li, H. C. W., & Lopez, V. (2005). Do trait anxiety and age predict state anxiety of school-age children? *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 14, 1083–1089.

- Litke, J., Pikulska, A., & Wegner, T. (2012). Management of perioperative stress in children and parents . Part I — The preoperative period. *Anaesthesiology Intensive Therapy*, 44, 165–169.
- Long, E. O., & Rajagopalan, S. (2002). Stress Signals Activate Natural Killer Cells. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 196, 1399–1402.
- MacLaren, J. E., Thompson, C., Weinberg, M., Fortier, M. A., Morrison, D. E., Perret,
  D., & Kain, Z. N. (2010). Prediction of preoperative anxiety in children: who is most accurate?. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 108(6), 1777-1782.
- Manyande, A., Cyna, A., Yip, P., Chooi, C., & Middleton, P. (2015). Nonpharmacological interventions for assisting the induction of anaesthesia in children. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2015(7), 1–119.
- Maranets, I., & Kain, Z. N. (1999). Preoperative Anxiety and Intraoperative Anesthetic Requirements. *Anesthesia and Analgesia*, *89*, 1346-1351.
- McCann, M. E., & Kain, Z. N. (2001). The Management of Preoperative Anxiety in Children: An Update. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 98–105.
- Melamed, B. G., & Siegel, L. J. (1975). Reduction of anxiety in children facing hospitalization and surgery by use of filmed modeling. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 43, 511–521.
- Mifflin, K. A, Hackmann, T., & Chorney, J. M. (2012). Streamed video clips to reduce anxiety in children during inhaled induction of anesthesia. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 115, 1162–1167.

- Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., & Altman, D. G. (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *BMJ (Clinical Research Ed.)*, 339, b2535.
- Neufeld, R. W., & Davidson, P. O. (1971). The effects of vicarious and cognitive rehearsal on pain tolerance. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *15*(3), 329–335.
- Nilsson, U. (2008). The Anxiety- and Pain-Reducing Effects of Music Interventions : A Systematic Review. *AORN Journal*, 87, 780–807.
- O'Conner-Von, S. (2008). Preparation of adolescents for outpatient surgery: using an Internet program. *AORN Journal*, 87, 374–398.
- Patel, A., Schieble, T., Davidson, M., Tran, M. C. J., Schoenberg, C., Delphin, E., & Bennett, H. (2006). Distraction with a hand-held video game reduces pediatric preoperative anxiety. *Paediatric Anaesthesia*, *16*, 1019–1027.
- Perry, J. N., Hooper, V. ., & Masiongale, J. (2012). Reduction of preoperative anxiety in pediatric surgery patients using age-appropriate teaching interventions. *Journal of Perianesthesia Nursing*, 69–81.
- Pinto, R., & Hollandsworth, J. (1989). Using videotape modelling to prepare children psychologically for surgery. *Health Psychology*, 88, 79–95.

Schunk, D. H. (1987). Peer Models and Children's Behavioral Change. Review of Educational Research, 57, 149–174.

<sup>Robinson, P. J., & Kobayashi, K. (1991). Development and Evaluation of a Presurgical</sup> Preparation Program. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *16*, 193–212. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/16.2.193

- Sinha, C., Kaur, M., Kumar, A., Kulkarni, A., Ambareesha, M., & Upadya, M. (2012).
  Comparative evaluation of midazolam and butorphanol as oral premedication in pediatric patients. *Journal of Anaesthesiology, Clinical Pharmacology*, 28, 32–35.
- Spielberger, C. D., Edwards, C.D., Lushene, R., Montuori, J., & Platzek D. (1973). *State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Children*. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologist Press.
- Sterne, J.A.C., Egger, M., Moher, D. (editors). Chapter 10: Addressing reporting biases.
  In: Higgins JPT, Green S (editors). *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from www.cochrane-handbook.org.
- Tunney, A. M., & Boore, J. (2013). The effectiveness of a storybook in lessening anxiety in children undergoing tonsillectomy and adenoidectomy in Northern Ireland. *Issues* in Comprehensive Pediatric Nursing, 36, 319–335.
- Vagnoli, L., Caprilli, S., & Messeri, A. (2010). Parental presence, clowns or sedative premedication to treat preoperative anxiety in children: what could be the most promising option? *Paediatric Anaesthesia*, 20, 937–943.
- Varughese, A. M., Nick, T. G., Gunter, J., Wang, Y., & Kurth, C. D. (2008). Factors predictive of poor behavioral compliance during inhaled induction in children. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 107, 413–421.
- Wakimizu, R., Kamagata, S., Kuwabara, T., & Kamibeppu, K. (2009). A randomized controlled trial of an at-home preparation programme for Japanese preschool children: effects on children's and caregivers' anxiety associated with surgery. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*, 15, 393–401.

- Watson, A. T., & Visram, A. (2003). Children's preoperative anxiety and postoperative behaviour. *Pediatric Anesthesia*, 13(3), 188-204.
- Wint, S. S., Eshelman, D., Steele, J., & Guzzetta, C. E. (2002). Effects of Distraction Using Virtual Reality Glasses During Lumbar Punctures in Adolescents With Cancer. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 29, 8–15.
- Yip, P., Middleton, P., Cyna, A., & Carlyle, A. (2009). Non-pharmacological interventions for assisting the induction of anaesthesia in children. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2009(3), 1–62.

#### **CHAPTER THREE**

# STUDY 2

**TITLE:** Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale (CPMAS): Development and Validation

**AUTHORS:** Cheryl H. T. Chow, MS; Ryan J. Van Lieshout, MD, PHD; Norman Buckley, MD; Louis A. Schmidt, PHD

**CONTEXT AND IMPLICATIONS OF THIS STUDY:** This second study of the thesis addresses the need for a useful perioperative tool in to assess children's preoperative anxiety. At present, the limitations associated with existing children's anxiety measures may prevent us from accurately and conveniently assessing perioperative anxiety in clinical settings. Gaps in this area were impetus for the development and validation of the CPMAS, a tool that uniquely measures child's state anxiety in this study.

The findings of this study provide empirical evidence to support the reliability and validity of the CPMAS scores in assessing perioperative anxiety in children undergoing elective surgery. This suggests that this brief 5-item self-report has the potential to be a useful and valid tool for the evaluation of anxiety in routine clinical practice and research settings.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Cheryl Chow is supported by the Ontario Graduate Scholarship and Dr. Louis Schmidt is supported by grants from the Social Sciences Humanities Research Council, the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC), and the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR). I would like to thank the many children and families who participated in the study, Eliza Pope, Pauline Leung, Stephanie Wan, and Mark Hwang who assisted with data collection and data entry, and the Child Life Specialists and Program at the McMaster Children's Hospital, and Dr. Charles Cunningham who helped with scale development. I would also like to thank the American Psychological Association for granting permission to reproduce this work as part of our copyright transfer agreement.

# CONFLICTS OF INTEREST: None

PUBLISHED IN: Psychological Assessment. 2016; 28(9): 1101-1109.

© American Psychological Association, 2016

#### Abstract

Up to 5 million children are affected by peri-operative anxiety in North America each year. High peri-operative anxiety is predictive of numerous adverse emotional and behavioral outcomes in youth. The Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale (CPMAS) was developed to address the need for a simple, age-appropriate selfreport measure of pediatric perioperative anxiety in busy hospital settings. The CPMAS is a visual analog scale comprised of five items, each of which is scored from 0 to 100. The objective of this study was to assess the psychometric properties of the CPMAS in children undergoing surgery. Eighty children aged 7 to 13 years who were undergoing elective surgery at a University-affiliated children's hospital were recruited. Children self-completed the CPMAS and the Screen for Childhood Anxiety Related Disorders (SCARED-C) at three time points: at preoperative assessment (T1), on the day of the operation (T2), and 1 month postoperatively (T3). Internal consistency, test-retest reliability and the convergent validity of the CPMAS were assessed across all three visits. The CPMAS demonstrated good internal consistency (Cronbach's  $\alpha \ge .80$ ) and stability (ICC = 0.71) across all three visits. CPMAS scores were moderately correlated with total SCARED-C scores (r's=.35 to .54, p's < .05 to .01) and (r's=.29 to .71, p's < .05 to .01) for the state-related anxiety scores at all three time points, suggesting the CPMAS and SCARED-C measures tap similar but not identical phenomena. These results suggest that the CPMAS has the potential to be a useful tool for evaluating perioperative anxiety in children undergoing surgery.

#### Introduction

Of the nearly 5 million children who undergo surgical procedures in North America annually, up to 75% will develop elevated pre- and postoperative anxiety (Perry, Hooper, & Masiongale, 2012). Children with heightened preoperative anxiety are three and a half times more likely to develop a range of adverse postoperative outcomes, including separation anxiety, maladaptive behavioral patterns, and increased distress in surgical recovery (Fortier, Del Rosario, Martin, & Kain, 2010; Kain, Mayes, Caldwell-Andrews, Karas, & McClain, 2006; Kain et al., 1996; Wollin et al., 2004). In fact, nearly 50% of youth with preoperative anxiety exhibit postoperative behavioral changes, including aggression toward authority figures, feeding problems, insomnia, and nocturnal enuresis (Fortier et al., 2010; Kain et al., 2004, 2006; Kain et al., 1996; Kain, Wang, Mayes, Caramico, & Hofstadter, 1999; Litke, Pikulska, & Wegner, 2012). Kain et al. (1996) reported that 54% of these children continued to experience negative behavioral changes up to 2 weeks after surgery, 20% up to 6 months later, and 7.3% 1 year after their procedures.

In addition to these adverse emotional and behavioral reactions, children with higher levels of preoperative anxiety often have a more complicated operative and postoperative course, including prolonged anesthesia induction, poorer postoperative recovery, higher doses of postoperative analgesia requirements, and postoperative delirium (Kain et al., 2006; Maranets & Kain, 1999). These children also have a longer postoperative course of recovery with elevated levels of complications and prolonged wound healing (Brewer, Gleditsch, Syblik, Tietjens, & Vacik, 2006; McCann & Kain,
2001). Finally, children with greater preoperative anxiety are three times more likely to exhibit postoperative anxiety and elevated levels of postoperative pain (Caumo et al., 2000). These adverse outcomes can have both transient and long-term detrimental effects on a child's health and development. In order to properly describe and understand the precursors and sequelae of perioperative anxiety, brief, objective, reliable, and valid tools need to be developed that can accurately measure perioperative anxiety in busy and complex clinical settings.

While several measures are currently used to assess anxiety in pediatric surgical settings, existing scales have limitations and have led to their relatively inconsistent use in studies of perioperative anxiety. For example, the modified Yale Preoperative Anxiety Scale [mYPAS] (Kain et al., 1997) consists of 5 items that assess a child's activity, vocalizations, emotional expressivity, state of arousal, and utilization of their parent preoperatively. It takes approximately 5 minutes to complete (Kain et al., 1997) and has been shown to have good internal reliability (Jenkins, Fortier, Kaplan, Mayes, & Kain, 2014). Despite these strengths, this observer-rated scale is susceptible to bias (i.e., inter-observer variability) and requires that healthcare staff and research assistants be trained on its administration at multiple assessment points (Wright, Stewart, & Finley, 2013). Unfortunately, from a practical standpoint, the busy hospital setting offers very limited observation time for healthcare and study staff to fully and accurately assess preoperative anxiety (Jenkins et al., 2014). Another disadvantage of the mYPAS is that it also does not allow for the assessment of postoperative anxiety.

Other scales such as the Visual Analog Scale [VAS] (Deloach, Stiff, & Caplan, 1998) and Wong-Baker FACES [FACES] scale (Wong & Baker, 1998) have been applied in this setting. The VAS is a single 100-mm wide horizontal line with "no pain" and "worst possible pain" anchors at each end (Deloach et al., 1998). Similarly, FACES is a one-item scale composed of 6 cartoon faces ranging from happy to sad to crying faces (Wong & Baker, 1998). However, both the VAS and FACES are primarily used to assess children's pain. As the construct of pain and anxiety are conceptually different, more research is required to determine the psychometric properties of these scales in the assessment of children's anxiety. These one-item scales provide very limited information and may lack the accuracy and comprehensiveness required to adequately describe and measure perioperative anxiety. Moreover, the reliability of these single-item scales is also unclear as internal consistency cannot be assessed for one-item scales (Lee & Kieckhefer, 1989; Wewers & Lowe, 1990). However, a multi-item VAS that combines several related constructs could allow for a more accurate assessment of a complex phenomenon such as anxiety or fear (Foster & Park, 2012; Gift, 1989).

Two other self-report measures that have been used to assess children's anxiety in the clinical setting are the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory-Children [STAI-C] (Spielberger et al., 1973), and the Screen for Child Anxiety Related Emotional Disorders - Child Version [SCARED-C] (Birmaher et al., 1997). The STAI-C, is a 40-item scale that measures both stable (trait) and situational (state) anxiety (Spielberger et al., 1973) and the SCARED-C is a 41-item screening instrument that measures childhood anxiety disorders (Birmaher et al., 1997). The SCARED-C is a "gold" standard that encompasses

many facets of childhood anxiety symptoms. Both of these scales take approximately 10-15 minutes to complete and were designed primarily to assess anxiety outside of hospital and other medical settings. While both have demonstrated good validity and reliability outside of the surgical context, their length and lack of specificity in this medical environment makes these scales cumbersome to administer, particularly in busy operative areas (Birmaher et al., 1997; Papay & Hedl, 1978).

At present, the limitations associated with existing children's anxiety measures may prevent us from rapidly and accurately assessing perioperative anxiety in clinical settings. Ideally, a useful perioperative tool should be reliable, valid, short and informative, utilize self-report, and be age-appropriate, as well as specific to perioperative settings. Existing gaps in this area have led us to develop the CPMAS, a tool that uniquely measures state anxiety.

The phenomenon of anxiety contains multiple components and emotions, with cognitive/affective, behavioral, and physiological manifestations. Anxiety is also comprised of the constructs of both worry and fear. Worry is a cognitive construct and a normal adaptive negative emotion associated with the anticipation of future threat (e.g., thinking about bad things that could happen during the surgery). Fear on the other hand, is defined as the normal adaptive biological reaction to an immediate real or perceived threat (e.g., fears of needles and pain associated with the surgery). Heightened anxiety regarding surgery may lead to distress and chronic avoidance of the source (e.g., high preoperative anxiety leads to avoidance of future surgeries) (McMurtry et al., 2015). In order to properly capture the richness of the of the phenomenon of anxiety, we have

included items such as "worried", "scared" and "nervousness" as they allow for a more comprehensive assessment of the multidimensional nature of the anxiety construct (Barlow, 1998; Chorpita & Barlow, 1998; Silverman, La Greca & Wasserstein, 1995). These inter-related but different aspects of anxiety are subjective and are likely best measured via self-report in the surgical context. It is particularly challenging for pediatric healthcare providers to assess children's fear and anxiety in medical settings and so it is vital that a proper measure be utilized (i.e., CPMAS) that allows for children to communicate how they feel briefly and accurately (Foster & Park, 2012).

The CPMAS is a brief, age-appropriate self-report scale that is designed to evaluate pediatric perioperative anxiety in the busy hospital setting. The measure is a five-item visual analog scale that quantifies perioperative anxiety numerically for a total score of 0 to 500. Children as young as 3 years are able to self-report on anxiety (Wright et al, 2010), and as long as they have the ability to comprehend space, numbers and distance, they are able to correctly self-report on their anxiety levels using VAS scales (Foster & Park, 2012). By age 7, concrete operations emerge: children develop an understanding of their mental operations and so the majority of children older than 7 are capable of reporting their feelings accurately. A number of other studies have also demonstrated the validity of numeric visual analog self-report scale to measure preoperative anxiety and/or pain in children between 7–13 years of age (Bringuier et al., 2009; Crandall et al., 2007; Garra et al., 2010).

The objective of the present study was to assess the psychometric properties of the CPMAS in 7-13 year old children undergoing surgery. We aimed to test the

reliability of CPMAS scores by examining the internal consistency at three time points and test-retest reliability across all three perioperative visits. The convergent validity of CPMAS scores (using the SCARED-C) were also examined. We hypothesized that CPMAS would demonstrate good internal consistency and test-retest reliability at all three time points. CPMAS scores were also predicted to be moderately correlated with overall SCARED-C scores at all three time points, given that the two measures tap similar, but not identical features of anxiety.

# Method

# **Participants**

Eighty children (50 boys, 30 girls) with a mean age of  $9.8 \pm 0.18$  years (range 7 to 13) who were scheduled to undergo elective outpatient surgical procedures (i.e., tonsillectomy, adenoidectomy and herniorraphy) at a single University-affiliated children's hospital were recruited during their preoperative clinic visits. Informed assent and parental consent were obtained prior to enrollment in the study. Enrollment took place between September 2013 and February 2015. Children diagnosed with neurodevelopmental disorders (e.g., autism spectrum disorders, visual and/or hearing impairment, etc.), and whose families were unable to comprehend the study process (i.e., enrollment, completing measures, receiving telephone calls, the right to withdraw from the study at anytime etc.) or to provide consent due to language barriers were not eligible to participate.

# Measures

**CPMAS.** The CPMAS is a five-item visual analog scale that quantifies perioperative anxiety numerically. Each question directly asks about how the child feels under/during various perioperative settings.

During the administration of the CPMAS, children were told to respond to questions in a way that reflected exactly how they feel about the surgery at that moment. In particular, they were asked each CPMAS question individually as they were shown the visual analog scale. Children were told to draw a line on the number that was closest to how they felt with 0 representing "not at all X" and 100 representing "very X" for that item. At all three timepoints, children were reminded of the fact that they were answering questions about their surgery while completing the scale. For example, children were asked "Right now, how worried are you? Please answer by drawing a line on the number that is closest to how you are feeling about the surgery, from a scale of 0 to 100 with 0 meaning not at all worried, 100 meaning very worried or any numbers in between." (see Figure 1).

Summing the responses to the CPMAS items produces a score ranging from 0 to 500, with higher values indicating greater anxiety. (Note: Item 4 was only applicable during preoperative periods and so this item was eliminated at the postoperative assessment).

*Scale Development of the CPMAS.* The CPMAS was created by a team of experts from various disciplines, including a developmental personality psychologist with 20 years of experience in studying children's anxiety, an anesthesiologist with over 20 years in pediatric anesthesiology, a psychiatrist, and a child clinical psychologist with

over 40 years of clinical experience with children's anxiety. During the planning/construction phase, the expert panel created dozens of preliminary question items using theoretical and empirical domains of child anxiety from the extant literature based on their practical and research experiences (Birmaher et al., 1997; La Greca & Stone, 1993; Reynolds & Richmond, 1978). During pilot testing, the panel reviewed preliminary item tryouts, edited items and reduced the number of items to only include appropriate and relevant contents manifested during the perioperative periods. The original CPMAS had a total of 6 items. Data were collected on all 6 items at all three study time points. Preliminary analysis showed that Item #2 "Right now, how happy are you?" had low inter-item correlations (range from .131 to .404), and the stability of the scale was improved when this item was removed (as shown by an increase in Cronbach's alpha from .85 to .89). As a result, the team agreed that the "happy" item/construct was theoretically different from the "anxiety" construct. Accordingly, the decision was made to remove it from the scale. We also removed item #5 "Right now, I feel scared that this might hurt" from the postoperative visit because it did not apply postoperatively. Therefore, this item was eliminated for T3 follow-ups only. The CPMAS panel had agreed on the final version of the 5-item CPMAS used preoperatively in this study.

Not at all	and the second se						Very					
worried	0	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100	worried
2.	Rig	ht no	w, <mark>h</mark> o	ow sc	ared	are y	ou?				_	
Not at all	1441	HH HI		IN IN THE				HIT FILL			1111	Very
scared	0	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100	scared
3	Rig	ht no	w h	ow ne	TVOU	sare	vou?					
		HEIL STOL							HID SALL	IIII IIII	E III	Marti
Not at all nervous	0	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100	Very nervous
4.	Rig	ht no	w, I	feel s	cared	that	this n	night	hurt.	*		
Not at all	THE	NHU STR		100 100							1111	Very
scared	0	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100	scared
5.	Rig	ht no	w, I	feel v	vorrie	d tha	t som	ethin	g bad	l mig	ht happ	oen.
	THE	HIND STOL		HILI							1111	Verv
Not at all												

Figure 1. Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale.

\*Note: Item 4 is only applicable during preoperative periods.

**SCARED-C.** The SCARED-C is a 41-item self-report scale that screens for common pediatric anxiety disorders in children aged 8 to 18 years. It contains subscales for social anxiety disorder, panic disorder or significant somatic symptoms, generalized anxiety disorder, separation anxiety disorder, and significant school avoidance. Scores on each item range from 0 (not true) to 2 (very true). A total overall scale score of  $\geq 25$  suggests the presence of an anxiety disorder. The SCARED-C has demonstrated excellent reliability with internal consistency of  $\alpha = .74$  to .93 and test-retest reliability of intraclass correlation coefficients = .70 to .90 and validity between anxiety and other disorders and within anxiety disorders), and moderate parent-child agreement (r = .20 to .47, p < .001, all correlations) (Birmaher et al., 1997).

Two state-related items within the Generalized Anxiety Subscale (i.e. Q7- "I am nervous", and also Q33- "I worry about what is going to happen in the future") were selected for further analyses. These two items were selected and used to examine convergent validity with the CPMAS.

### **Procedure and Data Collection**

Data were collected at three time points: at preoperative assessment (T1), immediately preoperatively on the day of surgery (T2), and 1 month postoperatively (T3). Children completed two self-reports, the CPMAS and the SCARED-C, at these time points. Demographics such as sex, age, previous hospitalization, preoperative preparation with a Child life Specialist, parental sex and parental age were also collected at T1. This study and all procedures were approved by the Local University Hospital Research Ethics Board. Written informed assent and consent were obtained from children and parents.

# **Pilot Testing**

The present study was completed in three phases. The first phase was conducted to assess the psychometric properties of the CPMAS, to determine if our recruitment procedures were feasible and if CPMAS scores were stable across preoperative visits (i.e. T1 and T2). We demonstrated that participant recruitment (n = 30) and anxiety assessment were feasible at these time points. However, in this phase, we identified the issue of reduced study retention during postoperative visits. This was due to the fact that many outpatient surgical patients did not return to the clinic for follow-up and/or were not recommended to return to the follow-up clinic. In our second phase, we recruited another 30 children and followed up via telephone protocol. In the last phase, we recruited another 20 participants and administered the revised 5-item CPMAS scale using the refined protocol.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Descriptive analyses were conducted to report on all demographic and anxiety outcomes. The Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient (*r*) was used to determine the strength of the associations between CPMAS administration between time points. Paired Samples *t*-tests were performed to determine construct validity by comparing the differences of CPMAS scores between the preoperative (T1 and T2) and postoperative (T3) groups.

Internal consistency was evaluated using Cronbach's alpha (Cronbach's  $\alpha$ ). Testretest reliability was assessed using intraclass correlations (ICC) across all three visits. Inter-item correlations were also examined. Finally, the total SCARED-C and staterelated items of the SCARED-C were administered simultaneously with the CPMAS during all three visits to assess the convergent validity, using the Pearson productmoment correlation coefficient (*r*). Item analyses were also conducted on two selected state-related items within the Generalized Anxiety Subscale (i.e. Q7- "I am nervous", and also Q33- "I worry about what is going to happen in the future") as our outcomes.

Sensitivity to change was assessed using the Standardized Response Mean (SRM) change coefficient. We defined the magnitude of the change using Cohen's *d*, where an effect size (ES) of less than 0.20 is trivial,  $\geq 0.20$  to < 0.50 is small,  $\geq 0.50$  to < 0.80 is moderate and  $\geq 0.80$  is large (Stratford & Riddle, 2005).

A post-hoc power analysis for the correlation of CPMAS scores between timepoints was conducted based on our pilot data and revealed that a minimum of 80 participants would be required to achieve 80% ( $\beta = 0.2$ ) statistical power with a significance level of 0.05 ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ) to detect a correlation coefficient of r = 0.31. Additionally, a power analysis for a one-group paired samples *t* test was also conducted using CPMAS scores and revealed a mean difference of 37 and a standard deviation of 24 between T1 and T2 and a mean difference of 136 and a standard deviation of 25 between T2 and T3. A minimum of 6 participants would be required to achieve 80% ( $\beta = 0.2$ ) statistical power to detect a significance difference ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ) between the 2 groups at these timepoints. Furthermore, a power analysis for Cronbach's alpha with 5-items was conducted and revealed a minimum of 10 participants to achieve 80% ( $\beta = 0.2$ ) statistical power with a significance level of 0.05 ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ).

To account for attrition, sensitivity analyses using independent samples *t*-test and chi-square tests were conducted to compare the baseline characteristics between those who remained in the study and those who did not complete all of the assessments (Table 1). A sensitivity analysis was also conducted to compare the results between those who received preoperative preparation by Child life Specialist and those who did not, and to compare the anxiety measures between those 8-13 year old (the recommended age for SCARED-C) and children who were 7 years old.

Data were analyzed using SPSS (22.0, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). *P-values* < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

# Results

Table 1 shows the demographic characteristics of the study sample. Children's baseline anxiety scores were assessed on average of 10 days before surgery (M = 10.05, SD = 10.08). The majority of these children received otolaryngologic surgeries (57.5%) and urologic surgeries (21.3%). As part of the standard of care routine at this hospital, most children (97.5%) received preoperative preparation by a Child life Specialist during their preoperative clinic visit. As preoperative preparation by Child life Specialists was available only for 4 hours each day, two children who came in before or after these hours did not receive this preparation.

	Characteristics			
		Complete	Incomplete (T2)	Incomplete (T3)
Children				
	Gender, % (Boys/Girls)	62.5/37.5	18.8/7.5	37.5/16.3
	Age, $M \pm SD$	$9.8 \pm 1.62$	$9.9 \pm 1.49$	$9.9 \pm 1.57$
	Baseline CPMAS scores, $M \pm SD$	$146.09 \pm 128.72$	$123.57 \pm 96.84$	140.65 ± 128.09
	Baseline SCARED-C scores, $M \pm SD$	$24.71 \pm 15.25$	23.44 ± 16.25	$22.25 \pm 14.55$
	Type of Surgery, %			
	Otolaryngologic	57.5	13.8	27.5
	Urologic	21.3	3.8	12.5
	General Pediatric	15	3.8	8.8
	Ophthalmologic	5	3.8	3.8
	Dental	1.3	1.3	1.3
	Child Life Specialist, % (Yes/No)	98/2	25/1.3	25/1.3
	Previous Hospitalization, % (Yes/No)	9/71	2.5/23.8	5/48.8
Parents				
	Mother/Father/Other, %	73.8/21.3/5	20/3.8/2.5	48.8/11.3/2.5
	Age, $M \pm SD$ Household Income, <i>Mdn</i>	40.43 ± 7.57 \$82,290 (Cdn)	$39.24 \pm 7.25$	39.28 ± 6.49

 Table 1. Demographic Characteristics of Children and Family (N=80)

% = Percentage; M = Mean; SD = Standard Deviation; Mdn = Median; Cdn = Canadian dollars; CPMAS = Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale; SCARED-C = Screen for Child Anxiety Related Disorders- Child Version.

Children of all ages in our sample were able to read and understand the questions of the assent form and measures. A total of 5 children were 7 years old at the time of testing. The results of our sensitivity analysis showed no significant differences between those who were 8-13 years old and those who were 7 years old on any outcome measures (p > 0.05).

All 80 children completed the CPMAS at T1. Fifty-nine children completed the CPMAS at T2 and 37 children completed the CPMAS at T3. In Table 2, the descriptive statistics of the CPMAS and SCARED-C scores are shown. The mean CPMAS score is  $146.09 \pm 128.72$  (range 0-500) at T1,  $182.71 \pm 135.01$  (range 0-500) at T2 and  $46.24 \pm 69.61$  (range 0-230) at T3. In keeping with general clinical experience, the mean CPMAS scores increased from T1 to T2 (p > 0.05) and decreased from T2 to T3, with the highest scores at T2 (immediately pre-operatively).

SCARED-C scores were available for 45 children at T1, 20 children at T2, and 31 children at T3 (see Table 2). Only a portion of recruited children were able to complete SCARED-C at T2 due to the accommodations made for operating room schedule changes or insufficient time in holding area for children to complete the entire SCARED-C scale. Overall SCARED-C scores were near the cutoff score of 25 at T1, and slightly below the cutoff score at T2 and T3. Most of the mean SCARED-C subscale scores were below individual cutoffs, the exception being Separation Anxiety Disorder (SpD). All children scored 5 or higher on SpD items across all three time points, suggesting that operative procedures might increase levels of SpD.

	Anxiety Scores	Ν	$M \pm SD$	Range
CPMAS				
	Preoperative visit (T1)			
	Boy	50	$126.74 \pm 120.18$	0-500
	Girl	30	$178.33 \pm 137.89$	0-400
	Total	80	$146.09 \pm 128.72$	0-500
	Day of surgery (T2)			
	Boy	35	$170.57 \pm 136.81$	0-500
	Girl	24	$200.42\pm133.20$	0-420
	Total	59	$182.71 \pm 135.01$	0-500
	1 month after surgery (T3)			
	Boy	20	$38.50 \pm 71.25$	0-230
	Girl	17	$55.35\pm68.64$	0-190
	Total	37	$46.24\pm69.61$	0-230
SCARED-C				
	Preoperative visit (T1)			
	PD	50	$4.84 \pm 4.71$	
	GAD	47	$5.60 \pm 4.13$	
	SpD	49	$6.06 \pm 4.22$	
	SAD	49	$6.12\pm3.70$	
	SSA	50	$2.04 \pm 1.73$	
	Total	45	$24.71 \pm 15.53$	4-67
	Day of surgery (T2)			
	PD	21	$5.19 \pm 5.99$	
	GAD	20	$5.15\pm4.70$	
	SpD	22	$5.18 \pm 4.94$	
	SAD	21	$4.43 \pm 3.94$	
	SSA	20	$1.93 \pm 1.75$	
	Total	20	$21.53 \pm 18.95$	2-74
	1 month after surgery (T3)			
	PD	31	$4.10\pm5.22$	
	GAD	31	$4.94 \pm 5.05$	
	SpD	31	$5.10\pm3.48$	
	SAD	31	$6.19\pm3.57$	
	SSA	31	$1.68 \pm 1.60$	
	Total	31	$22.00 \pm 14.66$	3-66

 Table 2. Descriptive Statistics of the CPMAS and SCARED-C scores

CPMAS = Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale; SCARED-C = Screen for Child Anxiety Related Disorders-Child Version; PD = Panic Disorder; GAD = Generalized Anxiety Disorder; SpD = Separation Anxiety Disorder; SAD = Social Anxiety Disorder; SSA = Significant School Avoidance.

A SCARED-C score of  $\ge 25$  may indicate the presence of an Anxiety Disorder; PD score of  $\ge 7$  may indicate the presence of Panic Disorder; GAD score of  $\ge 9$  may indicate the presence of Generalized Anxiety Disorder; SpD score of  $\ge 5$  may indicate the presence of Separation Anxiety Disorder; SAD score of  $\ge 8$  may indicate the presence of Social Anxiety Disorder; SSA score of  $\ge 3$  may indicate Significant School Avoidance.

# Reliability

The 5-item CPMAS showed strong internal consistency at all three timepoints, with a reliability of .75 or higher. Cronbach's alpha coefficients measured at three time points were 0.89 during preoperative clinic visit (T1), 0.90 on the day of surgery (T2), and 0.75 one month postoperatively (T3). The test-retest reliability for the five-item CPMAS demonstrated moderate stability (ICC = 0.71) across all three visits. CPMAS scores were moderately correlated at T1 and T2 (r = .52, p < 0.01), and at T1 and T3 (r = .47, p < 0.05) (see Table 3). In addition, moderate positive inter-item correlations, ranging from .44 to .72 at T1, .48 to .84 at T2, and .33 to .53 at T3 were found (see Table 4).

		CPMAS at T1	CPMAS at T2	CPMAS at T3
CPMAS				
	CPMAS at T1		.52**	.47**
	CPMAS at T2			.31
SCARED-C				
	SCARED-C at	.35*		
	PD	.34*		
	GAD	.41**		
	SpD	.22		
	SAD	.16		
	SSA	.16		
	SCARED-C at	.16	.46*	
	PD	.07	.55*	
	GAD	.20	.29	
	SpD	.25	.52*	
	SAD	.13	.17	
	SSA	07	.22	
	SCARED-C at	.33	.18	.54*
	PD	.25	.21	.47*
	GAD	.27	.06	.53**
	SpD	.30	.38*	.27
	SAD	.19	09	.36*
	SSA	.26	.09	.34

 Table 3. Correlations of the CPMAS

CPMAS = Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale; SCARED-C = Screen for Child Anxiety Related Disorders-Child Version; PD = Panic Disorder; GAD = Generalized Anxiety Disorder; SpD = Separation Anxiety Disorder; SAD = Social Anxiety Disorder; SSA = Significant School Avoidance. T1 = preoperative visit; T2 = day of surgery; T3 = 1 month after surgery. \* p < .05. \*\* p < .001.

	Item # 2	Item # 3	Item # 4	Item # 5
Preoperative visit				
<i>Item # 1</i>	.674	.496	.614	.659
<i>Item # 2</i>		.720	.613	.688
<i>Item # 3</i>			.437	.541
Item # 4				.654
<i>Item # 5</i>				
Day of surgery				
Item #1	.772	.830	.594	.479
Item # 2		.840	.591	.613
Item # 3			.691	.486
Item # 4				.536
<i>Item # 5</i>				
1 month after (T3)				
Item # 1	.332	.447	N/A	.379
Item # 2		.533	N/A	.505
Item # 3			N/A	.483
Item # 4			N/A	
Item # 5			N/A	

Table 4. Inter-item Correlations of the CPMAS

CPMAS = Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale; Item # 1 =Right now, how worried are you?; Item # 2 =Right now, how scared are you?; Item # 3 =Right now, how nervous are you?; Item # 4 =Right now, I feel scared that this might hurt.; Item # 5 =Right now, I feel worried that something bad might happen.; N/A = Not applicable at this time point.

# **Convergent validity**

The convergent validity of the CPMAS was assessed by comparing the CPMAS with SCARED-C and selected state-related anxiety items from the SCARED-C (i.e., SCARED-C Q7 – nervous & SCARED-C Q33 – worry about future) across all three visits. CPMAS scores moderately correlated with overall SCARED-C scores at all three timepoints: at T1 (r = .35, p < 0.05), at T2 (r = .46, p < 0.05) and at T3 (r = .54, p < 0.05) (see Table 3). Furthermore, the CPMAS was moderately correlated with the following SCARED-C subscales: Panic Disorder (PD) (r = .34, p < 0.05) and General Anxiety Disorder (GAD) (r = .41, p < 0.05) at T1, PD (r = .55, p < 0.01) and SpD (r = .52, p < 0.013) at T2, and PD (r = .47, p < 0.01), GAD (r = .53, p < 0.01), and Social Anxiety Disorder (SAD) (r = .36, p < 0.05) at T3.

Our results also showed that SCARED-C Q7 - nervous correlated with 4 of 5 CPMAS items at T1 (*r*'s ranged from .29 to.71, p < 0.05 to p < 0.01, respectively & T2 (*r*'s ranged from .51 to .69, p < 0.01). SCARED-C Q7 - nervous also correlated to 2 items at T3 (*r*'s ranged from .49 to .58, p < 0.01. Moreover, Q33 - worry about future correlated with all CPMAS items at T1 (*r*'s ranged from .39 to .58, p < 0.01), 1 CPMAS item at T2 (r = .52, p < 0.05) and 2 CPMAS items at T3 (*r*'s ranged from .37 to .44, p <0.05) (see Table 5). The pattern of correlations suggested that various dimensions of anxiety and worry were exhibited at different perioperative periods (e.g., pre-op, day of, and post-operative).

	SCARED-C Q7	SCARED-C Q33
Preoperative visit		
Item # 1	.267	.386**
<i>Item # 2</i>	.539**	.401**
<i>Item # 3</i>	.713**	.415**
<i>Item # 4</i>	.289*	.385**
<i>Item # 5</i>	.362*	.576**
Day of surgery (T2)		
Item #1	.694**	.429
Item # 2	.680**	.308
Item # 3	.554**	.350
Item # 4	.261	.345
<i>Item # 5</i>	.510*	.519*
1 month after (T3)		
Item # 1	.334	.373*
Item # 2	.271	.441*
Item # 3	.492**	.220
Item # 4	N/A	N/A
<i>Item # 5</i>	.575**	.239

 Table 5. Correlations of the CPMAS with SCARED-C Q7 & SCARED-C Q33

CPMAS = Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale; SCARED-C = Screen for Child Anxiety Related Disorders-Child Version; Item # 1 = Right now, how worried are you?; Item # 2 = Right now, how scared are you?; Item # 3 = Right now, how nervous are you?; Item # 4 = Right now, I feel scared that this might hurt.; Item # 5 = Right now, I feel worried that something bad might happen.; N/A = Not applicable at this time point; SCARED-C Q7 = I am nervous; SCARED-C Q33 = I worry about what is going to happen in the future; T1 = preoperative visit; T2 = day of surgery; T3 = 1 month after surgery. \* p < .05. \*\* p < .001. Paired samples *t*-tests revealed no significant differences between the CPMAS mean scores during the two preoperative visits (i.e., T1 and T2). Statistically significant differences of mean CPMAS scores were reported between T1 and T3, t(36)=5.56, p < 0.01, and T2 and T3, t(35) = 7.05, p < 0.01. That CPMAS scores changed over time suggest that it can discriminate between preoperative and postoperative visits.

#### Sensitivity to Change

Our results also suggest that the CPMAS was sensitive to change between preoperative (T1 or T2) and postoperative periods (T3) as demonstrated by their effect sizes. The SRM was 0.214 (small) between T1 and T2, large (-1.17) between T2 and T3 and was also large (-0.91) between T1 and T3.

#### **Sensitivity Analyses**

Sensitivity analyses revealed no significant differences between those who remained in the study and those who did not complete all of the assessments on any baseline characteristics (p > 0.05). Moreover, no significant differences were found between the groups who received preoperative preparation by Child Life Specialist and those who did not on all outcomes (p > 0.05). When children (n = 2) who did not receive preoperative preparation by Child Life Specialists were eliminated from analysis, the CPMAS continued to demonstrate good internal consistency (Cronbach's  $\alpha = 0.80$  or higher, i.e., 0.88 at T1, 0.90 at T2, and 0.75 at T3) and moderately stable (ICC = 0.69) across all three visits. CPMAS scores also remained moderately correlated at T1 and T2 (r = .52, p < 0.01) and at T2 and T3 (r = .47, p < 0.05).

#### Discussion

The objectives of this study were to assess the psychometric properties of the CPMAS in 7-13 years old children undergoing elective surgery and to examine the reliability and validity of CPMAS scale scores in a busy children's hospital setting. The CPMAS scale scores demonstrated good reliability and strong internal consistency and stability. Moderate positive inter-item correlations were also found. However, the tighter clustering of correlations at T2 may be due to the condition of elevated stress/worry/anxiety that is present in the pre-surgical area and the operating room on the day of surgery. It is possible that the T2 visit (day of surgery) is a context in which the anxiety is heightened, resulting in the clustering of items and/or more difficulty for children in distinguishing between items. Furthermore, we specifically selected 2 staterelated items within the Generalized Anxiety Subscale (i.e. Q7-"I am nervous", and also O33- "I worry about what is going to happen in the future") and use them as our outcomes for additional analyses. When using these two state-related items, our results showed that SCARED-C Q7 & Q33 correlated with CPMAS items across all three timepoints. This finding supports the convergent validity of CPMAS using stated-related anxiety items of the SCARED-C.

The 5-item CPMAS showed strong internal consistency at all three timepoints, with a reliability of .75 or higher. Cronbach's alpha coefficients measured at three time points were highest on the day of surgery and during preoperative clinic visit, and lower at one month postoperatively.

Convergent validity was supported by the presence of statistically significant correlations between CPMAS scores and SCARED-C scores at all three assessment

points. Construct validity was also supported and mean scores differed between these preoperative (T1 & T2) and postoperative (T3) periods, suggesting that the CPMAS is sensitive to change in the surgical context. This finding is consistent with clinical experience and previous research which has showed that high anxiety is associated with the anticipation of a stressful situation (e.g., anesthetic induction) (Davidson & McKenzie, 2011). Chorney and Kain reported that more than 40% of children were anxious during anesthetic induction with 17% of these children displaying significant anxiety, and more than 30% actively resisting induction (Chorney & Kain, 2009).

In addition to correlations with total SCARED-C scores, the CPMAS was moderately correlated with a few of the SCARED-C subscale scores across visits. It is important to note that SCARED-C in this study is measuring symptoms of the various anxiety disorders. Interestingly, the CPMAS was consistently correlated with the Panic Disorder subscale across all three visits, with Generalized Anxiety Disorder at T1 and T3, with Separation Anxiety Disorder at T2 and Social Anxiety Disorder at T3. As expected, we found that separation anxiety disorders were common throughout the perioperative process, and it is noteworthy that CPMAS scores correlated with this SCARED-C subscale at T2. This finding complements existing literature that suggests that elevated children's anxiety is present during separation from parents upon entry to the operating room (McCann & Kain, 2001).

Our finding that children scored lower on the CPMAS but relatively high on SCARED-C during all three timepoints suggests that children may be exhibiting high trait anxiety while experiencing lower state anxiety in the perioperative period. This

result may indicate that the CPMAS and SCARED-C tap different aspects of anxiety, but also that future research that examines individual differences in trait anxiety in relation to the susceptibility to state anxiety within various contexts is needed.

#### Limitations

A few limitations should be mentioned that can help guide the future assessment of this measure. It is important to note that this study was the first of its kind to be conducted at this University-affiliated children's hospital. Moreover, while the scale is unique and novel, there were unforeseen challenges such as recruitment and follow-up during the early phases of testing.

In this study, the correlations of the CPMAS between visits were significant but moderate at T1 and T2, and at T1 and T3. This may be due to the fact that the sample size was relatively small particularly at T2 and T3. Other external factors (e.g., at school or at home) may also have affected our findings at T3 (i.e., one month after surgery). For example, the dynamics and interactions of each child with their peers, family, and/or teachers after surgery might vary due to differences in rate of recovery, pain levels and/or medication dosages. Some children may recover faster and find it easier to get back to their normal routines than others who took longer to heal.

According to Anatasi (1988), a correlation of r = .5 to .7 with existing scales is considered acceptable when developing a new scale. In this study, correlations with the SCARED-C were statistically significant, but ranged from r = .35 to .54, p < 0.05. This seemingly lower correlation could be due to attrition at T2 and T3 which reduced the statistical power of our study and may leave it vulnerable to type II error (failure to detect

an effect when it is present). As a result, this study may underestimate the convergent validity of the CPMAS with some of the SCARED-C subscales. Aside from the smaller sample size, these correlations may not be higher because the SCARED-C taps a number of different anxiety-related phenomena, some of which may not change in the perioperative period (e.g., significant school avoidance) or may not relate to the experience of anxiety during this time.

While using a trait-like form such as SCARED-C is a limitation to our study, we conducted further item analyses to examine the relation between state-related items with the CPMAS items. Interestingly, the pattern of correlations from the use of the SCARED-C revealed points of further discussion. The pattern of correlations suggested that there were differential influences on the timing of the perioperative period (e.g., pre-op, day of, and post-operative) that were related differently to anxiety and worry. That is, preoperatively, children seemed to be nervous and worried about the future, while during the day of, children appeared more nervous contemporaneously. Postoperatively, these relations appeared to attenuate. These patterns suggest that the timing and the perioperative context are important in considering children's anxiety as they may differentially influence different features of anxiety. Some other methodological limitations should be noted. First, we included a sample of 7-13 years old children who received elective outpatient surgeries. While these are the most common surgical procedures in children, we excluded more lengthy or extensive surgeries that also include a potential postoperative hospitalization component. Also, these families had similar, relatively non-disadvantaged socioeconomic backgrounds. Therefore, whether the

findings are generalizable to other, less advantaged children and children undergoing repeated and non-elective surgeries is unknown. Second, we cannot be certain that children were able to fully understand differences between the different items. Further exploration on distinguish between items in future study is required. Third, all correlational analyses in this study were conducted without correcting for multiple comparisons. Thus, the possibility of type I error is increased.

# **Future directions**

Given the myriad negative effects associated with perioperative anxiety, it is crucial that proper perioperative care prevention and intervention strategies that aim at reducing perioperative anxiety in children undergoing surgery be developed. This begins with the development of a tool that can quickly and accurately measure perioperative anxiety levels in busy hospital and clinical settings. Several existing scales have been used to assess this construct, yet a number of shortcomings (i.e., observer report, timeconsuming, or lack of specificity for the perioperative setting) limit their use in routine clinical practice and research settings. Therefore, a concise and accessible self-report that avoids these shortcomings is useful. The CPMAS is a simple, brief, reliable and timeefficient instrument that can be used to measure children's perioperative anxiety in busy hospital settings.

While demonstrating reasonable psychometric properties, our findings need to be replicated in a larger sample on children over a wider range of ages, and those who are scheduled to receive different types of surgery. Additional research should focus on

establishing the appropriate cutoff score to differentiate low versus high preoperative anxiety groups and to establish levels at which it predicts clinically significant outcomes.

# Conclusions

This study provides empirical evidence to support the initial reliability and validity of the CPMAS scores in assessing perioperative anxiety in children undergoing elective surgery. Future research is needed to confirm the psychometric properties of the scale in a larger sample. Thus far, our results suggest that the CPMAS has the potential to be a useful and valid tool for the evaluation of anxiety in a surgical setting for children as young as 7 years old. This brief 5-item self-report can easily be utilized to accurately assess perioperative anxiety in routine clinical practice and research settings.

# References

Ahmed, M., Farrell, M., Parrish, K., & Karla, A. (2011). Preoperative anxiety in children risk factors and non-pharmacological management. *Middle East Journal of Anesthesiology*, 21(2), 153–170.

Anastasi, A. (1998). Psychological testing (4th ed.). New York: Macmillan.

Barlow, D. H. (1988). Anxiety and its disorders: The nature and treatment of anxiety and panic. New York: Guilford.

Birmaher, B., Khetarpal, S., Brent, D., Cully, M., Balach, L., Kaufman, J., & Neer, S. M. (1997). The Screen for Child Anxiety Related Emotional Disorders (SCARED): scale construction and psychometric characteristics. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, *36*(4), 545–553. doi:10.1097/00004583-199704000-00018

- Brewer, S., Gleditsch, S. L., Syblik, D., Tietjens, M. E., & Vacik, H. W. (2006). Pediatric anxiety: Child life intervention in day surgery. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 21(1), 13–22. doi:10.1016/j.pedn.2005.06.004
- Bringuier, S., Dadure, C., Raux, O., Dubois, A., Picot, M. C., & Capdevila, X. (2009).
  The perioperative validity of the visual analog anxiety scale in children: a discriminant and useful instrument in routine clinical practice to optimize postoperative pain management. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 109(3), 737-744.
- Caumo, W., Broenstrub, J. C., Fialho, L., Petry, S. M. G., Brathwatt, O., Bandeira, D., ...
  Ferrerira, M. B. (2000). Risk factors for postoperative anxiety in children. *Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica*, 44, 782–789.

- Chorney, J. M., & Kain, Z. N. (2009). Behavioral analysis of children's response to induction of anesthesia. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, *109*(5), 1434–1440.
- Chorpita, B. F., & Barlow, D. H. (1998). The development of anxiety: the role of control in the early environment. *Psychological Bulletin*, *124*(1), 3.

Crandall, M., Lammers, C., Senders, C., Savedra, M., & Braun, J. V. (2007). Initial validation of a numeric zero to ten scale to measure children's state anxiety. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 105(5), 1250-1253.

- Davidson, A., & McKenzie, I. (2011). Distress at induction: prevention and consequences. *Current Opinion in Anaesthesiology*, *24*(3), 301–306.
- Fortier, M. A, Del Rosario, A. M., Martin, S. R., & Kain, Z. N. (2010). Perioperative anxiety in children. *Paediatric Anaesthesia*, 20(4), 318–322.
- Garra, G., Singer, A. J., Domingo, A., & Thode, H. C. (2010). The Wong-Baker pain FACES scale measures pain, not fear. *Pediatric Emergency Care*, 29(1), 17–20.
- Hulley SB, Cummings SR, Browner WS, Grady D, Newman TB. *Designing clinical research: an epidemiologic approach. 4th ed.* Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2013. Appendix 6C, page 79.
- Jenkins, B. N., Fortier, M. A, Kaplan, S. H., Mayes, L. C., & Kain, Z. N. (2014). Development of a short version of the modified Yale Preoperative Anxiety Scale. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 119(3), 643–650.
- Kain, Z. N., Caldwell-Andrews, A. A., Maranets, I., McClain, B., Gaal, D., Mayes, L. C.,... Zhang, H. (2004). Preoperative anxiety and emergence delirium and

postoperative maladaptive behaviors. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 99(6), 1648–1654, table of contents.

- Kain, Z. N., Mayes, L. C., Caldwell-Andrews, A. A., Karas, D. E., & McClain, B. C. (2006). Preoperative anxiety, postoperative pain, and behavioral recovery in young children undergoing surgery. *Pediatrics*, 118(2), 651–658.
- Kain, Z. N., Mayes, L. C., Cicchetti, D. V, Bagnall, A. L., Finley, J. D., & Hofstadter, M.
  B. (1997). The Yale Preoperative Anxiety Scale: How does it compare with a "Gold Standard"? *Pediatric Anesthesia*, 85, 783–788.
- Kain, Z.N., Mayes, L., O'Connor, T., & Cicchetti, D. (1996). Preoperative anxiety in children: Predictors and outcomes. *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, 150, 1238–1245.
- Kain, Z. N., Wang, S. M., Mayes, L. C., Caramico, L. A., & Hofstadter, M. B. (1999).
  Distress during the induction of anesthesia and postoperative behavioral outcomes. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 88(5), 1042–1047.
- La Greca, A. M., & Stone, W. L. (1993). Social anxiety scale for children-revised: Factor structure and concurrent validity. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 22(1), 17-27.
- Litke, J., Pikulska, A., & Wegner, T. (2012). Management of perioperative stress in children and parents . Part I — The preoperative period. *Anesthesiology Intensive Therapy*, 44(3), 165–169.
- Maranets, I., & Kain, Z. N. (1999). Preoperative anxiety and intraoperative anesthetic requirements. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 89(6), 1346-1351.

- McCann, M. E., & Kain, Z. N. (2001). The management of preoperative anxiety in children: An update. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, *93*, 98–105.
- McMurtry, C. M., Riddell, R. P., Taddio, A., Racine, N., Asmundson, G. J., Noel, M., ...
  & Team, H. A. (2015). Far from "just a poke": common painful needle procedures and the development of needle fear. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, *31*, S3-S11.
- Papay, J. P., & Hedl, J. J. (1978). Psychometric characteristics and norms for disadvantaged third and fourth grade children in the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Children. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 6, 115–120.
- Perry, J. N., Hooper, V.D., & Masiongale, J. (2012). Reduction of preoperative anxiety in pediatric surgery patients using age-appropriate teaching interventions. *Journal of Perianesthesia Nursing : Official Journal of the American Society of PeriAnesthesia Nurses / American Society of PeriAnesthesia Nurses*, 27(2), 69–81.
- Reynolds, C. R., & Richmond, B. O. (1978). What I think and feel: A revised measure of children's manifest anxiety. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 6(2), 271-280.
- Silverman, W. K., La Greca, A. M., & Wasserstein, S. (1995). What Do Children Worry about? Worries and Their Relation to Anxiety. *Child Development*, *66*(3), 671–686.
- Spielberger, C.D., Edwards, C.D., Lushene, R., Monturoi, J., Platzek, D. (1973). State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Children: Sampler Set: Manual, Test Booklet, Scoring Key. Mind Garden Inc., Palo Alto. CA.
- Stratford, P. W., & Riddle, D. L. (2005). Assessing sensitivity to change: choosing the appropriate change coefficient. *Health Qual Life Outcomes*, *3*(1), 23-29.

- Wewers, M. E., & Lowe, N. K. (1990). A critical review of visual analogue scales in the measurement of clinical phenomena. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 13(4), 227– 236.
- Wollin, S. R., Plummer, J. L., Owen, H., Hawkins, R. M. ., Materazzo, F., & Morrison,
  V. (2004). Anxiety in children having elective surgery. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, *19*(2), 128–132.
- Wong, D. L. & Baker, C. M. (1988) Pain in children: comparison of assessment scales. *Pediatric Nursing*, 14 (1), 9–17.
- Wright, K. D., Eisner, A., Stewart, S. H., & Finley, G. A. (2010). Measurement of Preoperative Anxiety in young children: Self-report versus observer-rated. *Journal* of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment, 32(3), 416–427.

#### **CHAPTER FOUR**

# **STUDY 3**

**TITLE:** A Pilot Study of A Tablet-based Intervention for Reducing Children's Preoperative Anxiety

**AUTHORS:** Cheryl H. T. Chow, MS; Ryan J. Van Lieshout, MD, PHD; Louis A. Schmidt, PHD; Norman Buckley, MD

**CONTEXT AND IMPLICATIONS OF THIS STUDY:** The findings of the systematic review and meta-analysis outlined in the first study revealed that existing approaches to reducing children's preoperative anxiety may be prohibitively complex and/or costly, and prompted an area of research for simple and affordable AV interventions. Accordingly, a customizable, multi-sensory interactive tablet-based virtual reality application, Story-Telling Medicine (STM), was developed to prepare children for complex perioperative and surgical procedures. Prior to conducting a full-scale RCT, I conducted this 3-wave pilot study to examine the feasibility and acceptability of this newly developed STM intervention.

There is a relative paucity of research evaluating the effects of a customizable tablet-based intervention in reducing preoperative anxiety in children undergoing surgery. This is the first study to demonstrate the feasibility and potential effectiveness of a tabletbased application and the results support the conduct of a full-scale RCT to test its effectiveness in reducing preoperative anxiety in children.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was supported by an Ontario Graduate Scholarship (OGS) Daley Fellowship awarded to Cheryl HT Chow and grants from the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada (SSHRC), the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC), and the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) awarded to Louis A Schmidt. I want to thank the many children and family who participated in the study, Mark Hwang, Pauline Leung, Nadine Nejati, Eliza Pope, and Stephanie Wan who assisted with data collection and data entry, Ali Shazada and Luis Michaelangeli for Story-telling Medicine program development and the Child Life Specialists and Program and the McMaster Children's Hospital.

# CONFLICTS OF INTEREST: None

**SUBMITTED TO:** Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics, 2016.

# Abstract

The objectives of this study were to examine the feasibility and acceptability of a novel tablet-based application, Story-Telling Medicine (STM), to help reduce children's preoperative anxiety. Children (N=100) aged 7-13 years who were undergoing outpatient surgery were recruited from a local children's hospital. This study comprised 3 waves: Waves 1 (n=30) and 2 (n=30) examined feasibility, and Wave 3 (n=40) examined the acceptability of STM and compared its effect on preoperative anxiety to Usual Care (UC). In Wave 3, children were randomly allocated to receive STM+UC or UC. Change in preoperative anxiety was measured using the Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale (CPMAS) one week before surgery (T1), on the day of surgery (T2), and one month postoperatively (T3). The results demonstrated the feasibility of participant recruitment and data collection procedures in Wave 1, but identified challenges with attrition at T2 and T3. Wave 2 piloted a modified protocol that addressed attrition and increased the feasibility of follow-ups. In Wave 3, children in the STM+UC demonstrated greater reductions in CPMAS compared to the UC group  $[\Delta M=119.90, SE=46.36, t(27)=2.59, p=0.015; 95\% CI = 24.78-215.02]$ . In conclusion, this pilot study provides preliminary evidence that STM is a feasible intervention for children's preoperative anxiety in a busy pediatric operative setting, supporting the conducting of a full scale RCT.

### Introduction

Preoperative anxiety affects up to 5 million children in North America each year (Perry, Hooper, & Masiongale, 2012) and is associated with adverse outcomes for children, families, and the healthcare system (Fortier, Del Rosario, Martin, & Kain, 2010; Kain et al., 2004; Kain, Mayes, Caldwell-Andrews, Karas, & McClain, 2006; Kain, Mayes, O'Connor, & Cicchetti, 1996; Kain, Wang, Mayes, Caramico, & Hofstadter, 1999; Litke, Pikulska, & Wegner, 2012; McCann & Kain, 2001). Children with preoperative anxiety are 3.5 times more likely to experience separation anxiety and fear of physicians and future medical procedures (Litke et al., 2012; McCann & Kain, 2001). These can have both short- and long-term effects on a child's growth, development, and health that include feeding problems, insomnia, and post-traumatic stress disorder (American Psychiatric Association, 2013; Long, & Rajagopalan, 2002; McCann & Kain, 2001).

Aside from emotional distress, these children require more intraoperative anesthesia (Maranets & Kain, 1999), higher analgesic doses, and experience delays in entry to operating rooms, as well as prolonged stays in recovery areas (Davidson & McKenzie, 2011; Kain et al., 1996; Kain et al., 1999; Litke et al., 2012). Overall, preoperative anxiety can significantly increase healthcare burden and costs.

Given these adverse effects, clinicians and researchers have attempted to apply a variety of interventions aimed at reducing the prevalence, severity, and impact of preoperative anxiety in youth. These include the use of preoperative sedative medications (e.g., benzodiazepines) and psychosocial preparation programs (Brewer, Gleditsch,
Syblik, Tietjens & Vacik, 2006; Sinha et al., 2012; Tunney & Boore, 2013; Yip, Middleton, Cyna & Carlyle, 2009). Unfortunately, these interventions are not always readily accessible, can be time-intensive, or are associated with undesirable side effects and high costs.

A recent systematic review suggests that audiovisual (AV) interventions such as videos and multi-faceted programs are evidence-based for the reduction of preoperative anxiety, though existing solutions may be prohibitively complex or costly. In general, these AV tools are shown to be effective in reducing children's preoperative anxiety either independently or adjunctively to standard of care practice. The review highlighted the need to develop simple and affordable AV treatments to be tested in RCTs. Ideally, these AV treatments should be readily accessible, interactive, and be developmentally appropriate in the form of peer-modelling (Chow, Van Lieshout, Schmidt, Dobson, & Buckley, 2016). Accordingly, we developed an inexpensive, customizable, interactive tablet-based application: Story-Telling Medicine (STM), designed to prepare children for complex perioperative and surgical procedures. STM is an age-appropriate psychoeducational application that simulates the children's hospital environment by guiding children through the various hospital settings they will encounter prior to surgery. To date, no study has examined the impact of a customized tablet-based intervention for preoperative anxiety. Therefore, the first step in evaluating the potential effects of STM intervention was to assess the feasibility of the methodology and the acceptability of this newly developed intervention.

This pilot study consisted of three Waves and had three objectives: i) to assess recruitment potential (i.e., recruitment and retention rates) in a busy pediatric operative setting, testing and modifying the study protocol in Waves 1 and 2; ii) to assess the size of the intervention effect in Wave 3; and iii) to assess the acceptability (i.e., the ease of use on the day of surgery and at home) of the STM intervention in Wave 3.

# Method

# Setting

This pilot study took place at the McMaster Children's Hospital located in Hamilton, Ontario, Canada. The Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board's approval was obtained.

#### Sample Size

A minimum of 12 participants per group is required when conducting a pilot study for a clinical trial (Julios, 2005). To account for attrition at follow-up assessments, a total of 100 children were recruited in this pilot study.

#### **Inclusion criteria**

Children between the ages of 7-13 who were scheduled to receive any outpatient elective surgery (i.e. tonsillectomy, herniorrhaphy) within the following 7-14 days and who had access to the internet at home were eligible for the study. Children who were receiving major surgery generally requiring post-operative hospitalization, non-surgical procedures (e.g., colonoscopy, MRI scans), or with known neurodevelopmental or psychiatric disorders (e.g., diagnosed depressive, anxiety, or psychotic disorders, intellectual disability, autism, visual and/or hearing impairments) were excluded from the

study. Families who refused or were unable to provide assent and consent due to language barriers (i.e., non-English speaking participants) were ineligible to participate.

# **Participant Recruitment**

In Wave 1, 30 children were recruited to examine the feasibility of the study protocol as described above. In this wave, we observed that most children did not return in person to the hospital clinic for postoperative follow-up visits. The study protocol was therefore modified in Wave 2 by administering the questionnaires over the telephone rather than in person at T3. In Wave 2, another 30 children were recruited to assess the feasibility of this modified protocol. In Wave 3, the protocol was further modified by utilizing appointment reminders and administering the questionnaires over the telephone at T3. In this wave, 40 children were recruited to examine the acceptability of STM and its uptake and compared its effect on anxiety to Usual Care (UC). Children in Wave 3 were also randomly allocated to receive either STM+UC (n= 20) or UC only (n= 20) at T1.

Study enrollment for the three waves took place between October 2013 and March, 2015.

#### Procedure

The data collection occurred across three time points: preoperative clinic appointment (Time 1), on the day of surgery (Time 2) and 1 month after surgery (Time 3). All children meeting inclusion criteria were approached at Time 1 and invited to participate in the study. After obtaining consent and assent, the child completed the Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale (CPMAS; (CPMAS; Chow,

Van Lieshout, Buckley, & Schmidt, 2016). Demographic information (e.g., child sex and age, previous hospitalizations, parental sex and age) were also collected from parents at this time.

On the day of surgery, the child and families were greeted upon admission. The child completed the CPMAS in the holding area outside of the operating room at Time 2. Children and families were then followed up either in person (in Wave 1) or via telephone (in Waves 2 and 3) at Time 3.

# Interventions

**Usual care (UC)**. As part of UC at the McMaster Children's Hospital, children received preoperative preparation by a Child life specialist, a pediatric nurse, and an anesthesiologist at T1, and received Parental Presence during the anesthetic induction at T2. The Child life specialist prepared children and families by providing information about the day of surgery and teaching them basic coping skills through play activities.

**Story-Telling Medicine Intervention (STM)**. The development of STM application was done in collaboration across multiple disciplines which included the Department of Anesthesia, Department of Psychology, Behavior and Neuroscience, Department of Engineering Entrepreneurship & Innovation, and Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Neurosciences at McMaster University. Photographs of relevant children's hospital settings (e.g., preoperative area, holding area and operating room etc.) were captured and illustrated in a 3-dimensional cartoon format in STM. An age-appropriate raccoon character narrates and walks through the entire preoperative procedure with the child. At the end of the program, children were asked to click on

relevant medical equipment and learned about their purposes and functions (see to Appendix I for selected scenes). Children in STM group were given an individual access code at T1 to use the STM application as frequently as desired at home. To facilitate access, families received a direct link to access the STM via email 7 days prior to surgery. Children were also given a tablet to access STM application 2 hours prior to surgery at T2. All children in the STM group also received UC as described above. **Measures** 

**Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale.** (CPMAS; Chow, Van Lieshout, Buckley, & Schmidt, 2016). The CPMAS is a recently developed and validated self-report scale designed to measure children's anxiety within the surgical context. It has 5 items, to which the child responds on a visual analog scale that ranges from 0 to 100. The CPMAS was found to have strong internal consistency (Cronbach's  $\alpha$ > 0.89) and good test-retest reliability (Intraclass Correlation Coefficient = 0.71). A sample question from the CPMAS includes: "Right now, how worried are you?" [0 = not at all worried & 100 = very worried]. Children's anxiety was assessed at all 3 time points.

### **Statistical analysis**

To address study objective (i), recruitment and feasibility were assessed using the percentage of eligible children who were enrolled and retained in the study. Descriptive analyses were used to summarize the baseline characteristics of the children and families in this pilot study.

Baseline participant characteristics (i.e., age, gender, surgery type, previous hospitalization, Child life specialist preparation) in intervention and UC groups were compared using a series of Chi-square tests and independent sample *t*-tests to ensure that randomization yielded comparable groups.

To address objective (ii), the size of the intervention effect on children's preoperative anxiety was evaluated. Quantitative data were analyzed using independent samples *t*-test to examine group difference in the mean change of CPMAS scores and reported as 95% CI. Effect size was determined using Cohen's *d*. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05.

To address objective (iii), the intervention acceptability was assessed using the percentage of participants that used STM both at home and on the day of surgery. An online tracking system was used to track the number of STM log-ins at home.

# Results

Table 1 depicts the demographic characteristics of children and families in the

pilot study.

**Table 1.** Demographic Characteristics of Children and Family (N=100).

	Characteristics				
		Wave 1	Wave 2	Wave 3	Wave 3
		(n=30)	(n=30)	(UC) (n	(STM+UC)
Children					
	Gender, n (Boys/Girls)	20/10	19/11	11/9	10/10
	Age, $M \pm SD$	$9.53 \pm$	$10.50 \pm$	$9.15 \pm$	$9.15\pm2.01$
	Child life specialist, <i>n</i> (Yes/No)	28/2	30/0	20/0	20/0
	Previous Hospitalization, <i>n</i> (Yes/No)	3/27	2/28	4/16	5/15
Parents					
	Mother/Father/Other, n	21/7/2	23/6/1	15/4/11	17/3/0
	Age, $M \pm SD$	$39.50 \pm$	40.68	$41.28 \pm$	$38.17\pm7.00$

M = Mean; SD = Standard Deviation.

# **Objective (i): Feasibility**

In Wave 1, participant recruitment and data collection procedures were shown to be feasible at T1. However, low study retention was identified at T2 (19/30, 63.3%), mainly due to unforeseen challenges (e.g., surgery scheduling changes or lack of communication between hospital and research staff) and at T3 (6/30, 20%) due to the fact that most children did not return in person to the clinic for follow-up.

The protocol was modified in Wave 2 by improving communication between staff and by administering the questionnaires over the telephone rather than in person at T3. In response to this modification, of the 30 participants at T1, increased retention was observed at T2 (23/30, 77%) and at T3 (16/30, 53.3%).

In Wave 3, the protocol was further modified by utilizing appointment reminders and administering the questionnaires over the telephone at T3 to further increase retention. In Wave 3, of the 40 participants at T1, the retention rate improved at T2 (35/40, 87.5%) and at T3 (29/40, 72.5%) relative to Waves 1 and 2. CPMAS were completed at each time point in all participants who remained in this study and were not lost to follow-up. Table 2 shows the descriptive statistics of CPMAS scores in the pilot study.

Figure 1 depicts the Wave 3 flow and randomization process.

	Anxiety Scores	Ν	$M \pm SD$	Range
CPMAS				
	Preoperative visit (T1)			
	Wave 1	30	$167.57 \pm 137.89$	10-500
	Wave 2	30	$129.00 \pm 121.61$	0-450
	Wave 3	40	$188.13 \pm 140.25$	0-440
	Day of surgery (T2)			
	Wave 1	19	$168.95 \pm 137.23$	0-420
	Wave 2	23	$176.52 \pm 137.96$	0-500
	Wave 3	35	231.57 ± 153.16	0-500
	1 month after surgery (T3)			
	Wave 1	6	$18.33\pm29.94$	0-70
	Wave 2	16	$66.25\pm84.21$	0-230
	Wave 3	29	$28.28 \pm 52.65$	0-169

**Table 2.** Descriptive Statistics of the CPMAS scores (N=100).

M = Mean; SD = Standard Deviation.



postoperatively.

Figure 1. CONSORT flow diagram of study screening, enrollment, randomization and follow-up for Wave 3 (Egger, Jüni & Bartlett, 2001).

# **Objective (ii): Size of Potential Intervention Effect**

An independent-samples *t*-test revealed a statistically significant group difference in the mean change in CPMAS scores from T1 to T3 for STM+UC compared to UC alone [ $\Delta$ M = 119.90, SE = 46.36, *t*(27) = 2.59, *p* = 0.015; 95% CI = 24.78-215.02] (Figure 2). Large between-group effect size was observed for change in CPMAS scores from T1 to T3 (*d* = 0.96).



CPMAS = Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale; UC = Usual Care; STM+UC = Story-telling Medicine + Usual Care.

Figure 2. Mean (SD) differences on change in CPMAS scores between the STM+UC and UC alone groups (p < 0.05).

Importantly, no significant differences in baseline characteristics were found between the two groups in Wave 3 (p > 0.05).

# **Objective (iii): Acceptability**

Of the 20 families who declined participation, the majority of them (18/20) were not interested in participating in a research study, 2 families claimed they were too busy during the perioperative periods.

Most children (18/20, 90%) in the STM+UC group used the STM intervention on the day of surgery and about half of the children (11/20, 55%) accessed the STM at home. Of those 18 children, two children used STM more than once, up to 4 times, at home prior to surgery.

#### Discussion

In this 3-Wave pilot study, we examined the feasibility and acceptability of a newly developed, tablet-based STM intervention with the goal of refining the study protocol to prepare for a larger, full-scale RCT. The findings provide preliminary evidence that participant recruitment, retention, and data collection procedures were feasible within the specified period and at the desired follow-up intervals. Although, we encountered some initial challenges with following up with children and families in Waves 1 and 2, our team was able to identify the major factors contributing to those challenges and modify the protocol appropriately. We also demonstrated that the STM intervention was feasible to deliver on the day of surgery. Moreover, reductions in anxiety were greater in children in the STM+UC than UC group alone. This study also

provides an effect size to help power the planned large scale study, and showed that the size of the effect of the STM intervention further justified the conduct of that study.

With respect to the acceptability of STM, the majority of children in the STM+UC group received the STM intervention on the day of surgery. This showed that STM can be delivered without interfering with normal hospital routines and/or clinical flow and could potentially serve as an adjunctive therapy to usual care given its ease of use. However, only about half of the children had accessed the STM at home. The reason may be that children in this age group cannot access the internet on their own and need to rely on their parents to do so. Interestingly, a couple of children who used STM at home had accessed it more than once. In order to increase at-home STM compliance, future studies might consider lending children and families pre-loaded tablets, and/or sending reminders (e.g., via email or text or call) with direct links to both parents and children to access and use STM. It might also be worthwhile to further investigate the barriers to STM usage prior to surgery, to examine the frequency and duration of the STM usage (e.g., using average time spent per session and total time spent on STM), and to determine the optimal dosage of STM in a future RCT.

Due to the high prevalence and significant negative impact of preoperative anxiety on children undergoing surgery, the search for a simple, affordable and novel treatment in reducing preoperative anxiety continues. Based on extant evidence and the theoretical model postulated by Chow et al. (2016), an age-appropriate and interactive AV intervention with peer-modeling would likely be an optimal solution. Furthermore, it has been suggested that future preoperative preparation programs should be tailored to

the needs of each individual child (e.g., the child's age and the timing of the preparation relative to surgery), be made accessible to all and be low in cost (Fortier & Kain, 2015; Kain, Caldwell-Andrews, & Wang, 2002).

The components of STM seem to have incorporated these important recommendations and considerations. It can be customized to suit virtually any age, procedure, and surgical setting. In addition to providing a virtual hospital tour, STM also utilizes psychoeducational techniques such as active distraction, peer-modelling, and learning. This prior rehearsal allows for children and families to develop proper strategies to cope with the uncertainty associated with the impending hospital experience (Chow et al., 2016).

#### Limitations

Several limitations should be considered when interpreting the findings of our results. First, the results are based on a relatively small and specific sample. This is a unique medical sample with children aged 7-13 undergoing elective surgeries. One of the objectives of this pilot study was to identify and address issues with recruitment and follow-up with children and families on the day of surgery. Second, the findings are based on subjective reports. Although we used the validated CPMAS, this self-report measure can be inherently biased. Future studies should include a larger sample and use objective measures of child behaviors within the surgical settings.

#### **Future direction**

Given the findings reported here, future research should continue to test the impact of STM, both behaviorally and physiologically, in an adequately powered RCT to

determine if this cost-effective, transferable, and reusable tool can reduce perioperative anxiety, as well as its associated suffering and health care costs.

Unlike existing AV interventions, this customizable STM program provides a simulated hospital environment that can not only educate, but also increase children's coping abilities to better prepare them for surgery. In addition to reducing children's preoperative anxiety, it could also play an important role in moderating parental anxiety by preparing parents with a knowledge tool to support their child throughout the surgical process.

# Conclusion

There is a relative paucity of research evaluating the effects of a customizable tablet-based intervention in reducing preoperative anxiety in children undergoing surgery. This is the first study to demonstrate the feasibility and potential effectiveness of such an intervention and supports the conduct of a full-scale study of STM to test its effectiveness in reducing preoperative anxiety in children.

# References

- American Psychiatric Association. (2013) *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders*, (5th ed.). Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association Publishing
- Brewer, S., Gleditsch, S. L., Syblik, D., Tietjens, M. E., & Vacik, H. W. (2006). Pediatric anxiety: child life intervention in day surgery. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 21(1), 13 -22.
- Chow, C. H., Van Lieshout, R. J., Buckley, N., & Schmidt, L. A. (2016). Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale (CPMAS): Development and validation. *Psychological Assessment*, 28(9), 1101-1109.
- Chow, C., Van Lieshout, R. J., Schmidt, L. A., Dobson, K. G., & Buckley, N. (2016).
  Systematic Review: Audiovisual interventions for reducing preoperative anxiety in children undergoing elective surgery. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *41*(2), 182-203
- Davidson, A., & McKenzie, I. (2011). Distress at induction: prevention and consequences. *Current Opinion in Anaesthesiology*, 24(3), 301-306.
- Fortier, M. A., Del Rosario, A. M., Martin, S. R., & Kain, Z. N. (2010). Perioperative anxiety in children. *Paediatric Anaesthesia*, 20(4), 318 -22.
- Fortier, M. A., & Kain, Z. N. (2015). Treating perioperative anxiety and pain in children: a tailored and innovative approach. *Pediatric Anesthesia*, 25(1), 27-35.
- Julious, S. A. (2005). Sample size of 12 per group rule of thumb for a pilot study. *Pharmaceutical Statistics*, *4*(4), 287-291.
- Kain, Z. N., Caldwell-Andrews, A., Maranets, I., McClain, B., Gaal, D., Mayes, L. C.,

Zhang, H. (2004). Preoperative anxiety and emergence delirium and postoperative maladaptive behaviors. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, *99*(6), 1648 -54.

- Kain, Z. N., Caldwell-Andrews, A., & Wang, S. M. (2002). Psychological preparation of the parent and pediatric surgical patient. *Anesthesiology Clinics of North America*, 20(1), 29-44.
- Kain, Z. N., Mayes, L. C., Caldwell-Andrews, A., Karas, D. E., & McClain, B. C. (2006).
  Preoperative anxiety, postoperative pain, and behavioral recovery in young children undergoing surgery. *Pediatrics*, *118*(2), 651 -658.
- Kain, Z. N., Mayes, L. C., O'Connor, T., & Cicchetti, D. V. (1996). Preoperative anxiety in children. Predictors and outcomes. *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, 150, 1238 -1245.
- Kain, Z. N., Wang, S. M., Mayes, L. C., Caramico, L., & Hofstadter, M. B. (1999).
  Distress during the induction of anesthesia and postoperative behavioral outcomes. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 88(5), 1042 -1047.
- Litke, J., Pikulska, A., & Wegner, T. (2012). Management of perioperative stress in children and parents . Part I: The preoperative period. *Anaesthesiology Intensive Therapy*, 44(3), 165 -169.
- Long, E. O., & Rajagopalan, S. (2002). Stress signals activate natural killer cells. *Journal* of Experimental Medicine, 196(11), 1399 -1402.
- Maranets, I., & Kain, Z. N. (1999). Preoperative anxiety and intraoperative anesthetic requirements. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 89(6), 1346-1351.

McCann, E. M., & Kain, Z. N. (2001). The management of preoperative anxiety in

children: An update. Anesthesia & Analgesia, 93(1), 98 -105.

- Perry, J. N., Hooper, V., & Masiongale, J. (2012). Reduction of preoperative anxiety in pediatric surgery patients using age-appropriate teaching interventions. *Journal of the American Society of PeriAnesthesia Nurses*, 27(2), 69-81.
- Sinha, C., Kaur, M., Kumar, A., Kulkarni, A., Ambareesha, M., & Upadya, M. (2012).
  Comparative evaluation of midazolam and butorphanol as oral premedication in pediatric patients. *Journal of Anaesthesiology, Clinical Pharmacology, 28*(1), 32 35.
- Tunney, A. M., & Boore, J. (2013). The effectiveness of a storybook in lessening anxiety in children undergoing tonsillectomy and adenoidectomy in Northern Ireland. *Issues in Comprehensive Pediatric Nursing*, 36(4), 319 -335.
- Yip, P., Middleton, P., Cyna, A., & Carlyle, A. (2009). Non-pharmacological interventions for assisting the induction of anaesthesia in children. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2009(3), 1–62.

## **CHAPTER FIVE**

# **STUDY 4**

**TITLE:** Children's shyness and sociability in a surgical setting: A preliminary investigation

**AUTHORS:** Cheryl H. T. Chow, MS; Nadine Nejati, BSc; Ryan J. Van Lieshout, MD, PHD; Norman Buckley, MD; Louis A. Schmidt, PHD

**CONTEXT AND IMPLICATIONS OF THIS STUDY:** The cumulative findings of the systematic review and pilot study suggested that there were variations in children's stress response (as indexed by the CPMAS) in the surgical setting. This Study 4 was conducted to further examine the role of individual differences in temperament and its relation to preoperative anxiety in children undergoing surgery. In particular, I chose to examine the contribution of shyness and sociability to children's anxiety in surgical settings.

This study allowed me to revisit person x context interactions on behavior in a stressful, non-normative context, the surgical setting. It also demonstrated the importance of considering other contexts to enhance reliable prediction of behavior, fully understand individual differences and person x context interactions, and to reproduce findings. The findings also highlight the need to consider individual differences in temperament when preparing children for surgery and to identify who may or may not be at risk for heightened preoperative anxiety. Such knowledge would be valuable in developing "precision medicine" for managing children's preoperative anxiety.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was supported by an Ontario Graduate Scholarship (OGS) Daley Fellowship awarded to Cheryl HT Chow and grants from the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada (SSHRC), the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC), and the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) awarded to Louis A Schmidt. I want to thank the many children and family who participated in the study, Mark Hwang, Pauline Leung, Eliza Pope, and Stephanie Wan who assisted with data collection and data entry, and the Child life specialists and Program and the McMaster Children's Hospital.

# CONFLICTS OF INTEREST: None

SUBMITTED TO: Clinical Pediatrics, 2016.

# Abstract

The objective of this study was to examine the relation between temperament and preoperative anxiety in 40 children (aged 8-13) who were undergoing elective surgery one week prior to surgery (T1) and the day of surgery (T2). We predicted that temperamentally shy children would exhibit more preoperative anxiety, and temperamentally social children would exhibit less preoperative anxiety in the surgical context. We found, unexpectedly, temperamental shyness predicted lower preoperative anxiety at T1 ( $\beta$  = -.32; *p* = .044), while temperamental sociability predicted higher preoperative anxiety at T1 ( $\beta$  = .34; *p* = .030) and T2 ( $\beta$  = .36; *p* = .034). Preliminary findings are discussed in terms of their theoretical and practical implications for understanding person X context interactions and managing children's preoperative anxiety.

# Introduction

The psychological sciences have come under considerable scrutiny recently for the lack of reproducibility of empirical findings (Lindsay, 2015). In a recent opinion article published in the New York Times, Barrett (2015) proposed that the main reason for failures to replicate study results in psychology experiments was the failure to consider context. Barrett suggested that this non-reproducibility of results as a typical path of scientific discovery and also stressed the importance of explaining the phenomenon under study based on context.

In personality science, the consideration of context for reliably predicting behavior has been a central theme for decades. Allport (1937) argued that individuals exhibit different and unique behavioral patterns across contexts. Lewin (1951) articulated a more systematic account of the person x context interaction. According to Lewin, human behavior (B) was a function of the person's disposition (P) and the context or situation (S), expressed as B = f(P,S). These three variables formed the "personality triad" (Funder, 2006). Accordingly, people vary their behaviors across contexts, but maintain their individual differences at the same time (Funder, Guillaume, Kumagai, Kawamoto, & Sato, 2012).

One personality style that has been examined across different contexts is shyness. Shyness reflects an anxious pre-occupation of the self in response to real or imagined social situations (Melchoir & Cheek, 1990). Although shyness is a ubiquitous phenomenon that most people experience at some point in their lives (Zimbardo, 1977),

some people are characterized by temperamental shyness, an early developing and stable form of shyness observed across time and context (see Schmidt & Buss, 2010).

Temperamental shyness by context interactions have been widely studied in children. Kagan and his colleagues have described children who exhibit fear and wariness to unfamiliarity as temperamentally shy (Kagan, Reznick, & Snidman, 1988). Kagan's group found that temperamentally shy children displayed similar anxious behaviors across two laboratory visits but when comparing scores between the two contexts (i.e., laboratory and home), anxious behavior scores were not correlated, highlighting the impact of contextual factors on the manifestation of anxious behavior (Garcia-Coll, Kagan, & Reznick, 1984).

In other studies of children, Rubin and colleagues (1997) showed that there was a subset of temperamentally shy children who behaved consistently across social and nonsocial laboratory contexts, leading his group to conclude "some of the [temperamentally shy] children, all of the time". Coplan and his colleagues (Coplan, DeBow, Schneider, & Graham, 2009), more recently, reported that temperamentally shy children exhibited similar social behaviors inside and outside of school. Temperamentally shy children displayed more reticent (on looking, unoccupied) and anxious behaviors during free play preschool, participated less in structured social activities outside of school, and were more likely to engage in dyadic play at home with a single friend than nonshy children. Overall, the extant studies suggest that temperamental shyness in children is consistent across time and situation (Coplan et al.,

2009; Rubin, Hastings, Stewart, Henderson, & Chen, 1997) but may also vary between some normative contexts (Garcia-Coll et al., 1984).

One outstanding question is whether the behaviors of temperamentally shy children in normative contexts would generalize to a non-normative context. Extant studies have been conducted largely in familiar (e.g., the home) and everyday normative environments (e.g., school) and/or the laboratory with familiar adults and settings. Accordingly, we do not know whether the anxious behaviors observed in temperamentally shy children in these contexts would generalize to non-normative stressful contexts. In order to fully establish whether temperamental shyness is a personality trait that is context specific and/or sensitive to context, it is of importance to examine the phenomenon in other contexts to enhance prediction of behavior and ultimately reproducibility of findings.

Here we conducted a preliminary investigation using the preoperative surgical environment as a non-normative stressful context in relation to individual differences in temperament. Surgery is arguably one of the most stress inducing life events (see Chow, Van Lieshout, Schmidt, Dobson, & Buckley, 2016, for a review). We examined whether the relation between children's temperamental shyness and anxiety observed in other familiar and unfamiliar normative contexts would generalize to a novel non-normative surgical context.

We collected measures of anxiety during the preoperative periods (i.e., at a preoperative clinic visit to the hospital prior to surgery and on the day of surgery) in children who were undergoing elective surgical procedures and who were classified as

temperamentally shy. As well, because shyness and sociability are known to be conceptually and empirically orthogonal traits in children and adults (see Cheek & Buss, 1981; Schmidt & Buss, 2010, for reviews), we also examined these relations in children who were temperamentally social to see if the effects were specific to shyness. We predicted that temperamentally shy children would exhibit more preoperative anxiety, and temperamentally social children would exhibit less preoperative anxiety in the surgical context.

These predictions were based on findings from the extant literature that have examined links between shyness and anxiety in children, both inside and outside of the surgical contexts. For example, Kain and colleagues (2000) found children who received lower ratings of sociability exhibited increased preoperative anxiety in the preoperative holding area. Other studies that have examined the relation between shyness and anxiety in non-surgical contexts have also demonstrated similar results to the preoperative setting. For example, Kagan and his group (1987) found that shy or inhibited children tend to become more anxious in unfamiliar social and nonsocial settings. Moreover, Schmidt and colleagues (1997) found that shy children displayed relatively high levels of morning salivary cortisol levels (a measure of stress reactivity) prior to any social interactions.

# Method

# **Participants**

Forty children (21 boys, 19 girls,  $M_{age} = 9.19$  years, age range: 7.15-11.23 [boys] and  $M_{age} = 9.11$  years, age range: 7.26-10.96 [girls]) and their parents were included in

this study. They were recruited during the child's preoperative clinic visit, occurring an average of 11 days (M = 10.86, SD = 10.28) before surgery. The mean age of children's parents was  $M_{age} = 41.00$  (SD = 7.21) for boys, and  $M_{age} = 38.44$  (SD = 8.99) for girls. Recruitment was limited to elective outpatient otolaryngologic (Ear-Nose-Throat [ENT]) surgical procedures (i.e., tonsillectomy and adenoidectomy etc.) at the McMaster's Children's Hospital located in Hamilton, Ontario, Canada. Children diagnosed with significant neurodevelopmental disorders (e.g., organic brain disorders, visual and/or hearing impairments etc), and families who were unable to provide assent and consent due to language barriers were not eligible for participation.

### Measures

**Colorado Child Temperament Inventory** (CCTI; Rowe and Plomin, 1977). The CCTI is a 30 item questionnaire that uses parent-reports to assess temperament using a Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). The scale measures temperament on six dimensions: shyness, sociability, emotionality, activity, attention-span persistence, and soothability. The majority of the CCTI temperament measures were completed by mothers (80%). The remainder were provided by fathers (17.5%) or other guardians (2.5%). Of particular interest to this study were the subscales measuring shyness [(e.g., "Child finds people more stimulating than anything else" (reversed scored)]) and sociability (e.g., "Child is very sociable"). The CCTI shyness and sociability subscales had good internal consistency in the present study (Cronbach's  $\alpha = 0.67$  and  $\alpha = 0.77$ , respectively). The correlation between shyness and sociability was r = -.46, p < .01, suggesting, as predicted, that the two were inversely related

constructs. Given that temperament is a stable characteristic (Buss and Plomin, 2014), children's temperament was assessed only during their preoperative clinic visit (T1) in order to reduce participant burden during the day of surgery.

#### Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale (CPMAS; Chow,

Van Lieshout, Buckley, & Schmidt, 2016). The CPMAS is a recently developed and validated self-report scale designed to measure children's state anxiety within a surgical context. It has 5 items, to which the child responds on a visual analog scale that ranges from 0 to 100. The CPMAS was found to have strong internal consistency (Cronbach's  $\alpha$  > 0.89), and good test-retest reliability (Intraclass Correlation Coefficient = 0.71). A sample question from the CPMAS includes: "Right now, how worried are you?" 0 = (not at all worried) & 100 = (very worried). Children's anxiety was assessed at two timepoints: preoperatively, approximately 1 week prior to surgery (T1), and immediately before surgery (T2). CPMAS anxiety scores were stable between T1 and T2 (r = .66, p < .01).

#### Procedure

All children between the ages of 8-13 receiving ENT surgeries were approached in the waiting room before their preoperative clinic appointment and invited to participate in the study. After providing consent and assent, the parent completed the CCTI, and the child completed the CPMAS. Demographic information such as sex, age, previous surgeries/hospitalizations, parental sex, and parental age were also collected during this time.

On the day of surgery, children and families were greeted by a research assistant in the Same-Day-Surgery waiting room. Approximately 30 minutes prior to surgery, families were asked to move to the holding area outside of the operating room, where the child completed the CPMAS to report on their anxiety levels immediately prior to surgery.

All procedures were approved by the Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board. Participant Attrition

Five children were lost to follow-up between T1 and T2. A chi-square analysis revealed that there was a significant difference in sex (5 boys and 0 girls) between those who did and those who did not complete the study  $\chi^2(1, N = 40) = 5.17$ , p < .023. No significant differences were found for child's age, parental age, previous surgeries/hospitalizations, or preoperative preparations by a Child life specialist between those who remained in the study and those who dropped out (p > 0.05).

## **Statistical Analysis**

We conducted chi-square tests and independent-samples *t*-tests to assess differences between gender for all demographic data and outcome measures. No group differences were observed between male and female children on CCTI shyness, CCTI sociability, and CMPAS at T1 and T2 (p > 0.05). As well, these four measures were not related to participant's age. Accordingly, sex and age were collapsed in all analyses.

A linear regression was used to examine the relation between temperament (i.e., shyness and sociability) and preoperative anxiety.

## Results

The analyses revealed that shyness and sociability were each significant predictors of preoperative anxiety (see Figures 1- 4). Unexpectedly, children who were temperamentally shy tended to score lower on preoperative anxiety at T1 ( $\beta$  = -.32; *p* = .044), while children who were temperamentally social tended to score higher on preoperative anxiety at T1 ( $\beta$  = .34; *p* = .030) and T2 ( $\beta$  = .36; *p* = .034) (refer to Table 1).



Figure 1. Scatterplot of Shyness and Preoperative Anxiety at T1.

CPMAS = Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale; T1 = 1 week prior to surgery.



Figure 2. Scatterplot of Sociability and Preoperative Anxiety at T1.

CPMAS = Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale; T1 = 1 week prior to surgery.



Figure 3. Scatterplot of Shyness and Preoperative Anxiety at T2.

CPMAS = Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale; T2 = Immediately before surgery.



Figure 4. Scatterplot of Sociability and Preoperative Anxiety at T2.

CPMAS = Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale; T2 = Immediately before surgery.

Assessment	Predictors	В	S.E.	Beta	t	$\mathbb{R}^2$	$\Delta R^2$
Pre-operative Visit (T1)	Shyness	-14.2	6.8	32*	-2.1	.10	.08
	Sociability	11.0	4.9	.34*	2.2	.12	.09
Day of Surgery Visit (T2)	Shyness	-13.0	8.9	25	-1.5	.06	.03
	Sociability	12.3	5.6	.36*	2.2	.13	.10

**Table 1.** Linear regressions of temperament predicting preoperative anxiety at T1 and T2.

S.E. = standard error; \* p < .05.

#### Discussion

We revisited a long-standing question in psychology, person-context interactions on behavior (Lewin, 1951), using a non-normative stressful context (i.e., preoperative surgery) in relation to temperamental shyness and sociability in children. In this preliminary investigation, we found, unexpectedly, that temperamental shyness was inversely related to preoperative anxiety, while temperamental sociability was positively related to preoperative anxiety. This result was inconsistent with findings by Kain and his colleagues (2000) who found a relation between reduced sociability and increased preoperative anxiety in children.

Contrary to existing literature on shyness x context interactions in children, our preliminary data suggest that temperamentally social children, rather than temperamentally shy children, may be more prone to experiencing preoperative anxiety in a surgical context. This finding was inconsistent with previous findings involving temperamentally shy children who have been shown to behave consistently across contexts (Coplan et al., 2009; Rubin, et al., 1997). This discrepancy could be due to the fact that Rubin's group had a more extreme subset of temperamentally shy children than in the present study, they also used different measures to classify shy children, and/or conducted the study under a different context. In addition, Rubin et al. noted consistency across contexts in temperamentally shy children in their behaviors using an extreme subset of shy children who were classified using behavioral and maternal reports, and observed in a university laboratory setting. This difference could also be due to the

nature of the context used in the present study which was non-normative and outside of the home, school, and laboratory.

What does the inverse relation between children's temperamental shyness and preoperative anxiety and positive relation between children's temperamental sociability and preoperative anxiety reflect? We speculate that, although seemingly paradoxical, our findings suggest that temperamentally shy children may exhibit relatively lower preoperative anxiety in a surgical context because they might have learned to cope with their anxiety overtime, perhaps due to their persistent experience of anxiety in their everyday environments. In other studies, we have found that there are age-related changes in cortisol stress levels with decreasing cortisol levels with age in people who are temperamentally shy, beginning in middle childhood (Schmidt, Santesso, Schulkin, & Segalowitz, 2007) to adulthood (Beaton et al., 2006; Beaton, Schmidt, Schulkin and Hall, 2013). We have argued that these changes might reflect "recalibration" of stress systems due to a life history of dealing with persistent stress and a psychological central state of fear in the temperamentally shy person's everyday environments. Furthermore, this change might also reflect a protective mechanism against system breakdown. Social children, on the other hand, may not have had the same opportunities and be as experienced with coping with stress and fear. Therefore, when placed in a highly stressful environment (i.e., an unfamiliar surgical context), social children manifest relatively higher levels of preoperative anxiety.

Higher levels of shyness in children may also lead to less anxiety because parents may be aware of these difficulties and attempt to compensate by more actively preparing

them for surgery. In this unique context, perhaps differential parenting styles might serve to protect children. Future studies should seek to further examine the role of parental influences on children's perioperative anxiety by assessing the role they may play in these associations.

The present study, however, had several limitations that warrant further discussion. First, the present results are based on a relatively small sample. This is a unique medical sample with children undergoing elective ENT surgeries, thus, the recruitment and follow-up with children and families on the day of surgery were challenging which limits our sample size. Second, the findings are based on subjective reports. Although we used reliable and validated subjective measures, these measures can be inherently biased. Third, there may have been issues related to informant biases. We had different informants complete measures, so issues of measurement variance may have occurred. Fourth, we did not use an extreme group design to classify temperamentally shy children overtime, so our findings might not generalize to extremely temperamentally shy children. Future studies should use a larger sample, objective behavioral measures coded from direct observations of child behaviors within the surgical settings, and extreme groups to classify temperamentally shy and social children in order to ensure the reliability and generalizability of the present results.

The present preliminary findings have implications to theory, reproducibility, and practice. The study of person x context interactions on behavior have had a long history in psychology (e.g., Allport, 1937; Lewin, 1951; Mischel, 1979). However, a majority of studies with children over the years have used relatively normative environments such as

the home, school, and laboratory, so we do not know the extent to which person x context interactions would generalize to non-normative stressful contexts. Our findings highlight the importance of considering other contexts, normative and non-normative, which is necessary to enhance reliable prediction of behavior, fully understand individual differences and person x context interactions, and to reproduce findings.

In terms of practice, our preliminary findings highlight the need to consider individual differences in temperament when preparing children for surgery. Studies have shown that there are individual differences in children's reactions to the surgical context (Kain, Mayes, Weisman, & Hofstadter, 2000) and that children who are anxious require more anesthetic induction (Maranets & Kain, 1999), are likely to refuse procedures (Kain, Wang, Mayes, Caramico, & Hofstadter, 1999), and take longer to recover postoperatively (Chow et al., 2016; Long & Rajagopalan, 2002; McCann & Kain, 2001). The present preliminary results suggest who may or may not be at risk for heightened preoperative anxiety. Such knowledge would be helpful to parents and health practitioners for developing precision medical approaches for managing children's preoperative anxiety.
## References

- Allport, G. W. (1937). Personality: A psychological interpretation. New York: Holt.
- Barrett, L. (2015). Psychology Is Not in Crisis. The New York Times, 1 September, A23.
- Beaton, E. A., Schmidt, L. A., Ashbaugh, A. R., Santesso, D. L., Antony, M. M.,
  McCabe, R. E.,... & Schulkin, J. (2006). Low salivary cortisol levels among socially anxious young adults: Preliminary evidence from a selected and a non-selected sample. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 41(7), 1217-1228.
- Beaton, E. A., Schmidt, L. A., Schulkin, J., & Hall, G. B. (2013). Repeated measurement of salivary cortisol within and across days among shy young adults. *Personality* and Individual Differences, 55(6), 705-710.
- Buss, A. H., & Plomin, R. (2014). Temperament (PLE: Emotion): Early Developing Personality Traits (Vol. 3). Psychology Press.
- Cheek, J. M., & Buss, A. H. (1981). Shyness and sociability. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 41(2), 330-339.
- Chow, C. H., Van Lieshout, R. J., Buckley, N., & Schmidt, L. A. (2016). Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale (CPMAS): Development and validation. *Psychological Assessment*, 28(9), 1101-1109.
- Chow, C. H., Van Lieshout, R. J., Schmidt, L. A., Dobson, K. G., & Buckley, N. (2016). Systematic Review: Audiovisual Interventions for Reducing Preoperative Anxiety in Children Undergoing Elective Surgery. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 41(2), 182-203.

Coplan, R. J., DeBow, A., Schneider, B. H., & Graham, A. A. (2009). The social

behaviours of inhibited children in and out of preschool. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 27(4), 891-905.

- Funder, D. C. (2006). Towards a resolution of the personality triad: Persons, situations, and behaviors. *Journal of Research in Personality*, *40*(1), 21-34.
- Funder, D. C., Guillaume, E., Kumagai, S., Kawamoto, S., & Sato, T. (2012). The person-situation debate and the assessment of situations. *Personality Research* 21: 1-11.
- Garcia-Coll, C., Kagan, J., & Reznick, J. S. (1984). Behavioral inhibition in young children. *Child Development*, *55*, 1005-1019.
- Kagan, J., Reznick, J. S., & Snidman, N. (1987). The physiology and psychology of behavioral inhibition in children. *Child Development*, 58, 1459-1473.
- Kagan, J., Reznick, S., & Snidman, N. (1988). Biological bases of childhood shyness. Science, 240(4849), 167-171.
- Kain, Z. N., Mayes, L. C., Weisman, S. J., & Hofstadter, M. B. (2000). Social adaptability, cognitive abilities, and other predictors for children's reactions to surgery. *Journal of Clinical Anesthesia*, 12(7), 549-554.
- Kain, Z. N., Wang, S. M., Mayes, L. C., Caramico, L. A., & Hofstadter, M. B. (1999). Distress during the induction of anesthesia and postoperative behavioral outcomes. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 88(5), 1042-1047.
- Lewin, K. (1951). Field theory in social science. New York: Harper & Row.
- Lindsay, D. S. (2015). Replication in psychological science. *Psychological Science*, 1-6.

- Long, E. O., & Rajagopalan, S. (2002). Stress signals activate natural killer cells. *Journal* of *Experimental Medicine*, *196*(11), 1399-1402.
- Maranets, I., & Kain, Z. N. (1999). Preoperative anxiety and intraoperative anesthetic requirements. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 89(6), 1346.
- McCann, M. E., & Kain, Z. N. (2001). The management of preoperative anxiety in children: an update. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, *93*(1), 98-105.
- Melchior, L. A., & Cheek, J. M. (1990). Shyness and anxious self-preoccupation during a social interaction. *Journal of Social Behavior and Personality*, 5(2), 117-130
- Mischel, W. (1979). On the interface of cognition and personality: Beyond the personsituation debate. *American Psychologist*, *34*(9), 740-754.
- Rowe, D. C., & Plomin, R. (1977). Temperament in early childhood. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 41(2), 150-156.
- Rubin, K. H., Hastings, P. D., Stewart, S. L., Henderson, H. A., & Chen, X. (1997). The consistency and concomitants of inhibition: Some of the children, all of the time. *Child Development*, 68(3), 467-483.
- Schmidt, L. A., & Buss, A. H. (2010). Understanding shyness: Four questions and four decades of research. In K.R. Rubin & R.J. Coplan (Eds.), *The Development of Shyness and Social Withdrawal*. New York: Guildford Publications, pp. 23-41.
- Schmidt, L. A., Fox, N. A., Rubin, K. H., Sternberg, E. M., Gold, P. W., Smith, C. C., & Schulkin, J. (1997). Behavioral and neuroendocrine responses in shy children. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 30(2), 127-140.

Schmidt, L. A., Santesso, D. L., Schulkin, J., & Segalowitz, S. J. (2007). Shyness is a necessary but not sufficient condition for high salivary cortisol in typically developing 10 year-old children. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 43(6), 1541-1551.

Zimbardo, P. G. (1977). *Shyness: What it is, what to do about it*. Massachusetts: Addison-Wesley.

## **CHAPTER SIX: GENERAL DISCUSSION**

## **Summary**

Surgery can represent one of life's most stress-inducing events, particularly for children who may have limited experience with exposure to severe physiological or emotional stressors. Because exposure to pediatric surgical procedures is not uncommon, perioperative anxiety is a sufficiently frequent and ecologically relevant exposure that can provide us with important information about children's anxiety experienced in and outside of the hospital setting.

Children experiencing preoperative anxiety and their families are affected in many ways. Aside from the emotional distress and trauma they can experience, these children are at a much higher risk of manifesting maladaptive behaviors and adverse postoperative outcomes (Fortier, Del Rosario, Martin, & Kain, 2010; Kain et al., 2004; Kain, Mayes, O'Connor, & Cicchetti, 1996). The children who manifest the maladaptive behaviors generally have issues with future healthcare compliance which poses further threats to their individual health and development, which together can increase suffering, healthcare costs and societal burden (Kain et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2013; McCann & Kain, 2001; Perry, Hooper, & Masiongale, 2012).

Reducing preoperative anxiety therefore has significant potential to prevent physical and mental health problems in a large number of children. The most common interventions used to reduce preoperative anxiety include preoperative sedation and/or expensive multi-faceted preparation programs. Unfortunately, these interventions are not

always readily accessible, can be time-intensive, or are associated with undesirable side effects and high costs (Chow, Van Lieshout, Schmidt, Dobson, & Buckley, 2015).

Existing gaps in the research literature prompted the conduct of a systematic review and meta-analysis which examined studies assessing the effectiveness of AV interventions at reducing preoperative anxiety and its associated outcomes in children undergoing elective surgery (Study 1; Chow et al., 2015). The findings of the review further led me to conduct a series of studies that included the development and validation of a new instrument designed to efficiently and validly assess children's preoperative anxiety (Study 2; Chow, Van Lieshout, Buckley, & Schmidt, 2016), a series of pilot studies that examined the feasibility and acceptability of a newly developed tablet-based intervention for reducing children's preoperative anxiety (Study 3; Chow, Van Lieshout, Schmidt, & Buckley, 2016; submitted to *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*), and a study that examined the contribution of individual differences on the variance of children's reaction to surgery during the preoperative period (Study 4; Chow, Nejati, Van Lieshout, Buckley, Schmidt, 2016; submitted to *Clinical Pediatrics*).

The results of the systematic review and meta-analysis in Study 1 demonstrated that videos, multi-faceted programs and interactive games alone or in combination with other interventions (such as midazolam) were more effective than standard care, and were as effective as midazolam (Chow et al., 2015). Conversely, interactive music therapy and internet preparation interventions did not appear to be effective. Thus, these findings suggest that AV interventions are effective in reducing children's preoperative anxiety. Successful preoperative AV interventions seem to include components that require

cognitive processing and attention shifting such as multisensory distraction techniques, and/or psychoeducational materials. It is therefore possible that these are the effective 'ingredients' in these interventions that allow for the learning and rehearsal of relevant procedural information prior to surgery. Future studies should actively seek to test the key components of these interventions and compare AV approaches with and without psychoeducational materials to determine if psychoeducational materials provide additional benefit.

In Study 2 (Chow et al., 2016), the psychometric properties of the newly developed scale, CPMAS, were assessed in a busy children's hospital setting. The results showed that the CPMAS scale demonstrated good reliability and strong internal consistency and stability. The SCARED-C was used, as a measure of convergent validity as it encompasses different domains of childhood anxiety, which allowed us to parse out the specific type of anxiety that children experience in the surgical context (e.g., panic/somatic, separation anxiety, generalized anxiety, and school phobia). Therefore, convergent validity was found between CPMAS scores and SCARED-C scores at all three assessment points. Specifically, the CPMAS was consistently correlated with the Panic Disorder subscale across all three visits, with Generalized Anxiety Disorder at T1 and T3, with Separation Anxiety Disorder at T2 and Social Anxiety Disorder at T3. The construct validity was also supported. These findings revealed that the CPMAS is an useful instrument that can accurately assess children's preoperative anxiety that are consistent with clinical experience during the surgical period (Davidson & McKenzie, 2011). Moreover, the CPMAS uniquely allows for both pre-and post-operative

assessment which allows for future research to track the changes of anxiety before and after surgery (e.g., recovery periods).

In Study 3 (Chow et al., 2016; submitted to *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*), the feasibility and acceptability of the new tablet-based STM intervention were examined. The results demonstrated that participant recruitment, retention, and data collection procedures were feasible. The study also showed that the STM intervention is acceptable to participants who can view it prior to surgery and even on the day of surgery. This pilot work suggests that reductions in anxiety are greater in children in STM+UC than those receiving UC alone, indicating that STM may be effective in reducing children's preoperative anxiety. Therefore, this pilot RCT provides preliminary evidence that STM is feasible and has the potential to be an effective intervention for reducing children's preoperative anxiety.

The results from Study 3 revealed that there were variations in terms of children's stress response to surgery which led to the conduct of the last study. Study 4 (Chow et al., 2016; submitted to *Clinical Pediatrics*), set out to examine the role of specific temperamental traits, shyness and sociability, in predicting preoperative anxiety. Its results showed that temperamental shyness was inversely related to preoperative anxiety, while temperamental sociability was positively related to preoperative anxiety. These findings are not consistent with previous research involving temperamentally shy children who have been shown to behave consistently across contexts (Coplan, DeBow, Schneider, & Graham, 2009; Rubin, Hastings, Stewart, Henderson, & Chen, 1997). Although seemingly paradoxical, our findings suggest that temperamentally shy children

may exhibit relatively lower reported preoperative anxiety in a surgical context because they might have learned to cope with their anxiety over time, perhaps due to their persistent experience of anxiety in their everyday environments. In addition, children with higher levels of temperamental shyness may have been exposed to differential treatment by their parents who may have more actively prepared them for surgery. Thus, future studies should examine the role of family factors on children's anxiety by including assessments of parental intervention.

# **General Findings**

To our knowledge, this series of work is the first to systematically investigate the impact of AV interventions on preoperative anxiety in children undergoing elective surgery. Our findings from Study 1 suggest that AV interventions are promising and potentially cost-effective tools in helping to ameliorate children's preoperative anxiety, as well as improving a number of other adverse perioperative outcomes. In Study 2, we demonstrated that the newly developed CPMAS has the potential to be a useful and valid tool for the evaluation of anxiety in a surgical setting for children as young as 7 years old. This brief 5-item self-report can easily be utilized to accurately assess perioperative anxiety in routine clinical practice and research settings. Subsequently, our findings in Study 3 demonstrated the feasibility and potential effectiveness of a novel tablet-based STM intervention. The results of Study 3 support the clinical importance of continuing to examine the effectiveness (and mechanisms of effect) of the STM intervention in reducing preoperative anxiety for children undergoing surgery. The refined protocol and our pilot results will help inform and guide the conduct of a large-scale RCT in managing

preoperative anxiety and its effects on children. Specifically, STM adds to the existing literature about the educational component of a tablet-based intervention in reducing preoperative anxiety for children undergoing surgery. Furthermore, our findings in Study 4 revealed that shyness and sociability were each significant predictors of preoperative anxiety. The preliminary findings also suggest who may or may not be at risk for heightened preoperative anxiety. Such knowledge would be helpful to parents and health practitioners for developing precision medical approaches for managing children's preoperative anxiety.

#### Limitations

Despite the strengths presented in this work, a few limitations should be highlighted. First, only children who received elective outpatient surgeries (i.e., tonsillectomy, herniorraphy, etc.) were included in our studies to control for possible confounding factors such as unexpected postoperative complications that arise from major surgeries, differential duration of surgery or length of recovery. While elective outpatient surgeries are the most common surgical procedures in children, we excluded more lengthy or extensive surgeries that also include a potential postoperative hospitalization component. Also, many of these families had similar, relatively nondisadvantaged socioeconomic backgrounds. Therefore, whether our findings are generalizable to other, less socioeconomically advantaged children and children undergoing repeated and/or non-elective surgeries in other surgical settings is unknown. The management of anxiety over the course of a longer term hospitalization, or

associated with diseases such as cancer, could present different challenges, and so the role of AV interventions in these settings remains to be seen.

Second, the findings in our studies are based on a relatively small sample. The results could potentially be statistically underpowered which could undermine the reliability of the results. Thus, it is our goal to replicate our studies using larger adequately powered samples in future studies.

Lastly, the findings on children's temperament and anxiety are solely based on subjective reports. Although CCTI, SCARED-C and CPMAS are reliable and validated subjective measures, these measures can be inherently biased.

# Implications

Clinically, despite its high prevalence and the potential adverse effects, preoperative anxiety in children remains an understudied topic. Our work is the first to suggest that AV interventions might be an ideal solution to improve perioperative care in children undergoing elective surgery. The findings would guide future research in designing and developing interventions to prevent and manage children's preoperative anxiety and its associated outcomes. In particular, the utilization of AV interventions might be extremely beneficial in hospitals that lack the appropriate resources (e.g., the Child life Specialist preparation and/or other forms of preoperative preparation programs) to prepare children for surgery.

The self-report CPMAS was developed and validated to address the need for properly assessing children's preoperative anxiety in the busy hospital setting. In contrast to the existing children's anxiety measures that are non-specific and onerous, the CPMAS

is specifically designed to be used to quickly and accurately assess the anxiety levels of children undergoing surgery. Ideally, the goal is to incorporate this measure as part of the preoperative assessment to be administered by either Child life Specialist or pediatric nurses. Since our preliminary data suggested that there are variations in children's response to surgery, it is possible that some children require more preoperative preparation and attention than others. By using the CPMAS, healthcare providers can provide appropriate perioperative care to the ones who are truly in need.

Furthermore, the novel tablet-based STM application was shown to be easy to use and its administration was done without any interruption to the normal hospital routine and/or clinical flow which can lead to the more efficient and effective allocation of healthcare staff and resources. Therefore, the use of STM application can potentially improve the perioperative experience and process for children and families undergoing surgeries. If future work can demonstrate that the STM application is effective, this transferable and reusable tool could potentially become an adjunctive therapy to usual care or to be incorporated as part of the routine care practice. Given the customizability nature of the application, the content can be modified to suit the specific needs of other healthcare environments and surgical procedures. This powerful tool has the potential to be adapted and used in many hospital settings and beyond (Chow et al., 2014).

Our work also provides insights into the potential value of identifying risk factors such as temperament and predictive biomarkers (e.g., high basal cortisol levels or elevated heart rate at anesthetic induction) that can guide future practice by customizing treatment. This "precision medicine" approach is an important avenue by which clinical

outcomes can be optimized. The overarching goal should be to improve surgical experiences and outcomes in children, and to streamline the perioperative process by allowing children to develop coping strategies to deal with surgical stress.

On a theoretical level, the findings also informed us of the broader implications on the study of individual differences, personality and childhood anxiety in the surgical setting. The extant literature is based on research conducted in the traditional settings such as laboratory, home or school. Therefore, the surgical setting represents a novel, non-normative and ecologically-valid stressful context. This preoperative surgical environment provides us with a real-life, highly relevant anxiety-provoking context to better assess childhood anxiety and behaviors. Interestingly, our work suggested that children's behaviors might be contextually-dependent. On the day of surgery, children are forced to interact with unfamiliar people (i.e., medical staff, and other children and families), and are placed in unfamiliar settings (e.g., waiting areas and OR). These interactions in a novel, yet, stressful environment could substantially influence how a child would behave. Thus, our findings highlight the importance of considering other normative and non-normative contexts to enhance reliable prediction of children's behavior, to fully understand individual differences and person x context interactions, and to reproduce findings.

Collectively, the work presented in this thesis has the potential to improve perioperative care, lessen the impact and prevalence of the complications of surgery for both children and their families, and perhaps ease the financial burden of preoperative

anxiety on the healthcare system. Moreover, it illustrates that the surgical setting serves as an ecologically-valid context to study childhood anxiety.

# **Future Directions**

Based on the findings of this thesis, adequately powered, large RCTs should be conducted to further confirm the usefulness of some of the promising nonpharmacological interventions such as the newly developed tablet-based STM application. Future studies should quantify the optimal dosage and duration required. Because of the automatic and reusable nature of AV interventions, it might be advantageous to include cost-effectiveness analyses in the conduct of these RCTs to examine whether AV interventions are indeed the more financially sound options compared to currently used interventions in reducing preoperative anxiety.

Future research should examine whether these behavioral changes have corresponding physiological correlates using validated psychophysiological measures (e.g., cortisol, heartrate or electroencephalography patterns). It is also of importance to establish the threshold value for the clinical significance of change in anxiety measured using the CPMAS.

Once these RCTs have established the effectiveness of the STM intervention, it would then be worthwhile to continue to test the effectiveness of the STM application in other hospital settings which may not have access to highly trained Child life specialists. Moreover, when designing future RCTs, investigators should be mindful of the methodologies and consider the use of proper randomization and blinding strategies, the administration of both validated observers' reports and self-reports of behavioral

changes, and the use of the intention-to-treat method as the primary analysis. These changes would enhance the validity of the results of future studies.

To elucidate the etiology of children's preoperative anxiety, future work should identify the potential modifiers and moderators of the phenomenon. Future studies should also examine the role of parent-child interactions (e.g., the interactions on the day of surgery before and during the anesthetic induction, parental bonding and stress).

Future studies should continue to explore childhood anxiety research in a surgical setting and to replicate the studies in other less ecologically-valid contexts.

## Conclusion

Given the myriad negative effects associated with perioperative anxiety, it is crucial that we develop proper perioperative care strategies for prevention and intervention strategies that aim at reducing perioperative anxiety in children undergoing surgery. This begins with the use of a proper tool (i.e., CPMAS) that can quickly and accurately measure perioperative anxiety levels in busy hospital and clinical settings.

The search for a simple, affordable and novel treatment in reducing preoperative anxiety continues. AV interventions have been shown to effectively alleviate preoperative anxiety, albeit prohibitively costly. More research is required to continue to elucidate the etiology of childhood anxiety within the surgical setting and to test affordable and effective interventions (e.g., STM) to prevent and ameliorate preoperative anxiety and its associated adverse outcomes in children undergoing surgery.

Furthermore, the surgical setting represents a novel, non-normative and ecologically-valid stressful context. Future research should continue to examine

childhood anxiety and behaviors in both normative and non-normative contexts to enhance the reliability of the findings.

## References

- Chow, C.H., Nejati, N., Van Lieshout, R.J., Buckley, N., & Schmidt, L.A. (2016).Children's shyness and sociability in a surgical context. *Submitted to Clinical Pediatrics*.
- Chow, C., Schmidt, L.A., Van Lieshout, R.J., Leung, P., Nejati, N., Pope, E.,
  Michelangeli, L., Shahzada, A., & Buckley, N. (2014). Assessing the
  effectiveness of a virtual reality program, Story-Telling Medicine, in reducing
  preoperative anxiety in children undergoing surgery: A Randomized Controlled
  Trial. Poster presented at the Annual Meeting of the *American Society of Anesthesiologists*, New Orleans, LA.
- Chow, C. H., Van Lieshout, R. J., Buckley, N., & Schmidt, L. A. (2016). Children's Perioperative Multidimensional Anxiety Scale (CPMAS): Development and validation. *Psychological Assessment*, 28(9), 1101-1109.
- Chow, C.H., Van Lieshout, R.J., Schmidt, L.A., & Buckley, N. (2016). A Novel Tabletbased Intervention for Reducing Perioperative Anxiety in Children Undergoing Surgery: A Pilot Study. Submitted to Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics.
- Chow, C.H., Van Lieshout, R. J., Schmidt, L. A., Dobson, K. G., & Buckley, N. (2015).
  Systematic Review: Audiovisual Interventions for Reducing Preoperative Anxiety in Children Undergoing Elective Surgery. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 41(2), 182-203.

Coplan, R. J., DeBow, A., Schneider, B. H., & Graham, A. A. (2009). The social

behaviors of inhibited children in and out of preschool. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 27, 891-905.

- Fortier, M.A, Del Rosario, A. M., Martin, S. R., & Kain, Z. N. (2010). Perioperative anxiety in children. *Paediatric Anaesthesia*, 20(4), 318–322.
- Kain, Z. N., Caldwell-Andrews, A., Maranets, I., McClain, B., Gaal, D., Mayes, L. C., Zhang, H. (2004). Preoperative anxiety and emergence delirium and postoperative maladaptive behaviors. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 99(6), 1648–1654.
- Kain, Z. N., Mayes, L. C., O'Connor, T., & Cicchetti, D. V. (1996). Preoperative Anxiety in Children. Predictors and outcomes. *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, 150, 1238–1245.
- Kain, Z. N., Caldwell-Andrews, A. A., Mayes, L. C., Weinberg, M. E., Wang, S. M., MacLaren, J. E., & Blount, R. L. (2007). Family-centered preparation for surgery improves perioperative outcomes in children: a randomized controlled trial. *Anesthesiology*, 106(1), 65-74.
- Lee, J. H., Jung, H. K., Lee, G. G., Kim, H. Y., Park, S. G., & Woo, S.C. (2013). Effect of behavioral intervention using smartphone application for preoperative anxiety in pediatric patients. *Korean Journal of Anesthesiology*, 65, 508–518.
- McCann, M. E., & Kain, Z. N. (2001). The management of preoperative anxiety in children: an update. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, *93*(1), 98-105.
- Perry, J. N., Hooper, V., & Masiongale, J. (2012). Reduction of preoperative anxiety in pediatric surgery patients using age-appropriate teaching interventions. *Journal of Perianesthesia Nursing*, 27(2), 69–81.

Rubin, K. H., Hastings, P. D., Stewart, S. L., Henderson, H. A., & Chen, X. (1997). The consistency and concomitants of inhibition: Some of the children, all of the time. *Child Development*, 68(3), 467-483.